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financial highlights

as of and for the years ended June 30*

Dollars in millions 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006
e
Net income (loss) 1,746 (151) 1,547 2,490 1,264
Grants to IDA 200 450 500 150 -
2 Income before grants to IDA 1,946 299 2,047 2,640 1,264
' A Total assets 61,075 51,483 49,471 40,599 38,547 N
Loans, equity investments, and k
debt securities, net 25,944 22,214 23,319 15,796 12,787
: ' Key ratios :
Return on average assets (GAAP basis) 3.1% -0.3% 3.4% 6.3% 3.2%
) Return on average capital (GAAP basis) 10.1% -0.9% 9.6% 19.8% 121% p
W e r e Cash and liquid investments as a
percentage of next three years'
p estimated net cash requirements 71% 75% 62% 85% 112%
o Debt to equity ratio 2.2:1 2.1:1 1.6:1 1.4: 1.6:1
Total resources required ($ billions) 12.8 10.9 10.4 8.0 n/a
v Total resources available ($ billions) 16.8 14.8 15.0 13.8 n/a
. Total reserve against losses on loans to
total disbursed loan portfolio 7.4% 7.4% 5.5% 6.5% 8.3%
® ®
I V t I - *See Manag nt's Di ion and Analysis and C: lidated Financial for details on the calculation of these numbers.
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operational highlights

as of and for the years ended June 30

Dollars in millions 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

New Investment Commitments

meets

Number of projects 528 447 372 299 284
o Number of countries 103 103 85 69 66
For IFC's own account $12,664 $10,547 $11,399 $8,220 $6,703
Mobilization
Syndicated loans $1,986 $1,858 $3,250 $1,775 $1,572
Structured finance $797 . $169 $1,403 $2,083 $1,245
IFC initiatives & other $2,358 $1,927 -
Asset Management Company $236 $8
Total mobilization t $5,377 $3,962 $4,653 $3,858 $2,817

Investment Disbursements )
For IFC’s own account $6,793 $5,640 $7,539 $5,841 $4,428
Total mobilization $3,048 $1,966 $2,382 . 81,615 $1,31 .

Committed Portfolio

Number of firms ) 1,656 1,579 1,490 1,410 1,368
For IFC’s own account $38,864 $34,502 $32,366 $25,411 $21,627
Total mobilization t $9.943 $8,004 $7,525 $5,543 $5,079

IFC: financial & operational highlights p2: letter from World Bank Group President p4: letter from IFC CEO pé: IFC Management Team

Advisory Services

Number of projects 736 872 862 1,018
Approved value $859 $941 $919 $846
o Advisory Services total expenditures $268 $291 $269 $197 $152
. 5
_42 3 t includes IFC Initiatives, Syndi d B-Loans, Agented Parallei Loans, and IFC Asset Management Company
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highlights
and leadership

where
Innovation
meets
Impact

More than 200 miliion peaple in the
developing world were out of work this
year. Over 1 billion are hurigry, while
millions more are confronting the threat
that climate change poses. The United
Nations estimates that 884 million people
don't have safe drinking water and more

than 2.6 billion people lack basic sanitation.

The population of the developing world
will expand by a third over the next four
decades, growth that will strain already
weak infrastructure.

in this environment, IFC is innovating to
create opportunity where it's needed
most. We committed a record $18 billion in
fiscal year 2010, $12.7 billion of which was
for our own account. We invested in 528

projects, an 18 percent increase from FY09.

Our Advisory Services portfolio comprised
/36 active projects valued at more than
$850 million, with annual expenditures
totaling $268 million.

Countries served by the International
Development Association, or IDA,
accounted for nearly half our invest
ments-—-255 projects totaling

$4.9 billion—and more than 60 percent
of our Advisory Services expenditures,
Sub-Saharan Africa accounted for

19 percent of our investment commitments
and 25 percent of our Advisory Services
expenditures. We invested a record

$1.64 billion in clean enerqgy, leveraging
$6.8 billion, while climate change- related
projects grew to 1b percent of the

value of our Advisory Services portfolio.
Our investiments in microfinance rose

10 percent to $400 million, expanding our
microfinance pertialio to $1.2 billion.
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HIGHLIGHTS AND LEADERSHIP

letter from the

World Bank Group President

ROBERT B ZOELLICK
WORLD BANK GROUP
PRESIDENT

More than two years after the onset
of the financial crisis, the economic

recovery remains fragile and uncertain.

Billions of people continue to struggle
to provide for themselves and their
families. With government resources
constrained by lower tax revenues
and higher expenditures to assist
those hurt by the crisis, financing

to invest in infrastructure and other
long-term drivers of growth is often
lacking. Small businesses have trouble
accessing the loans they need to hire

new workers and expand into new markets. Yet a
healthy, forward-looking private sector is fundamen-
tal to achieving a sustained recovery that creates
jobs and opportunity while building wealth from the
bottom up.

In a shifting economic landscape, the World Bank
Group is responding with speed, innovation, and a
focus on results.

IFC's work over the last year exemplifies that
response. | am pleased to introduce an Annual Report
that shows how IFC is addressing the world’s most dif-
ficult challenges based on the belief that the private
sector in developing countries will be the engine of
inclusive and sustainable growth. With its partners in
the private and public sectors, IFC offered hope and
a hand up to millions of vulnerable people in 2010.
IFC financed a record number of projects. It concen-
trated more of its resources in countries served by
the International Development Association, particu-
larly in Sub-Saharan Africa. In these and other less
developed regions, IFC is providing urgently needed
support to entrepreneurs, small and midsize busi-
nesses, farmers, and growing enterprises; giving
businesses access to trade finance; helping develop
new business opportunities with renewable and effi-
cient energy sources; and advising governments on
ways to enhance the investment climate and spur
public-private partnerships.

In the emerging multipolar economy, the world
can no longer rely on a few developed countries
as the sources of growth. The developing world's
share of global GDP in purchasing-power-parity
terms reached 43 percent in 2010—a trend that will
continue in the years ahead. With IFC's help, emerg-
ing economies are becoming critical new poles of
growth with dynamic private sectors. These private
sectors will add to innovation, inventiveness, new
business models, more services for the public—and
stronger societies.



INNOVATION

RESPONDING WITH

I
IFC offered hope and

a hand up to millions of
vulnerable people in 2010.

In 2010, IFC's commitments—including the funds
it mobilized from other sources—expanded by
24 percent. IFC invested $4.9 billion for its own
account in 58 IDA countries, a reflection of its com-
mitment to establishing a thriving private sector in the
poorest regions. Sub-Saharan Africa accounted for
116 IFC projects. IFC's work is helping conflict-scarred
countries to start and build businesses as they put
people back to work. In post-earthquake Haiti, IFC
will help the country build back better by improving
prospects for the private sector.

IFC's influence reaches far beyond straightforward
investments. In its search for new ways to chan-
nel finance to the poor seeking opportunity, the
groundbreaking IFC Asset Management Company
showed great promise in its first year. Its African, Latin
American, and Caribbean Fund raised $950 million
from sovereign and pension funds attracted by IFC's
expertise in developing countries. This is part of a
new financial intermediation model in development
that we believe will continue to grow in the future.
Increasingly, long-term investors are recognizing
growth opportunities in Africa and other less devel-
oped regions, and they are recognizing how IFC's
experience, track record, and high standards can help
them explore new possibilities for returns.

IFC’s cooperation with other units of the World
Bank Group enhanced its effectiveness in 2010. A new
agreement will allow IFC to market the products of
the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, a deal
that will give businesses added comfort as they move
into riskier markets.

At the same time, a series of operational reforms
are enhancing the World Bank Group's effectiveness
by making our institution more accountable and
transparent. We are changing our approach to invest-
ment lending to put greater emphasis on results and
risk management and providing more resources to
fight corruption. An agreement on cross-debarment
we signed with the other multilateral development
banks will ban firms that cheat one of our institutions
from dealing with all the others. These reforms will
be bolstered by the World Bank Group's increase in
voting power for developing and transition countries.

| want to thank IFC’s staff for the hard work that
made 2010 such a successful year. In an economic
environment beset by setbacks, they rose to the
occasion, tackling stiff challenges with fresh ideas,
ingenuity, and boundless energy. | also want to thank
Lars Thunell, whose leadership, stewardship, and
top-notch team helped deliver IFC's record perfor-
mance. Our Board of Governors, Board of Directors,
and our contributors and partners deserve praise as
well. Their input and guidance is a critical factor in
our success.

gt @MM

Robert B. Zoellick
World Bank Group President
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HIGHLIGHTS AND LEADERSHIP

letter from

IFC Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer

LARS H. THUNELL
IFC EXECUTIVE VICE PRESIDENT
AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The role of the private sector in
development has never been
more important.

In a world with vast and shifting
development needs and increasing
constraints on public funding, the
private sector creates jobs and
opportunity, helping the poor improve
their lives, generating tax revenues

for governments, and providing the
global economy with new sources of
growth. IFC, the largest international
development institution focused on the
private sector, is helping link dynamic
companies and industries with the
needs of the poor.

IFC is where innovation meets impact.

We provide value formoney—through theresources
we mobilize, the advice we provide, and the example
we set forsustainable development. This Annual Report
highlights IFC's achievements in confronting the big-
gest development challenges of our time, challenges
that have existed for generations but grown more
severe in the economic turbulence of recent years.

Rising unemployment has prolonged the cycle of
poverty in the world’s poorest regions. More than
1 billion people are hungry. Nearly 900 million go with-
out safe drinking water. More than 1.5 billion people
lack access to electricity. Sixty-nine million school-
age children do not attend school, mainly because
their families cannot afford it.

IFC is there to help.

We provide financing and advice that lets small
entrepreneurs expand their businesses and hire new
workers. The advice we offer helps companies and
governments raise social and environmental stan-
dards, and mitigate risks. The funds we leverage
from other sources bring additional capital to worthy
projects. Our standard-setting work builds stronger
companies and industries over the long term. We are
a leader in measuring development results, which
allows us and our stakeholders to gauge our perfor-
mance and improve on it.

In neglected regions of Sub-Saharan Africa, impov-
erished parts of South Asia, or struggling areas of
Latin America, our work can be transformative.

In fiscal year 2010, as never before, we mobilized
our global expertise and financial resources so pri-
vate enterprises could maximize their development
impact while realizing the significant commercial ben-
efit of investing in emerging markets. We did it while
putting a greater emphasis on the world’s poorest
areas, and helping companies in developing coun-
tries invest in other developing countries, furthering
the trend of “South-South” investment.

IFC invested a record $18 billion in FY10—$13 bil-
lion of which was for our own account—in 528 projects
in 103 countries. We mobilized more than $5 billion
from others, another landmark. Our Advisory Services
expenditures totaled $268 million. Our investments in
Sub-Saharan Africa increased by a third to $2.4 billion,
an all-time high. In 2009, our clients provided more
than 161,000 jobs in the region.



Crucially, more of our work than ever was in
countries served by the International Development
Asscciation, a top priority. We invested a record
$4.9 billion in 255 projects in 58 IDA countries.
Those countries accounted for nearly two-thirds of
IFC Advisory Services activities. We are deepening
our engagement in these countries in six ways, includ-
ing investments, advice, resource mobilization, and
direct contributions to the replenishment of IDA.

We know that it takes more than volume to meet
the needs of the poor. That is why we carefully tar-
get our resources, selecting where our financing and
advice can be deployed most effectively. And we set
measurable goals to gauge our impact, and improve
our performance.

In 2009, our clients provided 2.2 million jobs,
including nearly 514,000 in the manufacturing
and services sectors. They treated nearly 8 million
patients, helped educate 1.4 million students, and
supported 2.1 million farmers. They distributed water
to 35 million customers, power to 29 million custom-
ers, and gas to 16 million. Micro, small, and medium
enterprises, the businesses responsible for most of
the world's job creation, received 10 million loans
totaling $112 billion from our clients.

Our results highlight the expertise we have devel-
oped in more than 50 years of investing in emerging
markets. They also show that strong development
impact is compatible with strong financial returns.
Our net income topped $1.7 billion in FY10, after a
$200 million transfer to IDA. That sturdy financial
position gives us the capacity to boost our activities

with existing clients, and expand our reach into new
regions and industries.

IFC’s track record as a leader in microfinance,
which allows poor families to invest in business and
education, was enhanced in 2010, We invested a
record $400 million in microfinance, taking cur micro-
finance portfolio to $1.2 billion during the fiscal year.
In another priority area-—climate change —our per-
formance also was strong. Clean-energy investments
topped $1.4 billion, another best-ever amount, and
we leveraged $6.8 billion for such investments.

Our work was innovative in other areas as
well. During its first year of existence, IFC Asset
‘Management Company began to deliver on its
promise, establishing a new platform for mobili

investment for development. It invested $236 million
in IFC projects, and attracted ir or commitments
of $950 million to its IFC African, Latin American, and
Caribbean Fund. As it continues to grow, | believe
AMC will be a vital new source of funding for private
enterprise in developing countries, helping more
people improve their lives.

I'saw the impact of our work firsthand, as | met this

year with clients, government officials,

neurs in places like India, Ukraine, and Egypt.

in India, for example, we are bringing innovatic
and new ideas to the low-income states that acc
for 40 percent of the country’s population but receive
hardly any of its foreign direct investment. With our
support, a client in the state of Jharkhand is helping
young girls from poor villages train to become nurses
and giving small farmers access to new markets for
their goods. That's just one example. The pro
saw throughout India show how we can help the coun-
try-—and many others— "do more for less for many.”

While 2010 was a milestone year for IFC, we ce
improve. That's why we strive

> learn from our experi-
ence-—at all levels of the organization—and put our

findings into practice. To become a stronger insti-
tution, we are organizing IFC to put ourselves in a
better position to engage with clients and reach even
more poor people. That process will ensure that we
build on our recent accomplishments in the decades
to come.

I want to thank the team of professic

for their incredible work in 2010, In an era mark
by uncertainty have helped millions of peo

nendous achievement.
d of Directors for their
support, which plays a crucial role in our success.
I'm proud to be a part of the team at IFC, and | look
forward to making further progress in 2011 in mobi-

improve their
I also want to thank our Boar

lizing the power of the private sector in the fight
against poverty.

Lars H. Thunell
IFC Executive Vice President
and Chief Executive Officer
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global
challenges
and impact

where
challenges

The global crisis changed the economic order,
deepening the challenges developing countries
will face in the decades ahead.

Joblessness is making it harder for families to
improve their living standards. Growing energy
needs are exacerbating the threat of climate change.
Rapid population growth is overwhelming urban
infrastructures. Water scarcity and inadequate

food security are endangering the lives of millions.
Such strains also heighten the potential for conflict.




meet

solutions

Promoting sustainable development in this era of
uncertainty will depend more than ever an partnerships
and innovation —and the ability to mobilize resources
wherever they can be found. In an increasingly
interconnected and multipolar world, developing
countries will not only have the most urgent needs-—
they also will be critical for global prosperity.

IFCis playing a leading role in helping the private
sector address these challenges. Our investments and
advisory services are focused on projects that ease
unemployment-and climate change, make food safer
and more accessible, give communities access to
clean water, foster sustainable cities, and improve
conditions in areas ravaged by conflict.

p38: food security (food production, insurance) p4é: conflict (Haiti, Africa) p56: water & urbanization (water security, south-south investment) péé: lessons learned

p10: results p16: strategy/scorecard p18: unemployment (gender program, extractive industries) p28: climate change (renewable energy, Lighting Africa)

global challenges

and impact
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GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

how IFC creates opportunity
where it's needed most

IFC and our clients make a wide range of contributions in developing countries. Our clients’ success can have
ripple effects across an economy, giving many people, including the poor, a chance to better their lives.

IFC investee companies benefit employees and their families, local communities, suppliers, investors, and
the customers who buy what they produce. They generate significant tax revenues for national and local
governments—resources available for assisting the poor. They can use IFC's support to expand or upgrade
their facilities, improve environmental performance, strengthen corporate governance, and improve their
management systems and adherence to industry standards.

We provide advisory services to both firms and governments. Most of our advisory work with firms is

provided alongside our investment services, to maximize impact. Our work with government clients ranges
from supporting investment-climate reforms to helping design and implement public-private partnerships
for infrastructure and other basic services.

EMPLOYEES

In 2009, IFC's investment cli-
ents provided 2.2 million jobs,
including more than 711,000
through investments in private
equity and investment funds,
nearly 514,000 in manufactur-
ing and services, more than
300,000 in agribusiness, and
about 128,000 in oil, gas, min-
ing, and chemicals.

—IFC invested in a tea pro-
duction company in India that
provided employment for over
31,000 people in 2009 alone.

—In China, IFC invested in a
fund to support the underde-
veloped private equity sector.
In 2009, the fund’s investee
companies provided direct
jobs to more than 154,000
people.

—In Sri Lanka, IFC helped
a hotel business that employs
more than 10,000 expand its
current operations in key sec-
tors in the country and in the
Maldives, and India.

CUSTOMERS

In 2009, IFC's
clients:

— Provided 10 million loans
totaling $112 billion to micro,
small, and medium enter-
prises—of which 8.5 million
loans involved microfinance.

— Provided basic utilities
to over 210 million customers.
This included water distribution
to 35 million people, power
generation and distribution to
more than 160 million, and gas
distribution to 16 million.

— Provided 169  million
phone connections.

— Provided health services
to 7.6 million patients and edu-
cation to 1.4 million students.
For example, IFC’s invest-
ment in a private hospital in
Romania allowed the hospital
to treat more than 610,000
patients in 2009. The invest-
ment helped relieve some of
the burden placed on the pub-
lic health system.

investment

LOCAL COMMUNITIES

IFC's policies, processes, and
performance standards help
our clients enhance their
positive impact on local com-
munities while avoiding or
mitigating negative effects.

—Last year, our clients in
oil, gas, mining, and chemicals
spent $268 million on commu-
nity development programs.

—A South African mining
company benefiting from IFC
investment and advice spent
$4.2 million on community
development programs in the
last year. The programs had a
positive impact in the areas of
HIV/AIDS prevention, munici-
pal development, gender
equality, and local economic
development.

—An IFC client in Mozam-
bique spent about $1 million
on community development
programs. During the life of the
project, the client’s program
benefited the local community
in a variety of ways—includ-
ing housing and marketing
support for agricultural com-
modities—that helped raise
income levels and built better
community relations.

SUPPLIERS

In 2009, IFC's clients gener-
ated millions of dollars for
local suppliers. Our investment
clients purchased $28.7 billion
in manufacturing and services
and $9.3 billion in oil, gas, and
mining. Agribusiness clients
reached 2 million farmers.

—IFC's investment in an
Eastern European company is
focusing on developing distri-
bution infrastructure to better
serve farmers. Last year, 29,000
farmers were reached.



IFC’S CLIENT LEADERSHIP AWARD
L

IFC prizes corporate clients that share our commitment to
socially and environmentally sustainable development. For
the past six years, we have presented an annual Client
Leadership Award to honor the client that best reflects our
values and demonstrates innovation, operational excellence,
and strong corporate governance.

This year, we are honoring India’s Jain Irrigation, a company
that fosters sustainable agriculture through the efficient
use of water, energy, and fertilizer Jain, an IFC Investment
and Advisory Services client, is a pioneer in micro-irrigation
systems, which deliver water through small, low-pressure
devices. Its customers are boosting their water efficiency by
asmuch as 95 percent. Atthe same time, they are increasing
their agricultural productivity and incomes. In FY10,
IFC and Jain initiated a project that will allow the firm to
measure its environmental and sustainability benefits, and
identify ways to cut its water consumption. The project will
demonstrate to farmers the benefits of water conservation.

2/

ENVIRONMENT

Many IFC investment projects are helping
address climate change and advancing
environmental and social sustainability.

—IFC’s investment in a Guatemalan
company has helped the country focus on
developing renewable sources of energy.
Five hydropower projects have been
installed since the project became opera-
tional, representing about 8 percent of all
hydropower used in Guatemala. All proj-
ects use local labor and are supervised by
local managers.

—An energy-efficiency program in China,
supported by IFC, with the help of several
donors, resulted in more than $500 million
in bank loans for energy-efficiency proj-
ects, which in turn reduced greenhouse
emissions by an estimated 14 million tons
of carbon dioxide per year—equal to the
emissions of a country like Bolivia.

GOVERNMENT

Last year, IFC’s investment clients contrib-
uted more than $20 billion to government
revenues. This includes $7.3 billion from
oil, gas, mining, and chemicals; $2.5 bil-
lion from manufacturing and services; and
$7.5 billion from infrastructure.

—One of Bangladesh’s largest private
companies—an IFC client—has con-
tributed $440 million in payments to the
government.

—An African cell-phone company sup-
ported by IFC contributed $117 million in
taxes to the government of Zambia in 2009
alone.

—IFC helped the government of
Colombia set up a subnational investment
promotion agency to attract foreign direct
investment. The new agency facilitated
$270 million in new private investment in
the region.

—IFC acted as the lead advisor on a
transaction to involve the private sec-
tor in the management of Benin’s port.
The agreement is expected to provide
$631 million in fiscal benefits, including
new tax revenues, over the lifetime of the
public-private partnership.

INVESTORS

Profits are essential for a private company
to be sustainable and to attract more
investment—to the company itself and to
other companies in developing countries.
By investing in profitable ventures, IFC
directs resources where they can have the
most impact. The greater the profits for
IFC and our co-investors, the greater the
amount of funds that become available for
further investment—and the greater the
demonstration effect.

—With IFC’s help, an Eastern European
bank posted a 12.8 percent return on
equity despite a difficult economic envi-
ronment. The bank is ranked number one
in the country in terms of profit, total assets,
deposits, and loan portfolio.
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GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

our special initiatives
to create opportunity

Private enterprises in the developing
world face a variety of challenges that can
constrain their ability to create jobs and
make other contributions to society.

IFC takes a targeted approach to
helping them overcome those challenges.
To complement our broader strategies,
working with a wide range of partners,
we operate a set of special initiatives

to strengthen the private sector in
emerging markets and increase its
role in development—by helping ease
bottlenecks in the flow of credit to
micro, small, and medium enterprises;
by helping companies manage troubled
assets; and by working to alleviate
specific regional challenges.

Support for the initiatives totaled more
than $11 billion in FY10, including over
$6 billion from {FC’'s own account, $2
billion in direct support from partner
governments and international finance
institutions through IFC, and $3 billion

in parallel financing arrangements. We
have also launched coordinated action
plans with other international financial
institutions in Africa, Central and Eastern
Europe, and Latin America and the
Caribbean. These initiatives have been
an important part of IFC's response to
the global financial crisis, and continue to
achieve significant development impact.

TRADE FINANCE

The Global Trade Finance Program

With international trade flows dropping during the global financial crisis, we
expanded our award-winning trade finance program by increasing its ceiling
in 2008 and extending coverage to additional banks and countries. The
program issued $3.46 billion in guarantees in FY10, a 44 percent increase over
the previous year. The program provides guarantees for trade transactions in
more than 80 countries, primarily supporting small and medium enterprises.

The Global Trade Liquidity Program

This initiative, launched in 2009 in response to the global financial crisis, already
has received three deal-of-the-year awards from industry publications for its
innovation, focus on public-private partnerships, and rapid implementation

to increase credit for trade. The program financed more than $6 billion of
trade volume through 4,000 transactions in 40 countries. About 80 percent of
these transactions benefited small and medium businesses. Nearly 40 percent
were in lower-income countries. Partners include Canada, China, Japan,

the Netherlands, Saudi Arabia, Sweden, the United Kingdom, the African
Development Bank, and the OPEC Fund for International Development.

MICROFINANCE

Microfinance Enhancement Facility

IFC and the German development agency KfW launched this initiative to
support microfinance institutions, which play a vital role in the fight against
poverty. We invested $150 million and $130 million, respectively, to help
fundamentally sound microfinance institutions facing severe credit constraints
in the wake of the financial crisis. The goal is to provide refinancing to more
than 100 microfinance institutions in as many as 40 countries and to support
lending to as many as 60 million low-income borrowers. Our investments
helped mobilize funds from other partners, including the European Investment
Bank, the OPEC Fund for International Development, and development
agencies from Austria, Germany, the Netherlands, and Sweden.

DISTRESSED ASSETS

Debt and Asset Recovery Program

This program, launched in 2009, makes direct investments in businesses that
need to restructure debt, in pools of distressed assets, and in specialized
companies that manage distressed assets. It also invests indirectly through
investment funds that focus on such assets and companies. IFC will contribute
up to $1.6 billion over three years. The initiative aims to mobilize about

$5 billion more from other international financial institutions and private
sector partners. We also expect to provide support to lower-income countries
affected by the financial crisis.



INFRASTRUCTURE

The infrastructure Crisis Facility

This initiative ensures the availability of long-term debt

to support private infrastructure projects affected by

capital shortages because of the global crisis. Launched in
December 2009 with a financial commitment from KfW and
pledges from DEG of Germany, Proparco of France, and the
European Investment Bank, it has co-financing arrangements
of about $4 billion. It has committed $100 million to projects
in four countries, including a deep-water port in Vietnam,
and a natural-gas distribution project in Peru.

FOOD SECURITY

The Global Agriculture and Food Security Program

IFC and the World Bank launched the Global Agriculture and
Food Security Program, a multilateral mechanism to assist

in the implementation of pledges made by the G-8 and

G-20 countries to strengthen food security in low-income
countries. The program will channel donor funding—more than
$800 million so far—to support public and private initiatives
to improve governance, productivity, and competitiveness
in the agribusiness sector. IFC will manage funding allocated
for private initiatives and will provide long- and short-term
loans, credit guarantees, and equity to local companies and
financial intermediaries.

ADVISORY SERVICES

Access to Finance

IFC Advisory Services launched a $2.6 million initiative, jointly
funded by donor partners, to help crisis-affected financial
institutions with small and medium enterprise banking, housing
finance, microfinance, and leasing. The initiative, which is
expected to raise $40 million over three years, also focuses on
risk management, distressed-asset management, and financial
infrastructure. IFC also is coordinating a World Bank Group
effort to support the G-20 development agenda and provide
actionable recommendations to foster access to finance by small
and medium enterprises.

DESPITE CRISIS, IFC CLIENTS
PERFORMED WELL ON JOB EXPANSION
I

In a time of economic turmoil and retrenchment
acioss the globe, IFC's clients bucked a grim trend.,
Our data show that most of them- 67 per
cent-—either added jobs or kept their payrolls stable

Data we received from 456 clients who were part of
our portfolio throughout 2008 and 2009 showed that
these clients expanded their payrolls by a net 32,000
jobs. This group accounted for nearly two-thirds of
IFC’s client portfolio in agribusiness; health and edu
cation; information and communication technologies,
infrastructure, manufacturing and services; and oil
gas, mining, and chemicals during that period.

Their net job expansion is a remarkable accomplish
ment given the magnitude of crisis related job losses
worldwide. The International Labour Organization
has estimated that global unemployment in the for
mal sector now stands at a record 212 million
peopie - 27 million of whom lost their jobs ir: 2009
alone. IFC's clients are too few to make a dent in the
global numbers. Nevertheless, their performance
highlights the special role they play - with IFC’s sup
port-—in creating opportunity.

Our clients’ job expansion often reflected their strat
eqgy of expanding operations to be able to reap the
benetits ot an eventual recovery. Many increased the
range of products and services they offer to custom
ers, often reaching underserved markets. For
example, one commercial retail client expanded
operations in Bosnia-Herzegovina and Serbia in 2009,
adding 2,800 jobs—1,700 of which went to women.
As aresult, smaller towns in these areas gained mod
ern grocery stores.

Clients in East Asia and the Pacific, South Asia, and
Latin America and the Caribbean added more than
10,000 jobs in each of those regions. In the smaller
countries of Europe and Central Asia, the region
hardest hit by the crisis, our clients added 5,000
jobs. Some of these gains were offset by job
losses--—our data showed that 39 percent of our c¢li
ents reduced jobs.

Our data also showed that the number of women
employed by our clients generally increased in 2008
and 2009. More than 20 percent of the expansion in
jobs in 2008 and 2009 retlected jobs that went to
women—=8,790 in all.

A\
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GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

IFC'’s five pillars and scorecard

THE PILLARS

IFC strives to deliver what cannot be obtained elsewhere. We offer clients a unique combination of
investment and advice designed to promote sustainable private sector development in emerging
markets We cali that special edge our “additionality.” Using it to maximize our development impact is
a cornerstone of our strategy. Our activities are guided by five strategic priorities that allow us to help
where we are most needed, and where our assistance can do the most good.

1
STRENGTHENING THE FOCUS ON FRONTIER MARKETS
]

IDA countries, fragile and conflict-affected situations, and frontier regions of middle-income countries

2
BUILDING LONG-TERM CLIENT RELATIONSHIPS IN EMERGING MARKETS
.|

Using the full range of our products and services to guide clients’ development and assist cross-border growth

3
ADDRESSING CLIMATE CHANGE AND ENSURING ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY
O

Developing new business models and financing instruments; setting and raising standards

4
ADDRESSING CONSTRAINTS TO PRIVATE SECTOR GROWTH IN INFRASTRUCTURE, HEALTH, EDUCATION, AND THE FOOD-SUPPLY CHAIN
[ e e e e e e

Increasing access to basic services and strengthening the agribusiness value chain

5
DEVELOPING LOCAL FINANCIAL MARKETS
L

Using innovative financial products, mobilizing resources, focusing on micro, small, and medium enterprises

prio



THE SCORECARD: IFC’'S PERFORMANCE ON STRATEGIC PILLARS

FY10 FY09
indicator performance performance

Number of Projects in IDA Countries 255 225
Commitments in IDA Countries (millions) $4,881 $4,424

Advisory Services Expenditures in IDA Countries (millions) $81 $74
Commitments in Sub-Saharan Africa (millions) $2,428 $1,824
Commitments in Middle East and North Africa (millions) $1,572 $1,260

Number of South-South Investment Projects

Commitments in South-South Investment Projects (millions)

Commitments in Energy Efficiency
and Renewable Energy (millions)

Commitments in Infrastructure,
Health and Education, and Food' (millions)

Commitments in Financial Markets (millions)?

Commitments in Micro, Small and
Medium Enterprises Sector (millions)?

Investment Projects Rated High

DEVELOPMENT RESULTS
(DOTS Score)*

1. Commitments of IFC’s Infrastructure, Information and Communication Technologies, Subnational Finance, and Agribusiness departments (not the entire food-supply chain).
2. Commitments of IFC’s Financial Markets department.
3. Includes direct MSME borrowers, financial institutions with more than 50% of their business clients being MSMEs, and any other investments that specifically target MSMEs as primary beneficiaries

4.DOTS scores based on development outcomes rated high as of June 30 of the respective year, for a rolling average of 6 years of approvals (2001-2006 for FY10) Fﬂ 7



GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

’:‘}«’fpo’\/erty and
unemployment

QUR FOCUS

Joblessness has become a
formidable challenge since the
. onset of the global economic
crisis. It is most crippling in
developing countries, where
212 million people were out of
work this year.

Our focus: helping the private
sector generate productive
jobs and alleviate poverty.

it's an objective that shapes
every aspect of our activities,
including improving the
investment climate.

‘We work to expand economic
opportunities and job creation
by supporting small and
medium enterprises, which
account for the bulk of job
creation around the world.

We do it by promoting the
economic empowerment of
women, who remain a largely
untapped resource in many
developing countries. We do
it by helping ensure the flow of
credit to potential job creators,
including through a variety of
special initiatives we launched
in response to the global
crisis. We do it by helping
governments create a sound
investment climate.
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INNOVATION AND IMPACT

Our investment clients
provided 2.2 million jobs in
2009, including nearly
514,000 in manufacturing

and services, more than
300,000 in agribusiness, and
96,000 in information and
communication technologies.
Businesses supported
indirectly through IFC-backed
investment funds provided
more than 711,000 jobs in 2009.

‘ . We recognize that job
‘ H v creation must be socially

| liﬁﬂaé and environmentally
sustainable. Over the
last few years, we have
deepened our partnership
with the international Labour
Organization to ensure
productive employment and
decent work for all, in line with
IFC's Performance Standards.
Last year, we signed an
agreement with the ILO to
o increase our cooperation
to expand compliance
, with labor standards
- through the Better Work
program. The partnership
is expected to improve the
lives of 1.2 million workers in
developing countries.

——————
—_—




GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

SUE-SAHARAN AFRICA
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LATIN AMERICA AND
THE CARIBBEAN

helping the
poor gain access
to markets

In Mexico's villages, small shops are big
players.

Many are one woman microenterprises,
selling food and household goods from just
four square meters of floor space. They pro
vide essential income in hard-to reach rural
areas. But they are often isolated from the
larger-scale retail industry’s etficient dis
tribution chains. Shop owners must travel
to distant cities to buy small amounts of
goods—-a costly routine.

In this challenge, Mi Tienda ("My Store”)
saw opportunity. The Mexican company
uses a modern logistics network to deliver
goods directly to small, rural shops. 11
offers an inexpensive package of volume-
discounted goods, customized financing,
store modernization, and training. This
model has increased revenues of modern-
ized stores by 35 percent.

Mi Tienda's services helped Obdulia
Perez Garcia revive her flaggmg business. |
don't have to close my store and use gaso
line to get my merchandise,” she said. "My
business came back to life.”

With IFC's support, Mi Tienda s help-
ing create more than 900 direct jobs-—an
important benefit in Mexico, which has
seen rising unemployment and an under
employment 1ate estimated at 25 percent.

Mi Tienda's 36 new distribution centers
will target rural shops that reach 4.7 million
households.

IFC promotes inclusive busiess models
across Latin America, focusing on invest
ments that serve the poor, who make up
70 percent of the region’s population. They
earn $2 to $8 a day, but collectively repre
sent a $509 billion market

Underserved communities fack access
to financing, jobs, and other opportunities.
IFC seeks to reach them with a market-
based approach that engages them as
producers, consumers, and distributors.
In FY10, IFC dedicated $872 million to 44
investment projects that support these
communities in Latin America.
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easing poverty, fostering stability
with insurance

Everyone is exposed to risks. But in the developing world, where few
people have insurance, risks have even more severe conseguences.
Poor families frequently face financial ruin when a breadwinner dies,

prolonging the cycle of poverty.

MITIGATING RISKS
— :
2 is helping :
LeapFrog otfer i
insurance throug!
its portfolc
companies te
25 mithon low
income o financ ¢y
excluded peopi:

\ It doesn't need to be that way. IFC is work-
ing with LeapFrog Financial Inclusion
Fund to bring insurance to millions who
have never had the opportunity to pro-
tect against life-altering shocks. This year,
we invested $20 million in LeapFrog—the
world’s first commercial microinsurance
investment fund. The investment will help
LeapFrog offer insurance coverage through
its portfolio companies to 25 million low-
_Jj income or financially excluded people in

” Sub-Saharan Africa and Asia, more than half
of whom will be women and children.

By dampening the shocks brought on by death, ill-
ness, property loss, or natural disaster, microinsurance
offers income stability where uncertainty was once the
norm. That provides the comfort needed to invest in farms,
expand businesses, or pay for a child's education. With our
help, LeapFrog also is working to strengthen the financial
sector in underserved areas by introducing new products.

With a customer base of as many as 1 billion peo-
ple, microinsurance offers a compelling business case.
LeapFrog's success is expected to encourage others in
the private sector to participate in this untapped market,
catalyzing the development of a new industry.

The fund is pursuing opportunities in Ghana, Kenya,
India, Indonesia, and the Philippines. Its first investment
was in AllLife, a South African company that insures
HIV-positive and diabetic people—a group other firms
consider uninsurable. AllLife’s profitable, high-impact
business model focuses on making sure clients actively
manage their health and are tested regularly. The result:
better lives and peace of mind for the previously uninsured.



an unequal world

Where does a sister share the same inheritance rights to her parents'
property as her brother? Which economies differentiate between
women and men under the law?

REPORT:

WOMEN, BUSINESS,

AND THE LAW
I

Produced by the

VWorid Bank and IFC,

the report can help
countries identify
and addres.. gender
inequality.

e

For the first time, these questions and
more can be answered with quantitative
and objective data, thanks to the newly
launched Women, Business, and the Law
report, which assesses the ways women are
treated differently from men under the laws
of 128 countries. The report finds that, in
certain key areas, women have equal rights
in only 20 of those countries.

The report, produced jointly by the World
Bank and IFC, presents indicators based on
laws and regulations affecting women's
prospects as entrepreneurs and employ-
ees. It gives policy makers around the world
a starting point for dialogue and action
toward gender equality.

Several of the indicators draw on the Gender Law
Library, a collection of over 2,000 legal provisions that
affect women'’s economic status. Both resources can
inform research and policy discussions on how to improve
women'’s economic opportunities and outcomes. The key
topics covered in the report are: accessing institutions,
using property, getting a job, dealing with taxes, building
credit, and going to court.

The Women, Business, and the Law project is intended
to further country-level or cross-country research on the
effects of gender-based legal differentiation. Using such
data, policy makers can identify particular areas of law
where gender inequality may be especially pronounced.
Such data already have prompted several countries to
change their legislation. The project aims to monitor
these efforts.

More information on the project is available at

http://wbl.worldbank.org
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GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

helping young adults
gain productive jobs

Rasha Al-Eryani had an education —but no means of supporting
herselt. Long after she graduated, she remained jobless, turning to her

familv for help with the bills.

Her story is fartoo common in Yemen, where
nearly 11 million people live on less than

Yemeni job-seekers, like Al-Eryani, have little
opportunity.

That's why IFC joined forces with the Yemen Education
for Employment Foundation to create the country’s first
professional training program for first-time job-seekers.
It worked for Al-Eryani. She landed a job in the human
resources department of a company in Yemen a month
after taking IFC's Business Edge courses.

"When | started working, | was well prepared and did not
feel any difference between what | studied in the courses
and reality,” the 27-year-old Al-Eryani said.

Thousands like her will benefit from Business Edge,
learning the essentials of marketing, accounting, and other
bankable skills.

4 . $2 a day. With the unemployment rate as
4
‘~."‘Q high as 40 percent, even the most desirable
n’:’

Over the next three years, IFC and YEFE expect to train
3,000 people under the sponsorship of companies that
have pledged to hire 85 percent of the initiative’s partici-
pants. The program will help Yemen diversify its oil-based
economy and solidify its nascent private sector. It will also
expand access to training in more rural areas and increase
the participation of women and youth in the workforce in
Yemen, one of the poorest countries in the Middle East.

The unemployment rate among youth in this region is
one of the highest in the world-—and many of the unem-
ployed are well-educated first-time job seekers. IFC's
Business Edge training programs are available in more
than 20 countries around the world, including Afghanistan,
Egypt, Pakistan, and Yemen. They are tailored to local mar-
kets and offered through licensed training providers. We
provide workshops and training materials to improve skills
in marketing, human resources, production and opera-
tions, finance and accounting, and productivity.



SUB-SAHARAN
AFRICA

a gold mine for
local communities

There wasn’t much opportunity in rural western Mali before the
advent of large-scale gold mining—few jobs, little education,
minimal health care or infrastructure. Things are different today.

In arugged area that had known nothing but
extreme poverty for centuries, thousands of
people now have a chance for better lives.

Local residents now earn incomes by pro-
cessing peanut butter and sesame seeds
for sale, alongside the fruit, fish, and veg-
etables they produce. Improved agricultural
practices and food security are part of an
IFC-supported integrated development
plan in communities adjacent to the Sadiola
Gold Mine, 500 kilometers from Mali’s capi-
tal, Bamako.

Until IFC helped finance the mine’s construction and
opening in 1995, villagers relied mainly on subsistence
agriculture. They were largely cut off from the global econ-
omy—rarely even using money, conducting transactions
instead by barter.

Commercial mining transformed the local econ-
omy. Sponsored by AngloGold Ashanti of South Africa,
IAMGOLD of Canada, and the Malian government, Sadiola
now produces more than 450,000 ounces of gold a year.
The mine and its contractors employ more than 1,000
people and buy goods and services from many more. It

also puts about $300,000 a year into a local community-
development foundation.

The extraction of natural resources can present both
risks and opportunities for developing countries. Mining
can provide significant opportunities for poor communi-
ties to escape poverty, but it can also cause environmental
and social harm and upheaval for these communities.

So we work with companies, governments, and local
people to maximize benefits and minimize risks. We
are helping raise environmental, social, and corporate
governance standards in this area, furthering the work we
began nearly a decade ago with the Extractive Industries
Review, the most comprehensive sector review ever con-
ducted by the World Bank Group.

We also promote accountability by requiring our extrac-
tive-industry clients to publicly disclose taxes and royalties
they pay to governments—and by keeping track of the
numbers ourselves. In 2009, IFC's oil, gas, and mining cli-
ents contributed about $7 billion in government revenues
and provided about 128,000 jobs.

P25



GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

ooverty and unemployment:

impact around the world

In 2009, our investment
clients provided 2.2 million
jobs, including about 73,000
in health and education, and
128,000 in oil, gas, mining, and
chemicals. More than 711,000
were provided by businesses
supported indirectly through
IFC-backed mvestment funds.
The employment we helped
businesses provide was in

a swath of industries spread
around the globe, from
automobile manufacturing
jobs in India to aluminum
production in Argentina.

TRINIDAD AND
TOBAGO

We restructured an
existing $9.3 million debt
investment in Unicell Paper
Mills Caribbean Ltd. so
it can maintain jobs and
boost its business.

GUATEMALA

We're providing
$10 million to help
Lapco Corporation

S.A. expand and

gencrate employment
and opportunities
for women and
small enterprises in
rural areas.

ARGENTINA

IFC’s $25 million
equity investment
in Aluar Aluminio

Argentino Saic will

help the aluminum
producer expand

and generate more
than 2,000 jobs.
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UKRAINE

Our $25 million investment in
meat producer Globino will
increase production capacity,
modernize equipment, and
add about 600 jobs.

SENEGAL

Our $1.2 million equity investment
and advisory services will help

MicroCred Sénégal boost lending
to entrepreneurs with limited
access to formal financial services.

JORDAN

We're helping Jordan
Phosphate Mines Company

relocate afertilizer export
terminal and create jobs

with a $50 million financing

agreement and $60 million
syndication agreement,

ETHIOPIA

To create jobs and increase

government revenues, we're
investing £3.4 million in Western
Ethiopia’s Tulu Kapi Gold Project.

T T T T T T T T T S e ""\\

INDIA

We're investing €135 million in
Volkswagen India Private Ltd.
to help the company set up an
integrated car manufacturing

plant that is expected to directly
result in more than 2,500 jobs.

SOLOMON ISLANDS

A $35 million IFC loan to Gold
Ridge Mining Ltd. will provide

jobs, boost government
revenues, and help develop
the local community.

pe7
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‘climate change

QUR FOCUS

Climate change could
have far-reaching global
consequences— but the

danger is particularly acute
for developing countries. In
these countries, millions live
in coastal areas vulnerable

to rising sea levels. For their
livelihoods, millions depend
on agriculture, which is subject
to crop failures and reduced
productivity that could
increase hunger, malnutrition;
and disease.

Climate change and
sustainability are key areas of
strategic focus for us. Working
with partners in more than
100 countries, we invest,
advise, and mobilize
resources from others,
creating opportunity for
clients in a broad range

of industries in emerging
markets. We have developed
new business models

. and financing instruments
for clean energy and energy
efficiency and worked with
the private sector to improve
its environmental and

social standards.
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INNOVATION AND IMPACT

Mitigating and adapting

to climate change will cost
hundreds of billions of dollars
in coming years —with

the private sector bearing
most of the costs. As the
largest global development
institution focused on the
private sector, IFC is playing
a critical role. We make a
special contribution by
complementing the work of.
other organizations in the
areas of policy, research,
advocacy, negotiation, and
grant-based assistance.

In FY10, more than

$1.64 billion of our direct
investments went to finance
renewable energy, energy
efficiency, and other climate-
related business. Our projects
have helped Chinese banks
implement the country'’s
“Green Credit Policy,” enabled
farmers to slash their power
use, and supported venture
capital investment in clean
technology companies.

pl9
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EAST ASIA AND THE PACIFIC
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helping banks
promote energy
efficiency

Lito Hizon owis and manages Cortarmn, «
15,000 head pig tarm north of Manila. 1o

mitse power costs from the grid, he

decided to constiwct a methane capture

and electricity production tacility.

Needing finaacing, hie applied for and

got a $1 million loan trony the Bank ot the

Philippme  lslands under o Sustamable

Energy Finance window that the Manila

lender had opened in January 7008 with

IFC assistance and tinancial support frem

the Global Environmental Faclity.

BPI President Aureiio Montinola 1l
glad his bank, orie of the country's larg
est, can help farmers like Hizon. Pioneering

1%

sustainable energy finance affirms BPI's

commitment to environmental protection.
“IFC helped our bark's staff 15 bet

ter understand the energy efficiency andd

renewable-enargy segments, and we: are

in advanced negotiations with (FC on a

risk-sharing agreement that will help us

build @ robust and sustainable portfolic,”

Montinola said

The program is based on the wdea that

financing sustainable energy projears s
¢ gy Prey

both good business and useful i fight

ing climate change. Supported Ly the
Global Environment Facility, it works with

banks, technology and equpment ven

dors, end-users, regulatory agencies, and

market-awareness partners (o proroete sus

tainable energy.
This is the latest in a series of IFC pio

grams that helo local banks provide clients
with loans tor the purchase of energy-
saving equipment that comes with advice
from technical experts. in China, our three
partner banks have extended $1.2 nillion
in loans of this kind as of June 30, 2010, In
Russia, we have helped eight partner banks
enter this market, providing $160 nuthon
in energy-efficiency financing to several

of them.

All told, IFC had energy efficiency pro

aparns in 30 countries as of June 30, 2010
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reducing emissions and cutting costs
with cleaner production
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It is a major challenge: meeting the world's growing demand
for energy while simultaneously reducing greenhouse emissions.
New conservation measures to eliminate some of the waste from
big industrial users’ systems will be a key part of the solution.

CLEANER
PRODUCTION
—

Our $125 mitlicr
prograrm ie
helping rempanie:
implement eneray

and water-etficiency
improvement,
thit are good to:

business and th.
OHVITONMIENT

To get there, demand for increased indus-
trial energy efficiency must grow in large
emerging markets like India. But few Indian
manufacturers realize they have many small
production inefficiencies that create large
hidden utility costs.

Our investment and advisory services
have helped one of India’s best-known firms,
JK Paper Ltd., realize major cost savings
from energy and water efficiency improve-
ments at its plarts in Orissa and Gujarat.
These simple, low-cost fixes by a respected
player are setting an important example for
others to follow in one of the world’s rising
economic powers.

We began by supporting a thorough Cleaner Production
assessment for JK, identifying 40 saving opportunities
available through relatively easy, low-cost upgrades:
replacing leaky pipes; replacing old, single-speed motors
with new variable speed ones; and others. Then we pro-
vided a $3 million loan to finance the needed upgrades.

When implemented, these measures are expected to
lead to a 17 percent reduction in water consumption, a
10 percent improvement in energy efficiency, and an annual
savings of more than $1 million. The amount saved equals
the average annual water use of 75,000 Indian households,
and the average annual energy use of 9,100 more.

We started the Cleaner Production lending program
with a $20 million global lending pool that helped JK and
six other clients cut costs through climate-friendly environ-
mental measures. Now the initiative is being expanded to
$125 million to enable us to help more clients. It builds an
even stronger case that these upgrades are good for busi-
ness as well as the environment.



renewable energy —
IFC's approach

For people in developing countries, access to modern sources of energy
can be crucial for escaping poverty and illness. The intensity of that
need also poses a challenge in the fight against climate change.

AN IFC PRIORITY
——
Our investments
in renewable
energy and
energy efficiency
reached arecord
$1.64 billion
in FY10.

\

</

Over the next 20 years, two-thirds of the
global demand for energy is expected to
come from developing countries—where
more than 1.6 billion people lack electricity
and 2.4 billion burn wood and waste mate-
rials for cooking and heating. Harnessing
renewable energy resources—such as
solar, wind, and biomass—could satisfy
much of the demand without exacerbating
climate change.

For that reason, IFC has made the
promotion of renewable and energy effi-
ciency a key priority. Our investments in

these areas totaled a record $1.64 billion in FY10, up from
$1.03 billion in FY09. About 16 percent of our projects had
a clean-energy component. We have invested in solar,
wind, biomass, geothermal, and hydropower projects in
all developing regions of the world.

This year, IFC played a strong role in the scale-up of solar
energy in developing countries. We made our first invest-
ment in a solar project in Sub-Saharan Africa, investing
$750,000 in Comasel de St. Louis to help it bring electricity
to rural areas of Senegal.

Comasel, a subsidiary of Morocco’s Office National de
I'Electricité, will use a mix of grid connections and indi-
vidual solar kits to bring power to nearly 20,000 people in
almost 300 villages. The project also will provide electricity
to 213 schools and 118 health centers, improving health
and education services.

We also invested $10 million in Azure Power, marking
our first direct investment in a grid-connected solar power
projectin India. The investment will help Azure expand the
supply of clean energy from 32 villages in India’s Punjab
state to about 100 villages, saving 10,000 tons of carbon
emissions annually.
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AFRICA

Lighting
Africa

Imagine 2.5 million people in Africa disposing of kerosene lamps

and candles in less than three years.

Then imagine that many people buying climate-
friendly lighting products—and in the process
creating a thriving private sector-led Base of the
Pyramid market.

Safe, bright lighting can significantly em-
power families and businesses previously
dependent on dirty and hazardous flame-based
lights. The joint IFC/World Bank Lighting Africa
initiative aims to make electric light a reality for
millions of Africans.

By addressing access to finance, product quality, and
regulatory constraints, Lighting Africa can make it easier
for new players to enter the market. And the market for
climate-friendly lighting products is potentially huge, with
250 million African consumers by 2030.

Africans currently spend up to $17 billion a year on
inadequate lighting. Offering them alternatives is a busi-
ness opportunity for local and international distributors,
established and fledgling private sector companies, local
assemblers, international manufacturers, and others.

Lighting Africa now works with around 50 manufacturers
that offer over 70 products, providing them with business
support services, access to finance, and product quality

assurance services. An increasing number of these prod-
ucts now cost less than $25, making them available for
the first time to large segments of the African population.
That is a marked improvement from just a few years ear-
lier, when only a handful of products were developed for
this market.

In FY10, Lighting Africa launched the International Off-
grid Lighting Industry Association and took steps toward
establishing an off-grid lighting quality seal of approval, an
effort that will help assure quality and boost transparency
for consumers.

Our overall goal: helping the private sector supply safe,
affordable, high-quality lighting to 2.5 million people by
2012 in a market-based way. To do it, we expect to facili-
tate sales of 500,000 off-grid lighting products through
commercial channels, and establish a sustainable com-
mercial platform to supply 250 million people with similar
devices by 2030. This will open a new path for social, health,
and economic development. Many households and small
businesses will see significant cost savings and produc-
tivity gains through longer working hours and study time,
and reduced health risks from kerosene-induced indoor
air pollution.



helping institutional investors
make climate-friendly investments

The financial world does not negotiate the big international treaties on
climate change. But its capital is critical to meeting their goals.

N\

S&P/IFCI CARBON
EFFICIENT INDEX
|
Launched in late
2009, the index
can prompt
new incentives
to encourage
measurement,
disclosure, and
reduction of

carbon emissions.

N
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IFC can influence the markets. But only local
and regional banks, institutional investors,
and other financial institutions have the
power to change them. The vast sums they
control can be put to good use in the fight
against climate change once a good busi-
ness case is stated—something IFC works
on several levels to create.

In March 2009, we hosted the annual sum-
mit of the P8 Group, a set of leading public
pension funds from several countries that
collectively manages more than $3 trillion
and has a keen focus on climate change and
sustainability. We have since been helping

it explore sustainable investment opportunities in emerg-
ing markets.

But before making investment decisions, investors need
to see rigorous independent benchmarking of climate-
friendly opportunities. Without demand from regulators
and stakeholders, listed companies in emerging markets
have had little reason to disclose or increase the carbon
efficiency of their business activities.

To help them get over this hurdle, IFC teamed up with
one of the world’s foremost sources of indices and risk

evaluation, Standard & Poor’s, to launch a new emerging-
market Carbon Efficient Index. We did it with support
from the U.K. government and the Global Environment
Facility. In time, such tools can prompt new market-based
incentives such as lower costs of capital and enhanced rep-
utation that can help encourage corporate measurement,
disclosure, and reduction of carbon emissions.

The new S&P/IFCI Carbon Efficient Index, launched in
December 2009, attempts to mobilize significant port-
folio investment flows to favor allocations to the most
carbon-efficient companies in emerging markets, thereby
encouraging carbon-efficiency competition within sectors.

Targeting the passive equity investor, this new tool
offers market returns with little additional risk. Carbon data
for the index are provided by Trucost, a specialist in calcu-
lating companies’ environmental impacts based on readily
available business information. To increase awareness of
the index, IFC is partnering with the Carbon Disclosure
Project to request information on emissions from more
than 800 companies in emerging markets in 2010, and to
point to the new index as an example of how investors are
integrating this information into their decisions.

p35



GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND tMPACT

climate change:
impact around the world

IFC is increasing our investrments and advice
in renewable energy and energy efficiency,

a reflection of our growing commitment to
address climate change. We financed over
$1.64 billion in renewable energy, energy
efficiency, and other climate-related business
investments. Projects we helped get off the
ground are bringing wind energy to Mexican
households, backing renewable energy

in Turkey, and supporting energy-efficiency
lending in Vietnam.

DOMINICAN REPUBLIC

A Banco BHD project with
$20 million in financing from
IFC will help Dominican

companies cut their energy use
and greenhouse gas emissions.




RUSSIA

We're providing a $10 million
loan to Monocrystal, helping the
manufacturer expand its capacity

to produce materials used in

energy-efficient technologies.

e e it

ARMENIA

With a
$15 million
loan from IFC,
Ameriabank
can provide
long-term
financing to

IFC’'s $6.5 million
loan to Butwal
Power Company

: for a run-of-river
build small hydropower project
hydropower : will support rural
plants. electriﬁcatior\ and
irrigation, and
address severe

VIETNAM
power shortages.

We're providing
$24 million to help
Techcombank
develop its energy-
efficiency lending
facility for local
small and medium
enterprises.

TURKEY

A $75 million loan to
Akenerji will support
the company’s
renewable energy
projects and help
meet Turkey’s growing
energy needs.

Our $7.8 million equity
investment in Auro Mira
Energy is helEing create

new renewable energy-
based generation capacity.

PHILIPPINES
THAILAND

SRI LANKA

A $12.6 million risk-
sharing facility to Sri
Lanka's NDB Bank
wilt support the
country’s power-
generation capacity
while addressing
\ climate change.

Our $1.7 million
investment in Solar
Power (Korat 1)
Company will expand
private power
generation and boost
development in
rural Thailand.

A $75 million loan to the
Filipino branch office of
U.S.-based SunPower
Corporation will support
its Filipino solar cell

manufacturing operations.

p37



food security

GLOBAL CHALLENGES AND IMPACT

OUR FOCUS

Across the globe, the number
of hungry people already
exceeds 1 billion. In the next
few decades, the challenge of
feeding them will grow even
more formidable.

By 2050, the United Nations
estimates, the world's
population will be one-third
larger than it is today—and
total 9.1 billion people. In
developing countries, food
production would need

to double to keep up with
rising demand. Average net
annual investments in food
production would need to

" grow by 50 percent. In a time
‘ of competing demands for
farmland and water, achieving
such an expansion sustainably
will depend on innovations
that improve efficiency

and productivity.

IFC is playing a critical role in
addressing the challenge —
by supporting effective

and sustainable practices
throughout the agribusiness
value chain, from farm

to consumer.




INNOVATION AND IMPACT

Qur work gives farmers

and agricultural enterprises
better access to finance,
letting them reach new
markets. We help them
improve productivity, reduce
waste, and adopt sustainable
methods. By channeling
investment to promote global
and local trade in food and
agriculture, IFC strengthens
the global distribution

of food.

We are innovative, creating
new products that protect
farmers from unforeseen
risks that can threaten
their livelihoods and
providing training on
productivity-enhancing
sustainable practices.

In FY10, we provided nearly
$2 billion in lending across
the agricultural supply
chain, including financing
for projects to improve the
storage and distribution of
agricultural produce, expand
rural and agricultural trade
finance, and expand food
processing. Our agribusiness
investment clients reached -
more than 2 million farmers.
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modernizing
logistics systems

Inadeguate logistics systems are a critical
factor holding back economic growth in
India. As much as a third of the country’s
fresh produce is lost as a result of poor
transportation and storage facilities--a
waste of fruit, meat, and dairy products
worth $13 billion.

To address bottlenecks in agriculture-
related logistics and infrastructure, IFC
invested $5 million in Snowman Frozen
Foods Ltd., a Bangalore-based company
that transports, stores, and distributes fro-
zen and chilled foods. The investment will
help Snowman expand its temperature-
controlled storage capacity from 10,000
pallets to 34,000 over the next three years.

In a country that accounts for 33 per-
cent of the world's poor, the investment
will make a difference —food waste will be
reduced, and farmers and food producers
will get better access to retail markets. The
project also will improve environmental and
social practices at Snowman, which reaches
over 100 cities and 4,400 retail outlets in
India, by spurring investment in energy-
efficient compressors and helping the
company expand in the low-income state
of Uttar Pradesh.

"IFC, with us, can scale up the business
and try to bring down the waste —to a great
extent—in fruits and vegetables in India,’
said Snowman’s CEO Ravi Kannan.

For now, India only has the capacity to
store 18 percent of its yearly horticultural

'

production in temperature-controlled
facilities. Most companies in the sector are
regional, with just two or three refriger-
ated vans and a single storage facility. Most
of the country’s temperature-controlled
storage is only equipped for potatoes
and onions.

That's why IFC’s investment in Snowman,
which operates about 75 refrigerated trucks
and 16 storage facilities, is so critical.
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EUROPE AND
CENTRAL ASIA

-

-

increasing food
production in Ukraine

As one of the world's leading grain exporters, Ukraine plays a
major role in the global food supply chain. But its agribusiness

sector faces several constraints.

Adverse weather conditions can curtail pro-
duction and hurtfarmers’ incomes. Long-term
financing for food production can be scarce.

IFC is helping Ukraine become a more
significant food supplier by working with
agribusinesses across the supply chain to
overcome these constraints. This year, we
provided $75 million in long-term financing
to Mriya, the country's seventh-largest agri-
cultural producer, to help it double its production of wheat
and other agricultural commodities.

We also have helped farmers in Ukraine get bet-
ter access to insurance products that offset the risks of
crop losses because of weather and other hazards. Our
Agri-Insurance Development Project, launched in 2008 in
partnership with the Canadian development agency CIDA,
aims to improve the quality of products offered by insur-
ance companies and build a regulatory environment that
facilitates the offering of such products.

Natalia Gudyma, president of the League of Insurance
Organizations of Ukraine, says the project contributes to
the “improvement of the insurance culture, knowledge
and development of Ukraine's national agri-insurance
system, and prevents unfair competition.” The growing
availability of insurance products does more than miti-
gate risks for farmers—it also makes it easier for them to
obtain bank financing, because banks are more likely to
provide loans when they know farmers’ crops are insured
against losses.

Recent progress in the project includes IFC's par-
ticipation in the development of a new law, expected
to be passed later in 2010, which would pave the way
for public-private partnerships in agri-insurance, thus
enabling a wider rollout of agri-insurance products. The
project also has played a key role in establishing an asso-
ciation of agri-insurance companies, the first initiative of
its kind in Ukraine.



helping farmers
mitigate weather risks

Thanks to a new IFC-led insurance program, farmers across
the developing world have better ways to cope with the threat
of natural disasters.

HAZARD
INSURANCE
L]
Backed by IFC
Adyvisory Services,
the Global Index
Insurance Facility
helps farmers
ease the often-
devastating impact
of natural disasters.

N

z/

Hazard insurance is a rarity in emerging
economies, leaving farmers at the mercy of
Mother Nature. Earthquakes, floods, and
hurricanes can wipe out homes in an instant.
Droughts can deny farmers the crops and
livestock they need to get by.

Now the risk can be mitigated. IFC,
together with the World Bank, is expand-
ing the availability of index-based insurance
for natural disasters and weather risks. The
Global Index Insurance Facility, or GIIF, aims
to provide new access to insurance products
in developing countries, particularly to farm-
ers and people in agrarian communities.

With index-based insurance, losses resulting from

weather and catastrophic events are assigned values on
a predefined basis, using an index. When one of those
events is triggered, insurance payments are distributed.
For example, insurance would be paid out if less than an
anticipated amount of rain falls, a wind storm of certain cat-
egory hits, or an earthquake registers a certain magnitude
on the Richter scale.

Policyholders qualify for payouts as soon as the statisti-
cal indexes are triggered, without having to wait for claims
to be settled in the traditional way.

The facility is backed by an IFC Advisory Services
program that is working to raise the capacity of insur-
ance companies to provide index-based insurance, help
develop such products, and create a favorable regulatory
environment by advising governments on possible regula-
tory changes.

The European Commission has committed €24.5 million
as the first donor to a trust fund to finance the advisory
services support. The fund is also supported by the Dutch
Ministry of Foreign Affairs. IFC is working with key partners
to expand the program.
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tood security:
impact around the world

Millions of farmers have benefited
from the products or services of our
agribusiness clients. At the end

of FY10, our committed agribusiness
portfolio totaled $536 million, and
we also financed a variety of projects
to strengthen all areas of the supply
chain. With IFC's help, our clients are
irrigating arid stretches of Morocco,
providing resilient rice ana vegetable
seeds in Bangladesh, and enhancing
food safety in China.

T T TN
PARAGUAY

A $30 million IFC
loan to Banco Bilbao
Vizcaya Argentaria

Paraguay v
strengthen Paraguay's
agricultural supply
chain and provide
new opportunities in
rural areas.

ARGENTINA

Banco Patagonia will boost
access to finance for tarmers
T and medium
agribusiness companies with a
$30 million loan from IFC




WEST BANK

We launched the second
phase of the West
Bank Olive Oil Supply
Chain Development
Project, which is helping
Palestinian olive-oil
producers obtain
financing and become
more competitive.

MOROCCO

IFC is advising the Ministry
of Agriculture on a public-
private partnership to build
a desalination and irrigation
plant in the Chtouka area.

NIGERIA

We're providing $8.5 million
in financing to Nigerian
restaurant chain Tantalizers
to help it supply convenient,
affordable packaged food
for urban populations.

UKRAINE

We're providing more than
$60 million in financing to help
poultry producer Myronivsky
Hliboproduct expand its grain-
farming and poultry operations.

A 520 million IFC loan to agro-
processor Xiwang Sugar Holdings
will allow it to upgrade its operations
and raise food safety standards.

BANGLADESH

Our advice is helping Supreme Seed Co.

boost production and supply of stress-
— _— tolerant rice and vegetable seeds that can
™ withstand harsh weather conditions.

SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

IFC structured an innovative
financing deal that allowed
Africa's Export Trading Group
to obtain $120 million in
financing to expand trade in
agricultural commodities.
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OUR FOCUS

More than a billion of the

- world's poorest people live in
“countries that have a recent
history of war or civil conflict.
These countries often are
ill-equipped to take on the
hard work of rebuilding once
the conflict has ended. That's
why IFC is prioritizing our work
{here, mobilizing private sector
investment in key areas such
as infrastructure, extractive
industries, supply-chain

‘ development, and access
i tofinance, and providing
guidance on critical regulatory
reforms that promote
economic development and
growth. We are also working
to ensure that women are
given a stake in post-conflict

. reconciliation by supporting
- - their economic participation.

Countries are less likely

to slide back into conflict

if people see tangible
improvements in their lives:
- job creation, restoration of
basic services like electricity,
~and new business growth
.~ underpin long-term civic
- stability. But in countries
~ where virtually all such
Afunctions have been
yed, new governments
ying to rebuild are




INNOVATION AND IMPACT

The private sector has a critical
role to play, and IFC is part of
this effort. We support private
sector activity as soon as we
can safely and productively
work in these countries.

Our response to this year's
devastating earthquake in
Haiti shows we can be nimble,
quickly focusing resources
where they are needed most.
Recognizing the additional
challenges of achieving results
in these countries, we also
work closely with the World
Bank and donor partners

to share information and
collaborate in joint initiatives.

IFC's activities in conflict
countries have grown
significantly in recent years.
Our investments rose from
around $200 million in FY05
to $586 million in FY10. Our
Advisory Services activities
grew from just $5 million in
FYO5 to $32 million in FY10.
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MIDDLE EAST AND
NORTH AFRICA

"‘Q."‘Q

4

the promise
ot Yemen's
mines
I the spat seiy oo pulated desert highlands
of Yermen, Sheic dyidh Asdan s working to

brang oppot i, o his dans one of the

poorestin the reseon

'

Yomen's b jescale base metsl

mire s ey cnehructed inthis hard
scrabbie reonec: D)0 miles north of Sana'a,
a $200 mikicas 1 ciect that promises 1o
biring thouswnd. »f obs to the area over
the next des o With 1FCs assistance,

Shek Ayrdh s asionag sure lecal communi

ties benelit o the project by playing
vecordinatineg roie Detween the communi
ties, investorn ae e goverrment.

TMary peonis e wish that more mvest-

Mt wouic cons oo their areas becausa

we knew how sicch good that will do torn

joca conunit- -7 e said.

Feanzing dear potential, however, will

Qeprenad N s o Incredasing investors’

AWl GBS s etyging cpporiunities in
Yensen but ciso o aierting local commur
ties to the benen ot being engaged in the
development cf the -ountrv's mining sector,
he waid
Yesmen'e o on g s fragile as a result of
fonvid i oat, a dive fiscal situation,
ard declinig procuction More than a

thered o Yermore dive on less than $2 a day,
ard many are oterate and hunary The
conntiy necds eore obs, cnd its ecanomy
mist be diversned Deveroping o vibrant
ey 1o do that.

IFC an't oo estorin the project. But

H'\HHI\(,} RIIORERTENEN
workirg witi: Yeoen’sL mimning authotiry, we

oraanized cowenioshiop to premote ;:Mwiiuc

five discuss e Between tribal leaders
ik

the Joverntier:

Sich oas Gh ihoand mvestore and

We alse hoireec review and overhaul

Yemen's muoine: iows and fscal 1egime,

andd streanine ts lcensing procedures.
I donmig scowe e elped to ensure the new
requlatiors reclronternational best prac

tices, proveding tenchits 1o both focal and

foreign invesror

p48



SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

Hae
D08
£

creating
new businesses,
changing lives

"I started out hawking on my head. | had to

leave very early in the morning and then |
would walk all day,” says Marie Bob-Kandeh,
recalling her days selling sugar, tomatoes,
and onions from a basket in the streets of
Freetown, Sierra Leone.

Now, thanks to reforms fashioned with
IFC assistance, she has her own formal busi
ness, ashop named Rehoboth that sustains
her and her four children. "My business
is my own,” she says. “That's why | call it
Rehoboth, a Biblical word; it's my business,
so it's my freedom.”

Bob-Kandeh and countless people like
her are the beneficiaries of an IFC initia-
tive that involved working closely with
the government to reform the business
climate by making the registration pro-
cess cheaper and faster, refurbishing the
registration center, and making numerous
other changes to encourage private sec
tor commercial initiatives and sustainable
economic growth. "Now that | have regis-
tered Rehoboth, | have the opportunity to
apply for contracts,” says Bob-Kandeh, 51,
Secretary General of the Market Women's
Association. "I couldn’t do that before.”

Following a devastating 11-year civil war,
the Government of Sierra Leone in 2004
asked IFC, in partnership with the United
Kingdom's Department for International
Development, to provide advice on ways
to spur business and investment. This led
to the Removing Administrative Barriers
to Investment program, known as RABI, a
six-year multi-phased etfort by the gov
ernment and the private sector to knock
down impediments to business formation
and investment. The results have been
impressive: the cost of registering a busi
ness has fallen from $1,500 to $50, while the
registration process now takes two days,
rather than a week. In 2009, Sierra Leone
was deemed to be the quickest and easiest
place to start a business in West Africa.
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rebuilding economies,
restoring confidence

In conflict-affected countries, sustaining economic growth

and development is no easy task. Governments lack capacity.
Infrastructure is degraded. Financial services are scarce, and
access to markets is difficult—especially for small businesses.
Corruption can be widespread, and a climate of mistrust can
discourage entrepreneurship. ‘

IFC STRATEGY
—

In conflict-affected
countries, we
help improve

the investment
climate, while

making selective
and focused
investments.

N
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{FC's involvement typically begins with advi-
sory services, which can pave the way for
later investment. This work includes improv-
ing access to finance—for micro, small,
and medium enterprises, and to support
trade. We help governments improve the
investment climate, so new investment is
encouraged. We also help local manufac-
turing and services firms build capacity and
strengthen their supply chains.

Investment risks are typically higher in
conflict-affected countries. So we take a
judicious approach, combining selective

and focused investments with advisory services that have
led to respectable portfolio performance: IFC's invest-
ment projects and advisory programs in conflict-affected
nations perform in line with IFC averages, although it may
take more time to achieve strong results.

Our work in Iraq illustrates our approach. Our invest-
ments in the country are small, and primarily in the financial
sector. Our focus is also on advisory services activities that
will support capacity building in the banking sector, pro-
mote public-private partnerships in collaboration with
the World Bank, and provide management training for
small and medium enterprises—especially to women in
these enterprises.

In FY10, IFC committed $16 million in two projects in
Irag’s financial and real sectors. We are also exploring ways
to increase our activities in trade finance, microfinance,
ports, and the power sector.



LATIN AMERICA AND
THE CARIBBEAN

our swift response

Haiti's needs were urgent. IFC's response was swift. In the wake of
the devastating earthquake that struck the country in January,

IFC quickly approved and made available a $35 million emergency
investment program to help private companies get back to business,
reestablish critical services, and create or preserve jobs.

The program was a key step in our commit-
ment to helping rebuild Haiti's garment,
infrastructure, telecommunications, tourism,
and financial sectors.

In these challenging times, IFC aims to
help textile firms capitalize on favorable
trade legislation, which nearly triples duty-
free quotas for Haitian clothing exports to
the United States. As part of our program,
IFC is financing the expansion of an impor-
tant garment manufacturer in Northern
Haiti, which will create 4,000 new jobs by the
end of 2011. In addition, IFC has provided
$7.5 million to enable a group of Haitian
investors to resume construction of the Oasis hotel com-
plex in Port-au-Prince as a business facility. We are also
providing $3.4 million for the first phase of Canada-based
Eurasian Minerals’ gold and copper exploration in Haiti,
which supports 800 jobs.

In addition, we are intensifying our advisory services in
Haiti to help companies and government agencies retain
and attract investors. This includes simplifying the regula-
tory framework for special economic zones, improving the
country’s ports, and supporting the Haitian government'’s
plans to decentralize zones outside of Port-au-Prince. IFC's
goal is to help attract new garment companies to invest
$30 million in Haiti, which will support 9,500 new jobs in
these zones.

In April, we completed the structuring of the inter-
national bidding process for TELECO, which will bring
the country’s largest foreign direct investment since the
earthquake—a nearly $100 million investment in Vietnam's
biggest mobile telephone operator, Viettel, to expand
telecommunications services in Haiti.

In 2008, we opened a local office in the country. Our
strategy seeks to increase access to basic services and
develop human capital. Though the road to recovery will
be long, IFC stands as a long-term partner in Haiti, with
one common objective—to create jobs for the Haitian
people and help improve their quality of life.
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the Conflict-Affected States
in Africa initiative

Conflict magnifies the challenges of poverty in many African countries,

with devastating results.

SUB-SAHARAN afk:i7A  |FC works to provide immediate assistance

o ,
S

%g}” in Africa initiative, a $25 million program

and long-term support to these countries
by helping them rebuild their private sec-
tors, increase stability, reduce poverty, and
put their populations back to work. We do
it through the Conflict-Affected States

launched in 2008 to design and implement
integrated strategies to support economic
recovery in these countries.

The program, supported by lreland, the Netherlands,
and Norway, has helped IFC become active in some of
the poorest and least developed states in Africa. We ini-
tially focused on four countries, where war has destroyed
economies and caused widespread poverty:

—Central African Republic: Heavily dependent on aid,
this is one of the world's poorest countries, without a via-
ble private sector. IFC opened a new office in the capital,
Bangui, to support on-the-ground efforts to improve the
investment climate and foster small business growth.

—Democratic Republic of Congo: Poverty, famine, and
disease are widespread in this nation, where more than
5 million people were killed in the Second Congo War. IFC
is working here to improve the business climate.

—Liberia: The end of a long civil war in 2003 ushered
in an era of hope and democracy here, where Africa’s
first elected female head of state is leading major reform
efforts. From our recently opened office in Freetown, IFC is
working on a roster of projects that includes investments in
a new microfinance bank and a rubber plantation.

—Sierra Leone: Confidence is on the rise, along with sta-
bility, following the conclusion of a 10-year civil war that
ended in 2001. IFC projects here include support for tax
simplification, investment promotion, and small-business
development efforts. We are also broadening the range of
financial services available, such as leasing.



MIDDLE EAST AND
NORTH AFRICA
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a home for the
Ahmadi family

Hamida Ahmadi runs a beauty parlor in Kabul’s densely populated
Char Qala neighborhood. Until recently, she lived in a rental house

with her parents and younger sister while the family saved to build
a home of their own.

Money was tight. The resources provided by
the beauty shop, her mother’s tailoring work,
and her father's money-exchange business
weren’'t enough to put a new roof over the
family. In Afghanistan, affordable loans aren’t
easy to find.

Then Hamida learned that First MicroFinance Bank of
Afghanistan offered construction loans. She borrowed
money to complete construction of a new house on land
her father had purchased. The family recently moved
in, and is planning to expand the house to fit more
family members.

Hamida, who pays down the loan regularly each month,
praised FMFB for providing finance where few other banks
are willing to.

IFC helped found FMFB in 2004, providing its sponsors
at the Aga Khan Agency for Microfinance with the capital
and advisory services needed to get started. Today, it is
Afghanistan’s most successful commercial microlender,
bringing modern banking to more than 85,000 low-income
people across the country.

To widen our impact, we began advising FMFB last year
on the development of housing-finance products, provid-
ing a resident advisor and other specialist services. This
has enabled the bank to make small home loans to nearly
2,000 people like Hamida.

IFC’s investment portfolio in Afghanistan has increased
more than tenfold over the past five years, climbing
to $95 million from $8 million. The portfolio includes a
$75 million investment in MTN Afghanistan, the country’s
second-largest mobile-phone operator, to expand its
network to serve more low-income populations. IFC also
has launched a management and business-skills training
program for small and medium enterprises, and provided
advice in agriculture and other sectors.
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conflict:
impact around the world

HAITI

IFC structured the bidding for the
public-private partnership that

led to Haiti's largest foreign direct

investment since the earthquake, a

t $99 million investment by Vietnam’s
Viettel in Telecommunications d’'Haiti.

IFC's investments and advisory services are
being felt throughout conflict-affected
countries, where we are expanding our work.
We're helping small business owners in
Sierra Leone cut their costs, expanding credit
to Yemen's entrepreneurs, and boosting trade
finance for firms in Lebanon. At the same
time, our initiatives are ensuring that battered
economies can recover—and stay healthy.



IFC is providing
$72 mmion fora

to double the
number of

able to purchase
homes.

—

SIERRA LEONE

We're supporting Sierra
Leone's recovery by helping
the government introduce
reforms that are simplifying
ﬁrocedures and lowering
t

e cost of doing business.

i

LIBERIA

IFC advised the
government on the
bidding process
for a management
contract for
Liberia Electricity
Corporation
to help rebuild
electricity services
and connect at
least 30,000

new customers.

mortgage finance
program expected

Palestinian families

LEBANON

We're partnering with BLC Bank to help increase
trade finance for businesses in Lebanon,
expanding economic activity in the region.

YEMEN

Our advice is helping Saba
Islamic Bank better manage
risks and increase financing
for small and medium
enterprises, strengthening
Yemen's banking system.

RWANDA

Through BusinessEdge, we're giving owners
of small and medium enterprises in Rwanda
a chance to acquire new management skills.

CENTRAL AFRICA

We're putting $12.5 million
into a new fund designed
to give businesses in central
Africa better access to credit.
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OUR FOCUS

Across the developing
world, populations are
; growing rapidly—and
| concentrating in urban areas.

This growth will intensify
the need not only for roads,

' bridges, and sanitation
systems, but also for social
infrastructure such as
hospitals and schools.

1t will make clean water an
increasingly critical resource.

Under such conditions
successful urbanization will
- be critical to reducing poverty
: and ensuring sustainable

economic growth. IFC is
helping to make that happen.
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We are partnering with
clients to boost investments in
small and medium enterprises
and encourage new public-
private partnerships, helping
build medical centers and
open education opportunities
to the jobless and under-
employed. We are working

to ease the pressure on cities’
overburdened business infra-
structure by financing efficient
new buildings. We also are
working with cities to create a
better investment climate.

We are leading initiatives

to curb an expected

increase in global water
requirements that—if left
unchecked—might lead

to a crisis in developing
countries in coming decades.
To confront water scarcity,

we are investing in new
technologies that can help
bring clean, affordable water
to previously parched regions.
Those investments have
already given millions access.
to clean water, and helped
energize the private sector
to deepen its involvement i
the sector. -
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LATIN AMERICA AND
THE CARIBBEAN
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university education

provides hope
for a bright future

[

Jader Fermande who lives in Bogota, was

Hequently uneas loyed or underemployed.
Farhim, the oppertinity te obtam a niniver

all the ditference

catienn

i 2002, e s molled in Corporacion
Universitaria Mineo de Dios - o Uniminuato,

oneoft

olombre s leacding educational insti
tutions senvine @wer and middle-incoma
students, imany - whom live mvinformal set-
Hements, secon-dary cities, and rural areas

Fermande: worked as a delivery boy on
mimimum waqge, and dlso at a call center. But
he was determi 4 to improve his standard
of fivinag, In 2007 he completed his under-
graduate studie in Information Systems
leshnelogy at Usiminuto. That immediately
expanded s ol spportunities.

He now works as o database admimistra
or At a major coripany in Bogota, "Thanks
to Uniminute, e carning o monthly salary
50)," he says proudly
Uniminuto pvevides a range ot atford:

[N

Smidlion pea {
able technical, vocational, and university
education th 35000 ctudents in Colombia.
[ty busmes: noedel combines low-cost
tuition and hogh value programs in com
puter saencs, basiness, engineering, and
other helds enabling lower-income stu-
dents 1o recern: arofessional certification
andhuniversity deopees,

IFC provicied “he equivalent of $8 m |-
hon i tong tern lecal currency financing

%)

to Uniminuta o 2009, helping it reach
an additionad o000 students, many of
whom represent the base of the economic
pyramit This A cncinag will protect the uni
veraty - and oy ety its students - - from
exchange - rite ek, keeping its programs

reasonably piriced tor the foreseeable future

Foernandss plans to go to Germany
for postgraduat. studies and return to
Uniminuto tebes sme ateacher

“Preel great atiection for Uniminuto,” he
says. “When | did ot have a serious job,
Uniminuto belbed me finance my studies,

obtain my deg e, and have a better life !




SUB-SAHARAN AFRICA

bringing
world-class health care
to Lesotho

For 35-year-old nurse Mabothile Poka,
working in a modern, state-of-the-art, pub-
lic health clinic outside Lesotho’s capital
fulfills a dream.

The recently opened Likotsi ciinic in
the city of Maseru promises to revolution-

ize rural health care in the country, which
sutfers from one of the world’s heaviest
caseloads of HIV and AIDS.

“This new clinic is something amazing for
the people of Lesotho,” Poka said. “It has
modern equipment like electrocardiograms
and scanners, which haven't been available
to patientsin rural areas before. [tis a dream
towork in a place like this in my own country.”

The clinic is one of four resulting from a
landmark 2008 public-private partnership
agreement between the Tsepong consor-
tium—led by health group Netcare-—-and
the government of Lesotho. IFC served as
lead transaction advisor on the agreement,
which also calls for a modern hospital to be
built in Maseru.

The first three clinics opened in May
2010. Patients are benefiting from a full
range of services, including an HIV/AIDS
unit, dental facilities, and optometry, radiol-
ogy, and maternity wards. Netcare also has
introduced a computerized administrative
system, speeding services to the 300 men,
women, and children treated at each clinic
daily. The operator of the clinics, mean-
while, has agreed to steadily increase the
number of temale employees and manag
ers over the life of the project.

The public-private partnership agree
ment that made the Lesotho clinics possible
could serve as a model across Africa, where
public health services are often over
whelmed by growing populations and
hamstrung by a lack of funding.

“In other clinics I've worked at in Lesotho,
we always had to turn people away,” Poka
said. "There were just too many patients,
and we didn't always have the right equip-
ment or supplies. Now | am happy | can treat
everyone who comes to the clinic for help.”
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our approach to water security

The scarcity of clean water and sanitation is threatening global
economic growth and security. In two decades, a third of

the world's population is expected to have access to just half the
water it needs. Without action, water security could turn into

the world's next crisis.

A\

IFC STRATEGY
———

IFC helps finance
projects that
reduce water loss
and boost access
to clean water
and sanitation.
We've invested
$1.4 billion in the
sector since 2000.

N

=4

IFC is working with the private sector to
address a problem that governments alone
don’t have the resources to fix. Since 2000,
IFC has invested more than $1 billion in the
sector, reaching over 30 million people.

We know that boosting access to clean
water and sanitation services contributes
to economic development: every dollar
invested in water and sanitation yields an
estimated $8 benefit in increased produc-
tivity and reduced costs. But as long as
water prices don't reflect the cost of deliv-
ery, the private sector will largely remain on
the sidelines.

To increase private participation in the water sector,
IFC is developing a pipeline of bankable projects and
providing innovative financing options for projects that
help reduce water loss and increase connections. We're
building support for new models to address the chal-
lenges of water, while promoting the transfer of know-how
through partnerships.

Through our work with the private sector, we are help-
ing reduce the number of children who die from diseases
spread by dirty water. Also, fewer people are forced to walk
miles every day for fresh water, and fewer families lack the
dignity of a clean toilet.



helping new global players invest
in infrastructure

Africa is an increasingly attractive destination for investment,
drawing capital from companies around the globe. IFC is helping a
new set of investors—including China—ensure their projects have
the biggest development impact and recognize the importance of
higher environmental, social, and corporate governance standards.

N\ In Tanzania, we committed $10 million to
finance a 20-story office and retail building

SOUTH-SOUTH
INVESTMENT
]
{IFC committed
$1.7 billion in
71 South-South

projects in FY10.

being developed in Dar es Salaam by the
Mwalimu Nyerere Foundation and a subsid-
iary of China Railway Jianchang Engineering
Company Ltd., one of China’s largest con-
tractors. The project, IFC's first direct
investment in a Chinese firm operating in

Sub-Saharan Africa, builds on our work with

A\

Z/

companies inside China, where we're boost-
ing energy-efficiency financing, supporting
the country’s "Green Credit Policy,” and working to pro-
mote balanced rural and urban development.

China’s emergence as an economic power and its
substantial investments in Africa make it an impor-
tant partner for IFC. We can help Chinese enterprises
operating in Africa adopt social, environmental, and cor-
porate-governance standards consistent with international
best practices. Our track record and strong presence in
Africa put us in position to identify and support the com-
panies that understand the long-term business value of
sustainable investment.

In the Dar es Salaam project, IFC helped make the build-
ing design energy- and water-efficient, and ensured that
the wastewater discharged from the complex is treated,
since the city— Tanzania’s largest—lacks a sewage treat-
ment system. When it is finished, the building will ease the
pressure on Dar es Salaam'’s strained business infrastruc-
ture, providing much-needed office space and helping
Tanzania's services sector expand.

The project also reflects our increasing involvement in
“South-South” investment, projects executed in Africa by
companies from developing countries. Such investments
encourage smoother capital flows and promote high stan-
dards that are critical for Africa’s economic development.
In FY10, iIFC helped facilitate 71 South-South investment
projects with commitments totaling $1.7 billion.
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SOUTH ASIA
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cleaner water—
and a healthier future

In Mohan Prasad’s village in India, outbreaks of typhoid, malaria,
and other waterborne diseases used to occur with regularity.
Clean water was an unattainable luxury.

That is changing, thanks to low-cost ultra-
violet technology provided by IFC client
WaterHealth International. An innovative
solution for low-income people in areas that
lack access to potable water, it quickly filters
out microbes, allowing the firm to provide
safe, purified water for less than a penny a
liter—prices even the poor can afford.

“Now, | and everyone in the village get
good, safe drinking water,” says Prasad,
who lives in Nadigudem in the state of
Andhra Pradesh.

WHI entered the Indian market in 2005,
soon after receiving IFC's early-stage $1.2 million invest-
ment. Our investment helped the company attract more
from others like Dow Chemical of the U.S. and India’s ICICI
Bank. Today, it provides clean, affordable water to more
than 1 million people in India alone.

Building centralized water supply networks capable of
providing safe water can be prohibitively expensive, even
for developed countries. With IFC's help, WHI provided
an alternative that could be a model for communities in
rural areas and on the outskirts of cities—water-puri-
fication systems can allow these communities to safely
tap available water resources without the need for large
infrastructure projects.

IFC is backing WHI's expansion to make an impact on
the waterborne diseases that claim hundreds of thousands
of lives each year in India—more than any other country.
Our investments will help the company install more than
600 systems in rural communities in India, Bangladesh, and
Ghana over the next two years.

WaterHealth has installed systems in more than 300 vil-
lages in Andhra Pradesh. Through its water centers, the
company also provides employment—for service opera-
tors like Prasad, maintenance engineers, and others who
engage with people from the village and train them on
operating machines and collecting revenue.



LATIN AMERICA AND
THE CARIBBEAN

fostering productive
public-private partnerships

One million people live in Periperi, an impoverished district
in the Brazilian city of Salvador. For decades, they lacked

an emergency hospital.

That's about to change with the Hospital
do Suburbio, the first to be built in the area
in 20 years, and the first to operate under a
public-private partnership in the country.

IFC served as the lead advisor to the gov-
ernment of Bahia state, which is building
the hospital. With 298 beds, the hospital
is expected to treat 20,000 inpatients and
120,000 outpatients each year. For many
people in the area, the hospital’s opening
marks the first time they can easily obtain
surgical, orthopedic, and other specialized
medical services.

"I feel happy to be working here on the Hospital do
Suburbio, getting it ready for my family and others,”
said Carlos Nascimento, a mason who worked on the
hospital’s construction.

4

The hospital will be equipped and operated by a pri-
vate consortium for 10 years, after which it will revert to the
government. IFC's expertise helped prepare the feasibility
study, economic analysis, and project structuring for the
concession contract. We also helped with public consul-
tation and the bidding process, under the highest levels
of transparency.

In a time of scarce resources and growing needs,
many governments are searching for ways to do more
with less—to increase the quantity and quality of infra-
structure investments while limiting public-sector
funding and risk. IFC is responding by helping them set
up public-private partnerships and other private sector
participation arrangements. We are the only multilateral
agency that offers direct advisory services to governments
on private sector participation in infrastructure, health,
and education.

In 2010, IFC completed 10 successful public-private
partnerships that address basic infrastructure and health
care needs. These partnerships have also yielded fiscal
savings of $1.4 billion for governments and leveraged
$1.7 billion in private investment.
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water and urbanization:
impact around the world

IFC is deploying all of our resources to
address the developing world’s mounting
water needs and ease the stresses on its
increasingly crowded cities. Our clients
distributed water to nearly 35 million people
in 2009, and reached nearly 8 million patients
in need of health care. In Eastern Europe,
we're helping overhaul water and wastewater
networks. In Uganda, government workers
are receiving training on the water sector.
And in Peru, millions will take advantage of
a water treatment plant we helped finance.

BRAZIL
IFC's loan

of 65 million
Brazilian reais
will help Grupo
Ser Educacional
bring high-quality
ducation to
rserved
nd lower-

IFC is providing $65 million to
Lima’s Sedapal build n water
treatment plant that will benelit over
2.4 million low-income residents,




N

RUSSIA

We are working with municipal
water utilities and private industrial
companies to help them improve
water efficiency and the quality
of discharged water.

EASTERN EUROPE

Our investment of
up to €100 million in
the Czech Republic’s

Veolia Voda will
help the company
rehabilitate and
upgrade water and
wastewater networks
in Eastern Europe.

$25 million in IFC financing for
Singapore-based Healthway Medical
Corporation Ltd. will help widen
access to high-quality medical care
in underserved areas of China.

‘ NIGERIA 8
We're extending $150 million in - # UGANDA

syndicated loans to help Helios @

Towers Nigeria Ltd. improve : We helped the government of Uganda
access to quality, affordable : implement a strategy to increase the
telecommunications in Nigeria. ' § efficiency of water distribution to small
. towns and rural areas through public-

private partnerships.

RWANDA

IFC guaranteed a letter of credit KENYA
issued by Kenya Commercial Bank, We are advising and
allowing Cimerwa, Rwanda'’s investing in Kenya's
largest cement company, to Spencon International so
import equipment and improve _the firm can expand its
competitiveness. infrastructure projects in
Eastern and Southern Africa.

SOUTH AFRICA

A strategic partnership
with South Africa’s Life
Healthcare Group will help
transfer the company's
hospital management know-
how to other countries.
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lessons learned

Even projects with the
deepest development
impact can be improved.

As a learning institution,

IFC takes pride ir: constantly
assessing our strengths and
weaknesses—and putting the
findings into practice. It makes
our investments, advice, and
mchbilization more effective,
ensuring that mistakes made
once aren’t repeated.

Working with the
Incependent Evaluation
Group and the Compliance
Advisor/Ombudsman, IFC
addresses the concerns of
people affected by our work
and broadly gauges our
performance. We evaluate
the “cross-cutting” effects
a single project can have

on multiple industries and
regions. Applied routinely,
this approach builds
credibility and trust, and
enhances our accountability
with stakeholders

THE FINANCIAL CRISIS —SHAPING OUR STRATEGY

IFC's approach to private sector development has evolved as a result of
the global financial crisis. The changed economic environment called
for new ways of doing business—not only for our clients butalso for IFC
and other development institutions.

As economies in the developed world faltered, we worked to help export-dependent coun-
tries in emerging markets build and leverage domestic sources of growth—among other
things, we helped them address the challenges and opportunities created by rapid urban-
ization. Last year, for example, we invested $40 million to help modernize and expand the
operations of Masan Foods, a Vietnamese packaged-foods company that links local farmers
to the growing base of urban middle-class consumers.

We put special emphasis on the delivery of advisory services to help clients manage risks
and improve corporate governance. We redoubled our efforts to help governments develop
more effective financial-market regulation and systems for dealing with corporate insolvency.
For example, we helped the Ministry of Economy in Ukraine—one of the countries hit hardest
by the crisis—identify ways to improve the regulatory framework for insolvency administra-
tors and develop rules for out-of-court dispute resolution.

The crisis highlighted the importance of building partnerships and promoting coordina-
tion in international responses to development challenges. Several of our crisis initiatives (see
page 14) reflected such partnerships—between the public and private sectors, and among
international development institutions and donors. In addition, the crisis underscored the
importance of having people, programs, and capital in place before a crisis. These attributes
significantly enhance our capacity to respond swiftly.

The Independent Evaluation Group examined our response, and found that our perfor-
mance reflected lessons learned from past crises—but also a few missed opportunities.
Among the findings:

—Speed and Effectiveness: Anticipating financial turmoil, IFC began preparing to assist cli-
ents as early as 2007. New investments declined by 7 percent during the crisis—less than the
40 percent average in past crises. Investment in the poorest countries increased by 25 percent.

—Response Design: IFC's initiatives were ambitious and innovative and involved mobiliz-
ing $25 billion between fiscal 2009 and 2011. The initiatives were targeted, temporary, and
partnership-based, a structure that showed we are “learning from past crises.”

—Adaptation: IFC demonstrated flexibility in adjusting to changing circumstances. For
example, in 2009 we created a Back Office Operational Team to coordinate initiatives and
manage fiduciary obligations to donors and investors.

—Coordination: Partnerships with other development finance institutions were a defining
feature of IFC’s crisis response, and sent an important signal to financial markets that these
institutions would “take unprecedented joint action to avoid a systemic banking collapse.”

—Financial Capacity and Countercyclical Role: To preserve our financial capacity and main-
tain our triple-A credit rating, IFC focused heavily on portfolio management. IFC also was
selective in embarking on new business. Although that approach was appropriate, it may have
caused IFC to miss some “good opportunities for impact through new investments.”

The full findings from IEG's update on the ongoing evaluation of “The World Bank Group's
Response to the Global Crisis” are available at: http://www.ifc.org/WBCrisisResponse.



IFC’S APPROACH TO PALM OIL

The palm oil sector is rich with sustainable
development possibilities—and challenges.

Sustainable palm oil production offers major benefits consistent
with IFC's goal of reducing poverty and improving lives. It is an
important source of jobs and income for millions of the world’s
rural poor. In Indonesia, for example, the sector directly and indi-
rectly employs as many as 6 million people and can contribute to
better health and education.

Opportunities, however, can be accompanied by risks. Last year,
IFC's palm oil funding was suspended pending the development
of safeguards to ensure that lending does not cause social or envi-
ronmental harm. This action came in response to the findings of
an independent audit of our investments in Wilmar Group, one
of the world's largest processors and merchandisers of palm oil.
The audit by the Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman, who reports
directly to the President of the World Bank Group, concluded
that IFC "did not meet the intent or requirements of its own
Performance Standards” for assessing the Wilmar investments.

We are seeking to learn from this experience and emerge
better for it. We are working with the World Bank to develop a
shared framework to guide our engagement in the palm oil sector.
The framework is being developed in consultation with multiple
stakeholders, who are helping craft principles to guide work in'the
sector, with an emphasis on maximizing development outcomes
for local communities and minimizing adverse social and environ-
mental impacts.

As an integral part of the process, IFC is seeking the views
of diverse stakeholders on key challenges and opportunities
facing the palm oil sector. That includes civil society organiza-
tions, affected communities, donors, shareholders, partners,
private sector representatives, governments, and agriculture-
and agribusiness-focused think tanks. The strategic framework
will strengthen our commitment to ensuring that positive out-
comes, including environmental and social sustainability, remain
at the core of IFC's development efforts.

IMPROVING LIVES, IMPROVING HEALTH CARE

IFC has made significant progress in improving lives
by investing in health care —an accomplishment that
reflects the lessons of experience.

Last year, a 10-year review by the Independent Evaluation Group
found that IFC health projects undertaken before 1999 performed
poorly, partly because of a lack of expertise in screening and
structuring deals. The performance partly reflected our early inex-
perience in the sector and the effect of financial crises in some
regions. But IEG found our performance improved with experi-
ence, and more recent investments have realized good financial
returns and achieved stronger development outcomes, including
increasing access to services and raising standards.

IFC has worked to improve the social impact of health initia-
tives by supporting investments providing greater benefits to
the poor (as recommended by the IEG report) such as increas-
ing investment in low-cost generic drugs and technologies that
address health problems affecting the poor. Most IFC-supported
pharmaceutical projects have resulted in “significant declines” in
generic drug prices, according to IEG.

To increase our impact, we have integrated our investment
work with advisory services and increased support for public-
private partnerships. Such partnerships in the health sector are
still a relatively new development in emerging markets, although
there is growing interest in them, and IFC is playing a pioneering
role here.

IFC has also improved its investment performance by support-
ing innovative approaches and business models that increase
access to health services for the poor. We do this by encourag-
ing our clients to invest their capital and expertise in low-income
countries and frontier markets, working with banks to provide
financing for small companies, and helping our clients reach low-
income groups in smaller cities.

We are also working closely with the World Bank to increase our
development impact with the Health in Africa Initiative—which
is designed to mobilize up to $1 billion to strengthen socially
responsible health care in Sub-Saharan Africa.



OUR PRODUCTS, ROLES,
AND EXPERTISE

where
values

As the largest global development finance institution
focused on the private sector, IFC plays a distinctive role
in creating opportunity in emerging markets.

We catalyze private sector growth wherever we can
make the biggest difference —by leading the way and
demonstrating to others the value of achieving strong

development results. We leverage our leadership role in private
sector development—by helping raise global standards for
sustainable development, and by collaborating with others to
address the most urgent development challenges of our time.
We mobilize rescurces far beyond our own, enlarging

the pool of capital and expertise available to the poorest
countries and regions of the world.




Mmeet
ourpose

In our activities, we bring several advantages to bear.

IFC has a strong financial position—and a record of strong
performance in both good times and bad—that makes us a reliable
long-term partner to our clients. We have a history of developing
innovative products and services that help them succeed and
expand. We have a growing focus on the world’s poorest countries
and regions—and a growing portfolic involving micro, small, and
medium enterprises, which play a critical role in creating jobs
and expanding opportunity.
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OUR PRODUCTS, ROLES, AND EXPERTISE

what
we do

We provide more thar money. We blend investrment
with advice to help the private sector find solutions
to today's greatest development challenges

[FC’s three businesses-—Investment Services,
Advisory Services, and Asset Management —

are mutually reintorcing, delivering global expertise
to clients in more than 100 developing countries.

We provide financing for both immediate and
long-term needs, and we combine it with advice
that helps companies grow quickly and
sustainably-—by innovating, raising standards,
mitigating risk, and sharing expertise across
industries and regions.

International
e Corporation

Proposition

INNOVATION
Engaging Partners,
Devising Solutions

DEMONSTRATION
Mobilizing Capital,
Setting Standards

INFLUENCE
Shaping Policy,
Proving Concepts

We mobilize resources from our many partners,
enlarging the pool of capital and expertise available
for improving the lives of people in developing
countries. This work sets an example for the private
sector and helps influence policy, deepening

our impact on the poor. As a result, low-income
families are gaining better access to scheols and
hospitals. Residents of remote villages are gaining
connections to urgently needed water and power
sources. And small farmers are improving their
ability to sell their goods by tapping into the
global supply chain.

Whether investing, advising, or mobilizing
funds, we use our combined global presence
and local knowledge to deliver results, creating
opportunity where it's needed most.

IMPACT
Achieving Results,
Sharing Ideas

Creating Opportunity Where It's Needed Most




our three
businesses:

IFC Investment Services

As the developing world's largest provider of multilateral financing to the private sector, IFC offers crucial
investment services in areas that aren’t traditionally a focus for private sector capital. Our broad suite of
financial products and services ease poverty and spur long-term growth by promoting worthy enterprises,
encouraging entrepreneurship, and mobilizing resources that wouldn’t otherwise be available. Importantly, our
investment services provide a critical reminder that investors can boost development in emerging economies
and make a profit at the same time.

Our financing products are tailored to meet the needs of each project. We provide growth capital, but
the bulk of the funding comes from—and leadership and management responsibility lies with—private
sector owners.

Last year, we invested $12.7 billion in 528 projects, of which $4.9 billion went to projects in IDA countries.
We also mobilized an additional $5.4 billion to support the private sector in developing countries.

IFC Advisory Services

Economic development is often stifled in countries where private enterprises face obstacles to their operations
and growth.

To help the private sector in emerging markets overcome these obstacles, IFC provides more than invest-
ment. IFC's advisory services provide advice, problem solving, and training to companies, industries, and
governments. Our experience shows that companies need more than financial investment to thrive—they
need a legislative environment that enables entrepreneurship, and advice on business best practices.
Our work includes advising national and local governments on how to improve their investment climate.
Governments account for about half of our advisory projects. We also help investment clients improve corpo-
rate governance and become more sustainable.

We offer advice through more than 1,000 Advisory Services staff in 84 offices across 66 countries. Funding
comes from donor partners, IFC, and client contributions. In FY10, Advisory Services expenditures totaled
$268 million, of which 61 percent went to IDA countries.

IFC Asset Management Company

IFC Asset Management Company is a private equity fund manager. It was created to tap the substantial financial
resources held by sovereign funds, pension funds, and other institutional investors—channeling them to profit-
able investment opportunities in countries that most need the capital. A wholly owned subsidiary of IFC, the
company invests third-party capital alongside IFC across the developing world. In the process, we expand our
development reach by “crowding in” commercial investors. The impact can be long lasting. By demonstrating
the financial benefits and growth opportunities—as well as the development impact—of investing in these
markets, AMC aims to encourage investors to shift the long-term composition of their portfolios. AMC allows
IFC to make more investments than we could alone. And it gives investors access to our pipeline of transactions
and deep expertise in developing countries.
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what we do:

IFC Investment Services

LOANS

IFC finances projects and companies through loans for our own account,
typically for seven to 12 years. We also make loans to intermediary banks,
leasing companies, and other financial institutions for on-lending.

While IFC loans traditionally have been denominated in the cur-
rencies of major industrial nations, we have made it a priority to
structure local currency products. Our disbursed portfolio includes
loans denominated in 25 local currencies, including Brazilian reais,
Colombian pesos, Chinese renminbi, Indian rupees, Indonesian rupiah,
Mexican pesos, Nigerian nairas, Russian rubles, South African rand,
and Zambian kwachas.

In FY10, we made commitments for $5.7 billion in new loans.

EQUITY

Equity investments provide developmental support and long-term
growth capital that private enterprises need. These investments also
provide opportunities to support corporate governance and enhance
social responsibility.

We invest directly in companies’ equity, and also through private
equity funds. This part of our portfolio totaled $11 billion at fair value
at the end of FY10.

IFC generally invests between 5 and 20 percent of a company’s
equity. We encourage the companies we invest in to broaden share
ownership through public listings, thereby deepening local capital
markets. We also invest through profit-participating loans, convertible
loans, and preferred shares.

TRADE FINANCE

The IFC Global Trade Finance Program guarantees trade-related
payment obligations of approved financial institutions. The program
extends and complements the capacity of banks to deliver trade
finance by providing risk mitigation on a per-transaction basis for over
190 banks across more than 80 countries.

In FY10, IFC issued over 2,800 guarantees totaling $3.46 billion.
More than 51 percent of the volume of guarantees issued went to
IDA countries.

This year, we also created the Global Trade Liquidity Program, an
award-winning crisis-response initiative.

SYNDICATIONS

IFC's Syndicated Loan program, the oldest and largest syndicated
lending program among multilateral development banks, is an impor-
tant tool for mobilizing capital to serve development needs. Since
its establishment in 1957, the program has mobilized over $34 billion
from more than 550 financial institutions for projects in more than
100 emerging markets.

fy10 borrowing on
international markets

U.S. dollar $4,445,924,292 (46%) -

Australian dollar $3,093,724,000 (32%) —

Brazifian real $858,114,215 (9%)

Turkish lira $606,653,426 (6%) \

New Zealand dollar $349,343,220 (4%) \

Singapore doliar $141,562,854 (1%}
Central African franc $45,832,272 (0%)

Other $143,275,346 (1%) —

L

In FY10, 44 percent of our total syndicated loan volume was in IDA
countries and frontier regions—one of the highest levels reached in
recent years. IFC also mobilized a total of $2 billion through B-loans,
parallel loans, and A-loan participation sales. As of June 30, 2010, IFC's
committed syndicated loan portfolio totaled $9.3 billion.

SECURITIZED FINANCE

IFC uses structured and securitized products to provide cost-effective
forms of financing that would not otherwise be readily available to
clients. Products include partial credit guarantees, structured liquidity
facilities, portfolio risk transfer, securitizations, and Islamic finance. We
use our expertise in structuring—along with our international triple-A
credit rating—to help clients diversify funding, extend maturities, and
obtain financing in their currency of choice. Through structured and
securitized products, IFC mobilized a total of $797 million for clients
in FY10.

CLIENT RISK MANAGEMENT SERVICES

IFC provides derivative products to our clients to allow them to hedge
their interest rate, currency, or commodity-price exposures. |FC inter-
mediates between our clients in developing countries and derivatives
market makers in order to provide clients with full market access to
risk-management products.

TREASURY SERVICES |

IFC funds lending by issuing bonds in international capital markets. We
are often the first multilateral institution to issue bonds in the local cur-
rencies of emerging markets. Most of IFC’s lending is denominated in
U.S. dollars, but we borrow in a variety of currencies to diversify access
to funding, reduce borrowing costs, and help develop local capital
markets. IFC’s borrowings have continued to keep pace with our lend-
ing. New borrowings in the international markets totaled $8.8 billion
equivalentin FY10.

LIQUIDITY MANAGEMENT

Liquid assets on IFC’s balance sheet totaled $21 billion on June 30,
2010, compared with $17.9 billion a year earlier. Most liquid assets are
held in U.S. dollars. The exposure arising from assets denominated in
currencies other than U.S. dollars are hedged into U.S. dollars to man-
age currency risk. The level of these assets is determined with a view
to ensure sufficient resources to meet commitments even during times
of market stress.



what we do:

IFC Advisory Services

ACCESS TO FINANCE

We increase the availability and affordability of financial services, par-
ticularly for micro, small, and medium enterprises. We focus on three
priorities—building financial institutions, including nonbank institu-
tions; improving financial infrastructure; and improving the legal and
regulatory framework. At the end of FY10, we had an active portfo-
lio of 238 projects in 68 countries, valued at almost $290 million.
Our FY10 project expenditures totaled about $50 million, of which
50 percent were in IDA countries and 14 percent in fragile and conflict-
affected countries.

CORPORATE ADVICE

Our corporate advice focuses on four priorities—improving cor-
porate governance; building markets for small and medium enterprises
and improving their managerial capacity; contributing to commercially
viable and scalable businesses; and enhancing corporate responsi-
bility and community engagement. At the end of FY10, we had an
active portfolio of 187 projects in 68 countries, valued at $145 million.
Our FY10 project expenditures totaled about $34 million, of which
56 percent were in IDA countries and 14 percent in fragile and conflict-
affected countries.

ENVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL SUSTAINABILITY

We promote the adoption of profitable business models that are good
for social development and the environment. We focus on three priori-
ties—addressing climate change; leveraging labor and social capital;
and preventing biodiversity loss. At the end of FY10, we had an active
portfolio of 76 projects in 28 countries, valued at almost $110 million.
Our FY10 project expenditures totaled about $17 million, of which
42 percent were in IDA countries and 3 percent in fragile and conflict-
affected countries.

INFRASTRUCTURE

We expand access to infrastructure and other basic services by helping
governments design and implement sustainable public-private part-
nerships. At the end of FY10, we had an active portfolio of 91 projects
in 53 countries, valued at more than $130 million. Our FY10 project
expenditures totaled about $26 million, of which 40 percent were in
IDA countries and 14 percent in fragile and conflict-affected countries.

INVESTMENT CLIMATE

We foster competitive markets, growth, and job creation by helping
governments design and implement reforms to their business environ-
ments. At the end of FY10, we had an active portfolio of 144 projects in
67 countries, valued at more than $185 million. Our FY10 project expen-
ditures totaled $53 million, of which 75 percent were in IDA countries
and 32 percent in fragile and conflict-affected countries.
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what we do:

IFC Asset Management Company
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IFC CAPITALIZATION FUND

The $3 billion IFC Capitalization Fund
invests in commercial banks in develop-
ing countries that are systemic for their
local economies. The fund is jointly
supported by a $2 billion commitment
from the Japan Bank for International
Cooperation, and a $1 billion com-
mitment from IFC. As of June 30, 2010,
the fund has made investment com-
mitments totaling $395 million in five
commercial banks in Paraguay, Serbia,
the Philippines, Papua New Guinea, and
West Africa.

ALAC FUND

The ALAC Fund was launched in April
2010 and has investment commitments
totaling $950 million from IFC, Dutch
pension fund manager PGGM, Korea
Investment Corporation, the State Oil
Fund of the Republic of Azerbaijan, the
United Nations Joint Staff Pension Fund,
and a fund investor from Saudi Arabia.
The fund co-invests with IFC in equity
investments across a range of sectors
in Sub-Saharan Africa, Latin America,
and the Caribbean. Its aim is to create
a portfolio diversified by geography
and industry that matches our long-
term returns in these markets. As of
June 30, 2010, it has made investment
commitments of $66 million in its first
three transactions.

A SUCCESSFUL LAUNCH YEAR

In its first full year of operation, AMC
established its operating platform, hired
a core team of investment profession-
als, and achieved a critical mass of funds
under management. AMC's investment
decisions are taken independently by
fund investment committees chaired
by Gavin Wilson, AMC'’s Chief Executive
Officer. Wilson reports to AMC's Board
of Directors, which is chaired by IFC
Executive Vice President and Chief Exec-
utive Officer Lars Thunell, and includes a
majority of non-executive members.

AMC continues to design and launch
other fund management products that
fit IFC's strategic priorities and meet the
needs of investors.



CATALYZING INVESTMENT
IN AFRICA

Our expanding relationship with
Ecobank Transnational Incorporated,
S.A., Africa’s largest local financial
services network, is giving people in
underserved markets better access to
financial services and helping bolster
the continent’s economic recovery—
an example of the impact IFC and IFC
Asset Management Company can
have by working together.

IFC, the IFC Capitalization Fund, and
the ALAC Fund signed a $175 million
financing package for Ecobank in June.
Given the breadth of Ecobank’s oper-
ations across Africa, the investment
will provide capital support to bank-
ing subsidiaries in many countries with
few alternative sources of long-term
capital, helping them respond to the
financial crisis.

The impact of our investment: A more
stable financial sector that leads to
job creation and spurs economic
growth. It also sends a powerful signal
to other investors—what we call the
"demonstration effect.”

That's what makes us unique: The
ability to make well-structured, com-
prehensive investments across a
range of.frontier markets, and to
share the opportunity with investors
who otherwise might not have been
able to invest.

Ecobank operates in 29 African coun-
tries and is systemically important in
17 of them. its reach stretches from
Senegal in West Africa to Chad in the
middle of the continent to Tanzania in
the east.

The ALAC Fund also invested $35 mil-
lion alongside IFC to support Heidel-
bergCement’s expansion in Africa.

partnerships
and mobilization

OUR CONVENING POWER

IFC’s success in fostering private sector
development reflects our many inno-
vative partnerships with governments,
foundations, and civil society. We maxi-
mize results by collaborating with others
who share our objectives. Collaboration
helps us achieve what we could not do on
our own. It allows us to pool our resources
and capitalize on the competitive advan-
tages of each of our partners. It lets us
share knowledge and helps improve the
design and implementation of programs.

Several dimensions of our work give us
a worldwide convening power that sets
us apart from regional organizations. Our
global, local, and cross-sector presence
allows us to work with both the public and
private sectors—not only in low-income
countries but also in middle-income
countries, and in partnership with devel-
oped countries.

Our global perspective and pres-
ence allows us to capture and share
lessons of experience across regions.
We also have world-class expertise in
risk-management, banking, results mea-
surement, and many other areas—and
we can play a key role in formulating solu-
tions to development challenges that can
be addressed only through collective
action. For these reasons, many multi-
lateral development banks and other
institutions look for IFC's expertise and
leadership as they develop their private
sector operations.

OUR ABILITY TO MOBILIZE RESOURCES

Every dollar of IFC investment leverages
about $3 from others.

It's a number we strive to increase. We
know the needs of the private sector in
developing countries are far greater than
we can provide for on our own. So we work
with a wide array of partners to maximize
the resources we bring to bear—including
private investors, international banks, inter-
national financial institutions, sovereign
funds, institutional investors, philanthropic
foundations, and governments.

Our traditional approach to mobiliz-
ing third-party resources involves our
syndicated lending program, which
allows others to co-invest with us through
B-loans, syndicated parallel loans, and
sales of A-loan participations. We have
also mobilized funds for clients through
structured and securitized products.

In recent years, we have broadened
our approach. Partnerships with other
international finance institutions have
deepened under the IFI Cooperation
Program, in which IFC has played a
key role. Since the global economic
crisis began, we have also taken a joint
approach to many crisis initiatives—
including the Joint IFl Action Plan for
Central and Eastern Europe, which
pledged the equivalent of $34 billion
to support banks affected by the crisis.
In addition, we have expanded our
partnerships with donor governments,
foundations, and nongovernmental
organizations.

We also have taken the innovative
step of launching IFC Asset Management
Company, which is designed to mobilize
additional resources by allowing outside
investors to access IFC's transaction
pipeline and benefit from our expertise
in achieving strong equity returns and
development impact.
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what we do:

standard setting

tFC PERFORMANCE STANDARDS

IFC’s catalytic role in private sector development is
bolstered by our expanding work as a standard setter
and developer of tools to help the private sector navi-
gate the fast-changing world of investor, shareholder,
and stakeholder expectations.

Our Performance Standards define our clients’ roles
and responsibilities for managing their projects, and the
requirements for receiving and retaining IFC support.
They have become globally recognized good practice in
dealing with environmental and social risk management,
facilitating in global financial markets the swift conver-
gence of standards for cross-border project finance.

We have eight performance standards. More infor-
mation on each is available at http://www.ifc.org/
performancestandards. These standards are part of
IFC's sustainability framework, which is being updated
for the first time this year under a policy-review pro-
cess that includes engagement with a wide range of
stakeholders from academia, civil society, affected com-
munities, and the private sector. More information on the
process is available at http://www.ifc.org/policyreview.

1

Social and Environmental Assessments and Management Systems

-

2
Labor and Working Conditions

3

Pollution Prevention and Abatement

4
Community Health, Safety, and Security

5
Land Acquisition and Involuntary Resettiement

6

Biodiversity Conservation and Sustainable Natural Resource Management

A

indigenous Peoples

8
Cultural Heritage




THE EQUATOR PRINCIPLES

IFC’s approach to transforming business prac-
tices in emerging markets can best be seen in
the role we play in setting global environmen-
tal and social standards.

In 2002, a group of international banks
decided to develop a global environmental
and social risk-management framework for
the banking industry. They sought our help to
develop what became the Equator Principles,
which today are used by about 70 financial
institutions to manage social and environmen-
tal risks in project finance.

These institutions, known as EPFls, pledge
not to provide loans for projects in which the
borrower is unwilling or unable to comply with
the principles. Over the years, they have paid
increasing attention to IFC’'s Performance
Standards. When those standards were
launched in 2006, the Equator Principles were
soon updated to reflect them.

IFC's influence on social and environmental
standards continues to grow. Eighteen of the
financial institutions that have adopted the
Equator Principles are from emerging markets.
In some cases, the Performance Standards
are also being taken up by governments as a
framework for banking regulation. In China, for
example, IFC's Performance Standards have
influenced the government’s “Green Credit
policy.” In addition, 32 export credit agencies
from member countries of the Organisation
for Economic Co-operation and Development
and 16 European development finance institu-
tions refer to IFC's Performance Standards in
their private sector projects.

=

AGRICULTURAL COMMODITY ROUNDTABLES

Food security and climate change are inextri-
cably linked.

The food and agribusiness sector consumes
up to 70 percent of the world's fresh water and
generates up to 30 percent of greenhouse
gases. It contributes to deforestation and loss
of biodiversity. At the same time, the sector
is vulnerable to water shortages and shifts in
weather patterns caused by climate change.

That poses a major challenge for the world.
Minimizing the tradeoffs between increased
food production and harm to the environment
requires joint effort—by the private, public,
and financial sectors, and by civil society. IFC
is helping by supporting roundtables on sus-
tainable agriculture.

The roundtables bring producers, pro-
cessors, traders, and other participants in a
commodity’s supply chain together with banks
and civil society groups that are concerned
about the harmful effects agriculture can have.
They build consensus on what constitutes
responsible production and processing, and
promote better management practices.

Take the case of palm oil, the world’s
most-used vegetable oil. Until recently, pro-
ducers of palm oil had no comprehensive,
widely accepted sustainability standard.
That changed with the establishment of the
Roundtable on Sustainable Palm Qil, which
united the Indonesia Palm Oil Producers
Association, Unilever, HSBC, WWF, Oxfam,
IFC, and others.

With the financial support of the Global
Environment Facility and other donors, IFC
is active in several initiatives: the Roundtable
on Sustainable Palm Qil, the Roundtable for
Responsible Soy, the Better Sugarcane
Initiative, the Better Cotton Initiative, the
Union for Ethical BioTrade, and the Sustainable
Cattle Ranching Working Group in Brazil.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Sound corporate governance is an increas-
ingly important element of sustainable private
sector development—not only because it
strengthens businesses’ ability to attract
investment and grow but also because it
makes them more accountable.

IFC promotes better corporate governance
in developing countries, improving board
practices, strengthening shareholder rights,
and enhancing risk management and cor-
porate disclosure. We also provide advice to
regulators, stock markets, and others with an
interest in improving corporate governance.

Our experience allows IFC to tailor global
principles to the realities of the private sector
in developing countries. As a result, develop-
ment banks and other investors working in
emerging markets now look to IFC for leader-
ship on corporate governance.

We provide this in a variety of ways—includ-
ing through the Global Corporate Governance
Forum, a multi-donor trust-fund facility. The
forum drives the corporate governance
agenda among regulators and leading cor-
porate directors’ organizations. We also bring
together international portfolio investors,
representing more than $3 trillion, and local
business leaders to discuss what governance
changes are needed to attract more capital.

We established the IFC Corporate
Governance Methodology—a system for
evaluating corporate governance risks and
opportunities that is recognized as the most
advanced of its kind among development
finance institutions.

We train our investment officers to iden-
tify five areas of risk and opportunity—the
commitment of a client’s leadership to strong
corporate governance, the structure and func-
tion of its board of directors with respect to
oversight and strategy, the quality of its risk-
management framework, the extent of its
transparency and disclosure, and its treatment
of minority shareholders, such as IFC.
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our industries

IFC's leadership roic in sustainable private sector
development reflects a special advantage — the depth
and breadth of expertise we have acquired over more
than 50 years of helping emerging-market firms succeed
and grow.

This role reflects the insights we have gained from our
work in more than 109 developing countries —in every
region of the worla, and in industries with the greatest
potential to addrese the major development challenges
ot aurtime. This kriowledge enables us to provide
our clients the right mix of capabilities to address their
needs, delivering tne best of what IFC has to offer in
both global knowledge and local know-how. We also
help local compan e« make better use of their own
knowledge by matoting it to opportunities in other
developing countr.e:.

We have moved increasingly to leverags our global
industry knowledage 1o tackle the biggest development
challenges of the coming years—including climate
change, unemployrment, and urbanization.

AGRIBUSINESS

Agribusiness is a strategic priority for IFC because of the sector's broad
development impact and strong role in poverty reduction. The agricul-
tural sector often accounts for at least half of GDP and 60 percent of
total employment in many developing countries.

IFC helps the private sector address higher demand and escalating
food prices in an environmentally sustainable and socially inclusive way.
We support global initiatives for sustainable production of agricul-
tural commodities. To help clients finance inventories, seeds, fertilizers,
chemicals, and fuel for farmers, IFC offers working-capital facilities. To
facilitate trade and lower costs, we pursue investments in infrastructure
such as warehouses and cold-storage facilities. We work to bring land
into sustainable production, improve productivity by transferring tech-
nologies, and make the best use of resources.

IFC helps companies set benchmarks for responsible production, in
line with industry best practices. In areas such as sequestering carbon,
managing watersheds, preserving biodiversity, and producing renew-
able energy resources, IFC can help generate new income through
environmental services.

FINANCIAL MARKETS

Financial markets account for almost half of IFC’s new investments each
year. Sound financial markets are vital to development—they ensure
efficient resource allocation, create jobs, and spur economic growth.

We focus on small and medium enterprises, microfinance, trade, and
climate change, among others. IFC is a leading investor in microfinance.
We create innovative products in insurance and supply-chain finance to
reach the poor. We are rebuilding our investments in housing finance
and are supporting capital-market development in light of the global
financial crisis. The crisis underscored the need for IFC in financial mar-
kets. Small and medium enterprises, which account for more than half
of employment worldwide, saw lines of credit reduced or eliminated.
Investors shied away from capital markets. IFC stepped in tofill the gap.

To maximize our impact, we work with financial intermediaries to
extend financial products and best practices to more businesses, and
microfinance entrepreneurs than we could on our own,

HEALTH AND EDUCATION

IFC is the world's largest multilateral investor in private health care and
education in emerging markets. We invest in these sectors because
they are fundamental to human and economic development—health
care plays a key role in improving the quality of life, while education is a
powerful instrument for reducing poverty and growing human capital.

IFC works to increase access to high-quality health and education.
We help improve standards of quality and efficiency, facilitate the
exchange of best practices, and create jobs for skilled professionals. IFC
also works closely with the World Bank and developing-country gov-
ernments to tailor strategies for countries that lack adequate resources.

IFC is focused on helping partner companies increase development
impact. In addition to making direct investments in socially respon-
sible companies, our role includes sharing industry knowledge and
expertise, funding small companies, raising medical and education
standards, and helping clients expand services to lower-income groups.



INFRASTRUCTURE

About 2.5 billion people lack proper sanitation facilities in developing
countries. At least 1.6 billion have no electricity. And 884 million can't
get clean water.

IFC helps increase access to power, transport, and water by financ-
ing infrastructure projects and advising client governments on
public-private partnerships.

We add value by devising innovative projects and public-private
partnerships in difficult markets. We mitigate risk and leverage special-
ized financial structuring and other capabilities. A significant part of our
advisory work is supported by other parts of the World Bank Group and
donor partners.

Our infrastructure projects exhibit a solid development impact. In
the power sector, 79 percent of IFC investment projects approved
before 2005 achieved significant development outcomes. In the
water and gas sector and the transport industry, the figures were
77 percent and 68 percent, respectively.

MANUFACTURING AND SERVICES

The manufacturing and services sector plays a vital role in creating
opportunity and reducing poverty in developing countries. IFC's
manufacturing and services clients tend to create or maintain more
employment than those in any other sector.

We have increased our activities in the sector, which includes con-
struction materials; forest products; life sciences; energy-efficient
machinery; and tourism, retail, and property. We invest in companies
that are developing new products and markets, and restructuring and
modernizing to become internationally competitive.

ty10 commitments by industry,
with dollar volumes

dollars in millions

CEEEREERRNS — Agribusiness $536 (4%)

— Global Financial Markets
$6,654 (53%)

Global Information and
Communication Technologies
$461 (4%)
aswssmmmmese /  Global Manufacturing and
/ Services $1,376 (11%)

/ Health and Education $432 (3%)
CT—— / Infrastructure $1,578 (12%)

Oil, Gas, Mining, and

/ Chemicals $1,053 (8%)

/ Investment Funds $408 (3%)
L)
— Sub [ Finance $166 (1%)

We focus on clients that are, or can be, strong players in their local
markets. In middle-income countries, we increasingly support local
second-tier companies and cross-border investments. We aim to play
a strong role in developing local companies in the poorest countries.
As these industries represent some of the most carbon-intensive sec-
tors, we are helping clients develop and undertake investments that
help reduce carbon emissions and energy consumption.

OlL, GAS, MINING, AND CHEMICALS

IFC's mission in the oil, gas, mining, and chemicals sector is to help
developing countries realize sustainable economic benefits from
natural resources. We provide financing and advice for private sector
clients. We also help governments put in place regulatory frameworks
and strengthen their capacity to manage these industries across
the value chain—from resource extraction to revenue management
and spending.

Fossil fuels such as natural gas play a role as a transition fuel to a
less carbon-intensive economy. In addition to fossil fuels, our energy
investments support a mix of traditional and alternative energy sources,
including wind, solar, and thermal energy.

We support private sector investment in extractive industries by
working to ensure that communities enjoy concrete benefits such as
jobs, improved infrastructure, and economic opportunities. We also
help develop capacity among small and local companies, engage with
communities to improve projects’ long-term development benefits,
and foster transparency and governance to combat corruption.

INFORMATION AND COMMUNICATION TECHNOLOGIES

Modern information and communication technologies make it easier
for the poor to obtain access to services and resources. They expand
opportunity and make markets and institutions more efficient.

IFC works to extend the availability of such technologies to pro-
mote sustainable economic growth and good governance, enhance
social inclusion, and reduce poverty. We channel investments toward
private companies that build modern communications infrastructure
and information-technology businesses, and develop climate-friendly
technologies.

IFC has the ability to raise additional funds through its syndications
and guarantee program. We almost always bring co-investors into proj-
ects, providing comfort and encouraging other private investors into
markets often considered too risky.

IFC increasingly helps clients move beyond their own national bor-
ders and into other developing markets. We estimate that each dollar
of IFC funding attracts about $9 in private financing.
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special innovations

in financing

One of IFC's strenatiis is the
agility with which we cre able
to develop mnovative financial
tools to maximize development
impact in developirig countries

Here are o few ol thie vear’s

highlights

GREEN BOND

IFC's first “Green Bond,” a $200 million issue, is
designed to support climate-friendly projects in
developing countries. Bond proceeds go into a
special "green account” for investment in renew-
able energy, and in energy-efficient or other
climate-friendly projects. This was the first time
we issued bonds to raise funds that then went
into a separate account tied to specific types of
loans. Solar and wind installations are among the
kinds of projects eligible for funding.

MICROFINANCE BOND

IFC's first microfinance bond issue, which raised
$300 million equivalent in Australian dollars, will
help increase access to finance for low-income
entrepreneurs in developing countries. The list-
ing and sale was arranged by Daiwa Securities
Group and the bonds were sold to Japanese
investors. Under this arrangement, IFC directed
an amount equal to the net proceeds of the
bond issue to financial institutions that provide
loans to micro-entrepreneurs in developing
countries, magnifying the impact of our micro-
finance activities.



SUKUK BOND

IFC’s first-of-its-kind $100 million Hilal Sukuk
bond created opportunities for Islamic inves-
tors who want to make a positive social impact.
This benchmark issue was the product of
three years’ coordination between IFC and
Islamic scholars, and it created a standardized
model that promises to facilitate a pipeline
of Islamic finance projects in key sectors
such as education, health, and infrastruc-
ture. Sukuks are investment certificates with
an undivided ownership share in underlying
islamic-law-compliant assets.

IFC’s annual global bond issue was heavily
oversubscribed—the $2 billion issue gener-
ated an order book in excess of $2.5 billion.
This strong demand reflected investor con-
fidence in IFC and its management through
the global crisis. It highlights IFC's ability
to raise funds in a cost-effective manner for
private sector development lending in fulfill-
ment of its mission of reducing poverty and
improving lives. Buyers included central banks,
official institutions, and a wide range of com-
mercial banks.

w0 e

IFC reached an innovative agreement with
the central banks of Rwanda and Belarus that
will allow us to provide local-currency loans
to support each country’s private sector. The
central banks will provide IFC with local cur-
rency through swaps until local commercial
swaps markets develop. Access to long-term
local currency allows us to extend long-term
loans to companies that lack foreign exchange
revenues and cannot assume the foreign-
exchange risks associated with borrowing in
international currencies.
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OUR PRODUCTS, ROLES, AND EXPERTISE

expanding role in IDA countries
and focus on the poor

EXPANDING OUR WORK IN iDA COUNTRIES

About 2.5 billion people—half the population of the developing
world—live in the 79 countries eligible to borrow from the International
Development Association, the arm of the World Bank Group that helps
the poorest countries. Most people in these countries survive on
incomes of less than $2 a day.

That's why creating opportunity in IDA countries is a top priority for
IFC, the first of our five strategic pillars. Lives are at stake. By catalyzing
the private sector in IDA countries, we can help put millions of unem-
ployed people to work, speed nascent economic growth, boost tax
revenues, and address inadequate education and health care.

RAMPING UP OUR IDA PORTFOLIO

Our work in these countries has intensified in recent years, from
Afghanistan to Zambia. Since FYO5, IFC's investments in IDA countries
have more than quadrupled to $4.9 billion. Our advisory expenditures
totaled $83.3 million in FY10. Nearly half of our investment projects are
in IDA countries.

These countries also accounted for 61 percent of our advisory
projects. Reflecting our expanded reach in frontier markets, we are
now active in 78 percent of IDA countries, half of which are in Sub-
Saharan Africa.

That presence reflects our willingness to take risks in challenging
environments. The performance of our equity portfolio suggests the
risks are paying off. For every $1 in equity we invested in DA countries
over the last decade, we received $2.45 back in return, four cents better
than similar investments in non-IDA countries.

Private investment is essential for promoting development in IDA
countries, where access to finance is difficult and the need for better
infrastructure, health services, and education often exceeds available
government resources.

Our projects are diverse. In Central America, for example, an IFC-led
partnership is training coffee farmers to adopt sustainable practices.
In Uganda, we're helping finance a hydropower project that will
bring more power to a country where few people have electricity. In
Cambodia, we are advising a venture to give more people access to
banking through their mobile phones.

SIGNIFICANT IMPACT

This work is having a significant development impact. In 2009, our
clients in IDA countries provided 134 million phone connections, gen-
erated enough power for 51.5 million people, and distributed water to
800,000 people. Our clients contributed almost $4.5 billion to govern-
ment revenues and helped drive $7.4 billion in local purchases of goods
and services. Our advisory services have contributed to millions in
savings from recommended regulatory reforms and bolstered environ-
mental sustainability by helping countries slash their carbon footprint.

Yet the development challenges remain, with IDA countries strug-
gling to access credit, lift the world’s lowest investment flows, and
head off shortages of food and fuel. Investing in IDA countries isn't
easy. A lax regulatory environment, corruption in many.areas, and the
difficulty of attracting the best talent to hardscrabble regions top the
list of challenges we face in IDA countries. We are ideally positioned
to mobilize capital where others will not—our global expertise and
decentralized structure give us a prime opportunity to spearhead pri-
vate sector development in the IDA countries.

OUR APPROACH IN IDA COUNTRIES

IFC's strategy in the most challenging countries is to start with products
such as investment-climate advice, which paves the way for investment.
In addition, IFC and the World Bank bring complementary skills to
bear in joint projects. Working together, we can provide clients more
flexible financing options, such as a mix of public and private finance.
We can also provide project-structuring expertise while simultaneously
advancing industry-sector reform.

In FY10, 10 joint investment projects were committed in IDA coun-
tries, twice as many as in FY08. IFC staff also collaborated on 123 joint
advisory projects, marking an increase of 45 since FY08. In addition,
between FY06 and FY09, IFC contributed $1.3 billion directly to IDA.

Going forward, IFC will further deepen our engagement in IDA
countries, expanding our product range and increasing the number
of countries we work with. Our strategy will target innovative projects
that link farmers to markets, increase climate-friendly investments, and
help firms become regional players. We will also focus on gender while
supporting micro, small, and medium enterprises, and establish busi-
ness models that benefit the base of the economic pyramid. We are
working with the World Bank to develop more detailed strategies for
IDA countries.



INCLUSIVE BUSINESS — OPPORTUNITIES AT THE BASE OF THE PYRAMID

[FC's vision is that people should have the opportunity
to escape poverty and improve their lives

Increasingly, we do this by supporting clients that
invest i inclusive business models-— offering critical
goods, services, and livelihoods to the poor in financially
sustainable and expandable ways. The private sector
can play a pivota role in meeting the needs of people
whao struggle with poverty in its broadest form —-

the kind defined as much by a scarcity of opportunity
and access as by a lack of income.

Landmark research by the World Resources Institute
and IFC has shown that about 4 billion people —raughly
two thirds of the world's population—live at the base
of the global economic pyramid. Each of these people
makes ends meet on less than the equivalent of $3,000
per year in lacal purchasing power. Beyond low incomes,
they also have significant unmet needs, depend on
informal or subsistence livelihoods, and pay a "poverty
penalty” — higher prices for basic goods and services,
often of lower quality, than wealthier people pay.
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4 BILLION PEOPLE

income-generating
opportunities

The "base of the pyramid” refers to people living below a given
income or spending threshold. The threshold varies in different
countries, because the cost of the same basket of daily goods varies
across countries. IFC uses the purchasing-power-parity method to
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At the same time, the poor are creative and resourceful economic
agents with an appetite for change. Pioneering companies are finding
ways to tap into this potential, integrating low-income producers and
consumers into their supply chains. Using inclusive business models,
local companies are investing in supply and distribution chains that
provide better income opportunities and more goods and services
for the poor.

Building on these pioneering efforts—and the development
imperative—our challenge now is to greatly increase the number of
financially sustainable inclusive business models operating at scale.
This is an important role for the private sector: to be able to invest in
business models that include the poor as full economic partners.

IFC is approaching this challenge with integrated investment and
advisory services, as well as a proactive effort to document and share
what we learn. Recognizing that our vision will require the combined
effort of many partners, IFC is working to foster a network of corpo-
rations, financial institutions, donors, service providers, and others
interested in making the process of starting and scaling up inclusive
business models easier.
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IFC's commitment to alleviating poverty and creating
opportunity for the developing world’s most vulnerable
people is reflected in our corporate culture. At a time

ot heightened demand for private sector development,
our staff of 3,354 men and women around the world
enhances IFC's impact by delivering innovative solutions
to the toughest challenges.
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As the need grows for the private sector to take a greater
role in spurring development, we think we can do more.
To achieve greater development impact, we are adapting,
leveraging our strengths, and sharpening our focus on
efficiency under a comprehensive change program we call
IFC 2013. We are working more closely with clients and
partners, crafting new development goals, and finding
new ways to mobilize capital.

Our history shows we learn from experience and take
on new challenges. And our staff is better positioned
than ever to maximize IFC’s development impact.
More than half of us are based in developing countries,
close to the clients and communities we serve. We are
also more diverse than ever—57 percent of our staff

is from developing countries.
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OUR INTERNAL STANDARDS AND OPERATIONS

the IFC Way

The IFC Way is a way of being, defining, and solidifying IFC's culture and brand, and a process
that engages staff at all levels and in all regions to inform management decision making. It includes
our vision, our core corporate values, our purpose, and the way we work.

SIFC
RWAY

The initiative began in fiscal 2008 with the
most extensive consultative process in IFC
history—52 consultations involving more
than 1,400 staff members in 31 countries.
We learned that regular personal engage-
ment with staff members led to new insights
and specific ideas for putting them into
practice. We also learned that these discus-
sions, giving staff members the opportunity
to share concerns and ideas with manage-
ment, helped create a sense of commitment
and community. IFC is building on that
momentum, infusing our culture into all
of our activities in ways that will help us
be more client-focused and produce even
stronger results.

A strong corporate culture is central to
any organization’s ability to succeed and
adapt to new challenges. IFC’s adaptive cul-
ture has encouraged our staff of more than
3,000 employees in more than 80 countries
to find creative ways to meet the challenges
posed by the global crisis.

By identifying the shared values of our
diverse staff, and by establishing forums for
regular dialogue and discussion among staff
members and managers, The IFC Way is
enhancing our ability to tackle new challenges.

OUR VISION
that people should have the opportunity to escape poverty and
improve their lives

OUR CORE VALUES
Excellence, Commitment, Integrity, Teamwork

escite

OUR PURPOSE
to create opportunity for people to escape poverty and improve their
lives by:
—Promoting open and competitive markets in developing countries
—Supporting companies and other private sector partners where there
is a gap
— Helping to generate productive jobs and deliver essential services to
the underserved
—Catalyzing and mobilizing other sources of finance for private
enterprise development
In order to achieve our purpose, IFC offers development impact solutions
through firm-level interventions (direct investments, Advisory Services,
and the Asset Management Company), standard setting, and business-
enabling environment work.

OUR STRATEGY PROCESS
IFC has a structured and inclusive approach to strategy setting, sharing a
common process and language:
—We first consider the external environment to see how we can help
clients succeed
—We then draw on the global knowledge and local know-how of IFC staff
—We work in a unified way to achieve our goals
—We look for partnership opportunities to maximize development impact

THE WAY WE WORK
—We help our clients succeed in a changing world
— Good business is sustainable, and sustainability is good business
—One IFC, one team, one goal
—Diversity creates value

—Creating opportunity requires partnership
—Global knowledge, local know-how

— Innovation is worth the risk

—We learn from experience

—Work smart and have fun

—No frontier is too far or too difficult




IFC development goals

We are changing the way we do business, finding This is a pioneering approach, and represents a significant shift from the

innovative ways to help more people escape poverty. past. Until now, we have primarily measured development impact as we go,

It begins by setting a series of speciﬁc development setting broad priorities and then evaluating each investment or advisory
. 8 project based on its expected impact.

goals to provide a forward-looking road map to The development goals now being put in place will give us a broad

guide IFC's strategy and operations. framework to set our development-driven strategy, coupled with credible

measures of our progress.

The effortis a work in progress. Our initial set of goals includes targets to
expand access to financial, infrastructure, health and education services, and
to expand opportunities for micro, small, and medium enterprises, and for
farmers. Based on early experience, methodologies will be refined, and
progress against the goals will become an important tool for management.
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who we are

IFC’s employees are based in about
100 offices in 86 countries, including 42 of
the poorest countries —those served by IDA.

We represent 137 countries, including

59 IDA nationalities. Today, 54 percent of
our staffis based in the field, up from

43 percent in FYO4.

We are diverse. Our diversity enriches

our perspectives, allowing for innovative
and local solutions for local clients and
stakeholders while capturing best practices
that can be applied globally. Employees
from developing countries represent

b6 percent of all staff and 57 percent

of those at officer level and higher.

where we work

gender (all full-time staff)

fy10

location fy04 fy10 gender
Washington, D.C. 1,291 (57%) 1,544 (46%) Male staff
Field offices 963(43%) 1,810 (54%) Female staff
Total IFC staff 2,254 3,354 Total

national origins (all full-time staff)

1,571 (47%)
1,783 (53%)
3,354

gender (all staff at officer level and higher)

fy10

national origins ty04 fy10

Developed countries 963143%) 1,145 (33%) Male staff
Developing countries  1,291:57%) 2,209 {67%) Female staff
Total 2,254 3,354 Total

national origins
(all staff at officer level and higher)

national origins fy(d fy10
Developed countries 647 (53%) 892 (43%)
Developing countries 584 (47%) 1173 (57%)
Total 1,231 2,065

1,238 (60%)
827 (40%)
2,065

headquarters staff: 1,544

field staff: 1,810

.

W



m DA countries

middle-income countries
with frontier regions

other client countries

our place in the
World Bank Group

The World Bank Group is a vital source of financial and technical assistance to developing countries.
Established in 1944, its mission is to fight poverty with passion and professionalism, for lasting results.

IFC is one of five members of the Bank Group, and carries out the mission by working with the
private sector to create opportunity where it's needed most. Since our founding in 1956, we have
committed more than $86 billion of our own funds for private sector investments in developing coun-
tries, and we have mobilized billions more from others.

In working toward a world free of poverty, we collaborate closely with other members of the Bank
Group, including:

— The International Bank for Reconstruction and Development, which lends to governments of
middle-income and creditworthy low-income countries.

— The International Development Association, which provides interest-free loans, called credits, to
governments of the poorest countries.

—The Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency, which provides guarantees against losses
caused by noncommerecial risks to investors in developing countries.

— The International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes, which provides international
facilities for conciliation and arbitration of investment disputes.
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OUR INTERNAL STANDARDS AND OPERATIONS

measuring
results

Development effectiveness is the guiding principle of

IFC's work. Through our Development Outcome Tracking
System, which measures the development effectiveness

of our investment and advisory work, we have established
ourselves as a leader in development-results measurement.
DOTS gives IFC a key competitive advantage, and is critical
to understanding how well our strategy is warking and
whether we are reaching the people and industries that
most need our help.

IFC was the first multilateral development bank to report on development
results for our entire portfolio, beginning with our 2007 Annual Report, and
to have an external firm review the application of our methodology
and reported results, as part of assurance for these aspects of our reporting.

Since 2008, we have been reporting on changes in development results for
investments compared with the previous year and, for advisory services, on
the results of in-depth evaluations. We also launched a development results
portal (www.ifc.org/results) to supplement information in the printed report.

In FY09, IFC’s Independent Evaluation Group evaluated IFC’s systems
and processes for monitoring and evaluating development results, includ-
ing DOTS. The evaluation found that the tracking system provides current,
unbiased assessments of the development results of our investments. It also
highlighted the significance of mechanisms introduced to link incentives to
project results through performance awards. “In so doing,” the report said,

"IFC has been at the forefront of performance measurement related to pri-
vate sector development among multilateral development banks.”

In FY10, we launched DOTS-2, which improves the way development
results data are captured and tracked through the system, fully integrating
with IFC's investment project cycle and other information systems. This year,
we report for the first time on the development results of our investments,
using data generated by DOTS-2.

IFC’s evaluation framework for investments reflects good practice stan-
dards agreed on by multilateral development banks for private sector
results. Our tracking system is built on this foundation.

DOTS allows for real-time tracking of development results throughout the
project cycle. IFC staff members identify clear, standardized, and verifiable
indicators, with baselines and targets, at the outset of a project. They track
progress throughout supervision, which allows for contemporaneous feed-
back into operations.

For investments, the overall development outcome score is a synthe-
sis of four performance categories that are informed by achievement of
industry-specific indicators. To obtain a positive rating, a project must make
a contribution to the host country’s development—a contribution that is
assessed according to good practice standards agreed on by multilateral
banks for evaluating private sector investment operations. For Advisory
Services, the rating is a synthesis of the overall strategic relevance, effec-
tiveness (as measured by project outputs, outcomes, and impacts), and
efficiency of the services.

This report provides the DOTS score—the percentage of projects that
have achieved a high rating (in the top half of the rating scale)—for IFC
overall and by region and industry. Data for total development reach are
provided by IFC's active portfolio clients, and presented regardless of
IFC's investment size. Given that IFC is always a minority investor, these
results cannot be attributed solely to IFC. IFC does not claim attribution for
these reach figures. However, IFC has created specific attribution rules to
be applied in measuring and reporting development achievements. These
rules, designed to capture the extent to which incremental reach of a cli-
ent company should be attributed to IFC, will be monitored in department
scorecards, starting in FY11.

WHAT DOTS COVERS

IFC's tracking system covers all active projects in our portfolio, for both
investments and Advisory Services. The tracking process starts by setting
initial objectives, using standard indicators by industry or business line, and
tracking achievements throughout the project cycle until closure.

For Investment Services, DOTS covers—after certain exclusions—
almost all 1,513 companies under supervision. This report focuses on the 493
out of 535 investments approved between 2001 and 2006 that are mature
enough to be rated. Every year the cohort of investments we report on shifts
by one year. Newer investments are not mature enough to be evaluated,
while older ones are less relevant for today’s operations and have often
already closed. We also address the current reach of all active investments in
IFC’s portfolio. Reach indicators measure the number of people reached by
goods and services provided by IFC clients, or the dollar benefit to particular
stakeholders affected by the activities of IFC clients.

For Advisory Services, DOTS covers all projects that are active,
completed, or on hold, dating back to FY06. At the end of FY10, the super-
vision portfolio included 562 active projects. This report highlights results
achieved between 2006 and 2009, and those of 111 (of 153) projects for which
project completion reports were done in FY09 and for which development
effectiveness could be assessed. The time periods for which these results
are reported differ by Advisory Services business lines and product lines.

Some types of projects are not tracked in the DOTS systems. By number,
the most important exclusions were projects at early stages of the project
cycle, projects that are expansions to existing ones, projects that are split
into several investments, small projects that typically form parts of larger
programs, and certain financial products such as swaps and rights issues.
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performance
category

tcome: investments

general indicators
and benchmarks

examples of specific indicators
assessed against targets

Financial performance

Economic performance

Environmental and

Private sector deve

development ou

performance
category

Returns to financiers, e.g., financial returns at or above
weighted-average cost of capital

Returns to society, e.g., economic returns at or above
0 percent

social performance Project meets IFC's Performance Standards

lopment impact Project contributes to improvement for the private sector

beyond the project company

tcome: advisory services

general indicators
and benchmarks

Return on invested capital, return on equity, project
implemented on time and on budget

Numbers of connections to basic services, loans to small
enterprises, people employed, tax payments

Improvements in environmental and social management,
effluent or emission levels,
community development programs

Demonstration effects (other firms replicating a new
approach, product, or service), linkages to other private
companies, corporate governance improvements

examples of specific indicators
assessed against targets

Strategic relevance
Efficiency

Effectiveness

IFC's development results for

investments

Development outcome
Financial performance

Economic performance
Environmental and social
performance

Private sector
development impact

% Rated High

DOTS data as of June 30, 2010, for projects approved in calendar

years 2001-2006.

Potential impact on local, regional, national economy
Returns on investment in advisory operations

Project contributes to improvement for the client, the
beneficiaries, and the broader private sector

IFC’'s development results by
industry fy09 vs. fy10

Client contributions, alignment with country strategy

Cost-benefit ratios, project implemented on time and budget

Improvements in operations, investments enabled, jobs
created, increase in revenues for beneficiaries, cost savings
from policy reforms

IFC's development results by
region fy09 vs. fy10

(493 AR A G /1%
[ s15431 WA IFC TS 7 1 IFC RN 7 1 %
N - icos UM . IR /(%
Sjogs‘y Manufacturing and Services 527/; Europe and Central Asia (;.Z‘%
GRS 45 [ kA ]
information and
OIS e R . ]

627 o Communication 4% o Sub-Saharan Africa 65(:,/°
O 7 1% Technologies [ JA R 6%
S 5 e KA . -, RS 5
[~y Infrastructure [—— A Middle East and North Africs  o— 70%
GRS - . N OIS 7 7 % . - O 4%
————— 17 Financial Markets —§;A Bast Asia and e P o — 7,

0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% Private Equity and R G Latin America and e
Investment Funds [ WA the Caribbean L ¥iA
@ Unweighted (number of projects) Agribusiness kA South Asia S 7
@B Weighted by IFC investment size TR 7 % LU
(US$ millions) Qil, Gas, Mining, and R O % Rated High 0% 20% 40% 60%  80% - 100%
Chemicals LW
: R /3
Health and Education 73% o @ 2009 @m» 2010
LKA
% Rated High - 0% 20% 40% 60% 80% 100% FY10: DOTS data as of June 30, 2010, for projects approved in

@ 2009 @ 2010

FY10: DOTS data as of June 30, 2010, for projects approved in
calendar years 2001-2006. FY09: DOTS data as of June 30, 2009,
for projects approved in calendar years 2000-2005.

calendar years 2001-2006. FY09: DOTS data as of June 30, 2009,
for projects approved in calendar years 2000-2005

0n91



P92

OUR INTERNAL STANDARDS AND OPERATIONS

INVESTMENT RESULTS

IFC's development-outcome scores remained stable compared with the past
two years, with 71 percent of investments rated high in FY10. Results among
industries were mixed, reflecting different sensitivities to the adverse effects
of the global crisis. Among regions, only Europe and Central Asia deterio-
rated, but this was offset by improvement in East Asia and the Pacific.

Our Health and Education department showed the biggest performance
improvement—the percentage of investments rated high rose by 12 points
to 85 percent, although the number of department operations is relatively
small. The DOTS scores of our Private Equity and Investment Funds and
Information and Communication Technologies departments climbed by six
points to 74 and 70, respectively.

The score for the Manufacturing and Services department rose three
points to 57. That is encouraging because the department continues to be
IFC's weakest performer. Having traditionally suffered from difficult invest-
ment climates and poor infrastructure, the Manufacturing and Services
department is beginning to benefit from its recent shift away from direct
support to small businesses and toward indirect support through finan-
cial intermediaries, and also from IFC's strategic focus—often jointly with
the World Bank—on improving business climates and infrastructure in the
countries of our clients.

Performance improvements in several sectors reflected the fact that
newer projects entering the reporting cohort performed better than
older projects that dropped out. In the Information and Communication
Technologies sector, many companies were located in Asia, which recovered
more quickly from the crisis and continued to show strong performance.
The performance of our Private Equity and Investment Funds department
rebounded partly from last year's drop, as equity markets recovered
some of the losses suffered at the peak of the financial crisis—with the
exception of investments in Eastern Europe and Latin America.

The performance of our Oil, Gas, Mining, and Chemicals; Agribusiness;
and Financial Markets departments remained relatively stable compared
with last year {(within four percentage points). But the DOTS score of our
Infrastructure department deteriorated 10 percentage points, and results
that previously were very strong are now in line with the IFC average. With
the exception of Latin America and East Asia, the development performance
of infrastructure operations deteriorated across the board—particularly
in Eastern Europe and Sub-Saharan Africa. By sector, power and utilities
projects confirmed their solid performances, while transport operations con-
tinued to be the weaker component of our infrastructure portfolio.

As in prior years, results weighted by IFC's investment volume proved to
be stronger (projects accounting for 82 percent of investment volume rated
high, compared with 71 percent by number). This indicated that, on average,
larger investments and companies tend to perform better. In part, this is
due to a higher risk profile for small businesses and investments. Moreover,
larger companies have economies of scale, and often have better manage-
ment and corporate governance that make it easier for them to overcome
difficult business environments and external shocks. IFC’s weighted results
were higher for all industries and regions, especially in the Information and
Communication Technologies and in the Middle East and North Africa
departments, which DOTS scores increased by 18 and 17 points, respec-
tively, when considering weighted results.

Compared with industry departments, IFC's regional departments had
smaller fluctuations in their development results scores between FY09 and
FY10. The DOTS score for the Europe and Central Asia region, where the
impact of the crisis remains pronounced, deteriorated by four percentage
points to 66 percentin FY10, marking a decline of 18 percentage points since
FY08. The deterioration was driven by weaker financial and economic per-
formance, and to a much lesser extent by lower private sector development
impacts. This pattern is similar to that experienced by the European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development.

The Europe and Central Asia region, as a result, was among the weakest-
performing regions in FY10, with a DOTS score of 66 percent that put it on
par with Sub-Saharan Africa. IFC's financial-markets investments in the region
clearly suffered from the crisis. Non-performing loans have risen substantially
and are expected to continue to rise for some time. Infrastructure investments

development reach by IFC's client companies

new business

portfolio  portfolio  expectations

cy08 cy09 fy10
I
Investments:
Employment provided {million) 24 2.2 0.3
Microfinance loans
Number (million) 8.5 8.5 1.7
Amount ($ billion) $9.32 $10.79 $10.31
SME loans
Number (million} 1.3 1.5 2.0
Amount ($ billion) $90.63 $101.32 $54.21
Customers reached with services:
Power generation (million) 153.4 132.2 143
Power distribution {(million) 28.5 29.4 5.0
Water distribution {million) 21.6 34.6 31.0
Gas distribution (million}) 12.5 15.7 01
Phone connections (million) 2201 169.3 25.4
Patients reached (million) 5.5 7.6 4.7
Students reached (million) 1.2 1.4 1.0
Farmers reached (million} 1.8 2.1 0.6
Payments to suppliers and governments:
Domestic purchases of goods and services
($ billiony* $48.57 $38.02 $12.51
Contribution to government revenues or
savings ($ billion) $22.24 $20.08 $9.58

CY08 and CY09 data are not strictly comparable, because they are based on a changed portfolio of IFC clients.
Indicator definitions and reporting periods vary somewhat across industries. Some CY08 data have been revised
New Business Expectations timelines vary by department. Please see footnotes to industry tables on our Web site
at www.ifc.org/results_industry.

*Only from Manufacturing and Services and Oil, Gas, Mining, and Chemicals Departments.



deteriorated significantly, mainly because of the poor performance of trans-
port-sector investments in Russia. Still, the performance of clients in the general
manufacturing sector improved, and regional investments in the oil, gas, and
mining sector achieved high development results.

The East Asia and the Pacific region registered the biggest improvement
in DOTS scores in FY10—an increase of eight percentage points that raised
the region’s score to 72 percent, which is above the IFC average of 71 percent.
The improvement was broad based, reflecting better performance across the
portfolio, and particularly strong performance in newer investments in pri-
vate equity and investment funds, financial markets, and agribusiness. This
improvement also reflects better selection of projects over time. East Asia
and the Pacific was one of only two regions where the development results
of IFC's financial-markets investments improved (Sub-Saharan Africa being
the other). Results of private equity and information-technology investments
also improved. Development outcomes for China, which accounted for
60 percent of the total number of rated companies in the region, continued
to improve. Indonesia achieved a perfect DOTS score of 100 percent.

Results of the Sub-Saharan Africa region remained about the same as in
FY09 despite the global crisis, at 66 percentin FY10 (up from 65 percent in FYQ09).
Investments that entered this year's reporting pool did substantially better
than those that exited. Investments in financial markets and in oil, gas, and
mining performed strongly—with scores above 80 percent. On the other
hand, the region continued to be one of the weakest performers, with results
dragged down by very poor performance of manufacturing and infrastructure
investments. IFC has made improving the investment climate a focus of its
activities in the region. A poor investment climate hampers smaller manufac-
turing investments and also makes implementing successful infrastructure
investments more difficult.

The performance of three other regions—Latin America and the
Caribbean, the Middle East and North Africa, and South Asia—also
remained relatively stable.

ADVISORY SERVICES RESULTS

Fifty-eight percent of IFC Advisory Services projects that closed in fiscal
year 2009 and could be assessed for development effectiveness were rated
positively as of June 30, 2009. The results are based on a review of 153 com-
pletion reports filed between July 1, 2008, and June 30, 2009. Of those,
111 could be assessed for development effectiveness.

Projects that could not be assessed for development effectiveness
were excluded from the analysis. These 42 projects included 30 non-client-
facing projects that are not subject to development-effectiveness ratings,
10 Grassroots Business Initiative projects that are no longer managed by IFC,
and two projects that were deemed too early to judge because their out-
come and/or impact results had not been achieved by June 30, 2009.

Development effectiveness varied by business line: In Access to Finance,
64 percent of projects were rated positively; in Infrastructure Advice, 50 percent;
in Corporate Advice, 53 percent; in Environmental and Social Sustainability,
75 percent; and in Investment Climate, 52 percent. Performance also varied by
region. In East Asia and the Pacific, 53 percent of projects were rated positively;
in Europe and Central Asia, 68 percent; in Latin America and the Caribbean,
82 percent; in the Middle East and North Africa, 41 percent; in Sub-Saharan
Africa, 50 percent; and in South Asia, 62 percent.

learning and
using results

ENHANCING RESULTS MEASUREMENT

In FY10, we improved our Development Outcome Tracking System with the
launch of DOTS-2.

The new system allows us to measure our development performance
and reach more quickly and accurately. DOTS-2 further standardizes indica-
tors across regions and industries, and significantly enhances the indicators
themselves. We are now able to compare actual results against the original
baselines and expectations—and do it faster and more accurately, which
allows us to apply the findings to new operations sooner.

With DOTS-2, IFC has an interactive module that enables tracking,
monitoring, and reporting on IFC’s additionality in projects in terms of risk
mitigation, policy setting, knowledge and innovation, and standard-setting.
This will allow us to better analyze and articulate the value and unique ben-
efits we provide through our activities. Faster feedback to management will
better inform strategy, operations, and incentives.

We have streamlined and harmonized our reporting across IFC, as per-
formance indicators and data are systematically incorporated into project
documents throughout the project life cycle.

We constantly share our experience with the broader development com-
munity, including other multilateral development banks, foundations, and
donors. Since 2005, we have fostered the improvement and harmonization
of development-results measurement among multilateral development
banks through the Common Performance Assessment System, an annual
self-assessment exercise led each year by a different multilateral develop-
ment bank.
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empowering
our people

DELIVERING TO CLIENTS IN CHALLENGING TIMES

IFC’s staff focuses on supporting our clients in a challenging environment
and developing products to reduce the impact of the global economic crisis
on the private sector in developing countries.

Our people are deeply committed to IFC's mission of creating oppor-
tunity for people to escape poverty. They offer IFC clients a powerful
combination of global expertise and local know-how that allows us to
respond rapidly to changing needs.

Leveraging Our Talent

IFC's business has grown significantly over the past five years. Our operating
model, as a result, has evolved to respond to market demands.

In FY10, IFC’'s Management Team adopted IFC 2013, a comprehensive
program to ensure that IFC continues to adapt the way we work and deliver
more effectively on our strategic priorities. In that context, we are launching
a new performance-management approach, to further strengthen talent
and leadership management across the organization. Our organizational
structure will emphasize clarity of roles and career paths.

To properly organize and deploy the global knowledge generated by
our specialists, client teams will be strengthened by the creation of Global
Industry Groups to enhance knowledge sharing, and Operations Centers to
facilitate decision making closer to the client through the co-location of criti-
cal resources. By increasing client proximity to IFC experts and managers
through the Operations Centers, we will deliver a higher level of responsive-
ness locally while leveraging global insight.

People are IFC's most important asset. As we decentralize our orga-
nization, we are also intensifying our effort to build a global cadre of
professionals who bring the full spectrum of global, local, and technical
expertise to our clients. Attracting and nurturing the best talent is an impor-
tant element of IFC 2013 and key to the way we work. For more information
on IFC 2013, see page 100.

Compensation

IFC's compensation guidelines are part of the World Bank Group's frame-
work. The international competitiveness of compensation is essential to
our capacity to attract and retain a highly qualified, diverse staff. The sal-
ary structure of the World Bank Group for staff recruited in Washington is
determined with reference to the U.S. market, which historically has been
globally competitive. Salaries for staff hired in countries outside the United
States are based on local competitiveness, determined by independent
Jocal market surveys. Based on the World Bank Group's status as a multilat-
eral organization, staff salaries are determined on a net-of-tax basis.

Executive Compensation

The salary of the President of the World Bank Group is determined by the
Board of Directors. The salary structure for IFC's Executive Vice Presidentand
CEOQ is determined by positioning a midpoint between the salary structure of
staff at the highest level, as determined annually by independent U.S. com-
pensation market surveys, and the salary of the World Bank Group President.
The compensation of our executive leadership is transparent. IFC's Executive
Vice President and CEQ, Lars Thunell, receives a salary of $347,050, net of
taxes. There are no executive incentive compensation packages.

Variable Pay Programs

IFC's variable-pay and retention programs were suspended in FY09 in
response to the change in market conditions and for IFC's own financial pru-
dence. Recognizing that outstanding work by individuals and teams remains
important to IFC and to our high-performance culture, the temporary sus-
pension of IFC’s variable pay programs was lifted for FY10.

Benefits Programs

IFC provides a competitive package of benefits, including medical insur-
ance and a retirement plan. Washington-based employees are covered by
Aetna, contracted through an open procurement process. Other staff mem-
bers are covered by La Garantie Médicale et Chirurgicale, an international
health care provider. Medical insurance costs are shared—75 percent is
paid by IFC and 25 percent by the insured.

IFC's pension is part of the World Bank Group plan, based on two ben-
efit components—the first: years of service, salary, and retirement age; the
second: a cash savings plan, which includes a mandatory contribution of
5 percent of salary, to which IFC adds 10 percent annually. Legacy pension
benefits from earlier World Bank Group pension plans include termination
grants and additional cash payouts.



Staff Salary Structure* (Washington, D.C.)

During the period July 1, 2009, to June 30, 2010, the salary structure
(net of tax) and average salaries and benefits for World Bank Group
staff was as follows.

market staff at grade average average
grade representative job titles minimum $ reference$  maximum $ level (%) salary / grade  benefits**
GA Office Assistant 24,420 31,740 41,250 5.8% 34,640 18,605
GB Team Assistant, Information Technician 31,190 40,550 56,770 0.8% 41,277 22,170
GC Program Assistant, information Assistant 38,520 50,090 70,130 10.4% 52,056 27,959
GD Senior Program Assistant, information Specialist, 44,530 57,880 81,040 8.5% 63,683 34,204

Budget Assistant

GE Analyst 58,100 75,520 105,720 9.5% 74,384 39,952
GF Professional 76,950 100,030 140,050 18.4% 95,323 51,198
GG Senior Professional 104,050 135,270 189,370 31.3% 131,476 70,616
GH Manager, Lead Professional 143,600 186,700 241,260 17.7% 181,374 97,416
Gl Director, Senior Advisor 190,390 249,070 285,580 2.8% 238,283 127,982
GJ Vice President 256,760 287,570 322,000 0.4% 286,638 153,953
GK Managing Director, Executive Vice President 282,010 319,810 351,740 0.1% 338,403 166,329

Note: Because World Bank Group staff, other than U.S. citizens, usually are not required to pay income taxes on their World Bank Group compensation, the salaries are set on a net-of-tax basis, which is generally equivalent to the after-tax take-
home pay of the employees of the comparator organizations and firms from which WBG salaries are derived. Only a relatively small minority of staff will reach the upper third of the salary range.

* These figures do not apply to the U.S. Executive Director and Alternate Executive Director, who are subject to U.S. congressional salary caps.

**Includes annual leave, medical, life and disability insurance; accrued termination benefits; and other nonsalary benefits
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our
governance

From left to right (standing): Merza Hasan, Abdulrahman Almofadhi, Dante Contreras, Konstantin Huber, Alexey Kvasov, Toru Shikibu, Ambroise Fayolle, Sid Dib, Susanna Moorehead, Rudolf Treffers, Michael Hofmann,

PR

Toga Mclntosh, James Hagan, Samy Watson, Pulok Chatterji, Philippe Ong Seng. Seated. Jose Rojas, Sun Vithespongse, Giovanni Majnoni, Carolina Renteria, lan Solomon, Anna Brandt, Shaolin Yang, Michel Mordasini

IFC is an international organization established
in 1956. We are part of the World Bank Groug,
although IFC is a legal entity separate and distinct
from the other Bank Group institutions, with
separate Articles of Agreement, share capital,
financial structure, management, and staff.

Membership in IFC is open only to member countries of
the World Bank. As of June 30, 2010, IFC's share capital
of $2.45 billion was held by 182 member countries. These
countries guide IFC's programs and activities. Each country
appoints one governor and one alternate. Corporate pow-
ers are vested in the Board of Governors, which delegates
most powers to a board of 24 directors. Voting power on
issues brought before them is weighted according to the
share capital each director represents.

The directors meet regularly at World Bank Group head-
quarters in Washington, D.C., where they review and decide
on investments and provide overall strategic guidance to
IFC management. Robert B. Zoellick is President of {FC and
the other World Bank Group institutions; he also serves as
Chairman of the Boards. Lars H. Thunell is IFC’s Executive
Vice President and Chief Executive Officer, and oversees
IFC's overall strategy and operations.

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (ALTERNATIVE)

Abdulrahman M. Aimofadhi (Abdulhamid Alkhalifa)
Anna Brandt (Jens Haarlov)

Pulok Chatterji (Kazi M. Aminul Islam)
Dante Contreras (Felix Alberto Camarasa)
Sid Ahmed Dib (Javed Talat)

Ambroise Fayolle (Anne Touret-Blondy)
James Hagan (Do-Hyeong Kim)

Merza H. Hasan (Ayman Alkaffas)

Michael Hofmann (Ruediger Von Kleist)
Konstantin Huber (Gino Alzetta)

Alexey Kvasov (Eugene Miagkov)
Giovanni Majnoni (Nuno Mota Pinto)
Toga Mclntosh (Hassan Ahmed Taha)
Susanna Moorehead (Stewart James)
Michel Mordasini (Michal Krupinski}

Louis Philippe Ong Seng (Agapito Mendes Dias)
Carolina Renteria (Rogerio Studart)

Jose A. Rojas (Marta Garcia Jauregui)
Toru Shikibu (Yasuo Takamura)

lan H. Solomon (vacant)

Rudolf Treffers (Tamara Solyanyk)

Sun Vithespongse (Irfa Ampri)

Samy Watson (Kelvin Dalrymple)

Shaolin Yang (Junhong Chang)

Strong Shareholder
Support from
Member Countries
Capital Stock by Country

— United States 24%

Japan 6%
Germany 5%
O e
G '/ \nited Kingdom 5%
G '/, Canada 3%
/i 3%
a—— / Italy 3%
7 Russian F
-— Netherlands 2%

ion 3%

— 172 other countries 38%



forming productive
partnerships

IFC works with governments, businesses, and foundations to
foster innovative donor partnerships to reduce poverty and
improve people’s lives through private-sector development.
Our approach to donor relations emphasizes the power

of long-term partnerships, maintains a focus on results
measurement and efficiency, and provides appropriate
visibility for donor partners.

Qur donor partners are vital in helping us deliver greater
development impact. The financial support they provide
not only leverages |FC’s own contributions to Advisory
Services but also enhances the impact of IFC's investment
operations through strengthened collaboration and shared
mutual priorities.

IFC's partnership with our donors often extends beyond
a funding relationship to one that is based on mutual
understanding and knowledge sharing. We foster this by
convening donors around thematic issues such as climate
change and food security. In so doing, we strive to be
thought leaders and stimulate coordinated action.

During FY10, IFC and our donor partners worked together to
address the highest-priority challenges on the development
agenda—including employment, food security, climate
change, infrastructure, and fragile and conflict-affected
countries. In a time of limited resources and global financial
strains, such partnerships are essential for maximizing

our development impact. IFC makes it a priority to convey
to donors how their funds are used and what results are
achieved through their contributions.

WORKING WITH THE DONOR COMMUNITY

In FY10, a year of severe financial constraints, 19 donor governments and sev-
eral institutional and private partners helped finance the expansion of IFC's
Advisory Services operations through $181.19 million in new commitments.

In response to the global crisis, we expanded the Advisory Services Crisis
Response Initiative, which has already raised $18.3 million with the financial
support of Austria, Japan, Luxembourg, the Netherlands, and Switzerland.

The Global Trade Liquidity Program is a compelling example of innovat-
ing partnership building to ensure an effective response to global financial
crisis (see page 14). The program has benefited from the support of a num-
ber of partners, including the African Development Bank, Canada, China,
Japan, the Netherlands, the OPEC Fund for International Development, the
Saudi Fund for Development, Sweden, and the United Kingdom.

In FY10, IFC partnered with many donors to address climate change,
reduce biodiversity loss, and leverage social capital.

For instance, through the Netherlands-IFC Renewable Energy part-
nership, which is expected to provide $20.3 million of funding over four
years, the Netherlands has provided new financing for projects in India,
Indonesia, Kenya, and Pakistan, ranging from clean-energy finance to wind
and hydro power projects.

IFC promotes the use of geothermal resources around the world through
a partnership with Japan and Iceland, and supports the development of a
carbon-efficient index in a partnership with the United Kingdom.

To scale up investments addressing climate change and biodiversity loss,
IFC managed over $320 million from the Global Environment Facility and the
Climate Investment Funds, used in the form of concessional investments and
grants for Advisory Services. IFC also held its first high-level consultation with
the European Commission and the European Investment Bank to explore
better ways to work together to tackle issues such as energy efficiency.

IFC and our donor partners also work through public-private partner-
ships to expand access to basic services: water, electricity, transport, food,
health, and education. Over 29 donor partners contribute to IFC’s advi-
sory work in public-private partnerships in 86 countries. The Infrastructure
Development Collaboration Partnership Fund is supported by Austria, the
Netherlands, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the United States.

With donor support, IFC also promotes job creation and business oppor-
tunities in conflict-affected countries. Our Conflict-Affected States in Africa
Initiative is supported by Ireland, the Netherlands, and Norway (see page 52).
In addition, our Conflict-Affected Countries partnership with the Netherlands
has provided $5.4 million in funding for Advisory Services globally.

Since this year's earthquake, our work in Haiti has received critical sup-
port from Austria, the Netherlands, Sweden, the United Kingdom, and the
United States (see page 51).
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PRINCIPLES OF PARTNERSHIPS

Through partnerships with donor and host country govern-
ments, other development institutions, philanthropies, and
clients, IFC seeks to achieve maximum development impact.
These partnerships are especially important in a resource-
constrained environment as the world grapples with the
fallout from an unprecedented financial and economic cri-
sis. IFC formulated Key Principles of Partnerships to spell
out how we engage with our donor partners and how we
ensure that the partnerships are mutually complementary
and strengthening:

—IFC and our donor partners pool their respective
resources to achieve a common goal of promoting sustain-
able private sector development in emerging markets.

—IFC and our donor partners create opportunities
to share knowledge and views about the strategies and
approaches to be adopted in Advisory Services managed
by IFC. The opportunities for strategic consultations are
multiple, sometimes formalized in agreement, sometimes
ad hoc based on ongoing interactions.

—IFC provides our donor partners with regular opera-
tional and financial updates that allow the donors to
understand how IFC is spending their funding, assess proj-
ect progress, and provide timely feedback.

—Beneficiaries, as well as other stakeholders in both
donor partner and client countries, are interested in the
impacts and efficiencies of Advisory Services programs
managed by IFC. IFC is therefore enhancing results mea-
surement, knowledge sharing and dissemination, and donor
partner visibility.

financial commitments to
IFC advisory services
($ millions equivalent)

financial commitments to IFC advisory
services by donor government
($ millions equivalent)

Summary fy10 fy09 Governments fy10 fy09
N —
Governments 152.05 185.81 Australia 8.84 5.58
Austria 10.08 16.46
institutional/Multilateral 19.54 64.52
Partners Canada 12.63 17.66
Denmark 0.39 5.34
Private Partners/ 9.60 0.71
Foundations Finland 5.44 2.28
Total 18119 251.04 France 2.92 3.25
Germany 0.04 1.39
Iceland 0.2 0
financial commitments to IFC services Ireland 1 794
by institutional and private donors Italy 0 0.74
illio ivalent
(3 millions equivalent) Japan 9.19 2.62
Institutional and 10 fv09
Private Donors M Y Luxembourg 2.25 19
1 S
Netherlands 25.61 44.75
(BZ:rr:Ebean Development 0 0.4 New Zealand 058 4
L Norway 10.86 15.44
European Commission 2.25 3113
Portugal o] 0.7
Gates Foundation 8 0 South Africa 0N Y
Spain 0 6.79
GEF, CTF 17.24 3294 Sweden 1.62 1.28
Switzerland 15.33 2713
Istamic Development 0 0.04
Bank United Kingdom 42.52 19.24
UN Agencies 0.05 0.02 United States 1.85 1.34
Total 152.05 185.81
Various Private Donors 1.6 0.71



WORKING WITH FOUNDATIONS AND CORPORATE PHILANTHROPIES

Foundations and corporate philanthropies are important allies in the effort
to reduce poverty and promote development.

IFC seeks long-term strategic partnerships with innovative foundations
that are active in our client countries. Foundations and corporate phi-
lanthropies value working with IFC because of our global presence, our
relationships with the private sector, our ability to combine investment and
advice, and our links to the World Bank Group.

In partnership, IFC and philanthropies implement hands-on programs
that mitigate market inefficiencies and foster economic growth in devel-
oping countries. In the past, philanthropy focused on grant making as its
primary means of contributing to development work; more recently, phil-
anthropic organizations have become interested in the use of innovative
investment vehicles to support sustainable private sector development.

IFC’s top private donors in FY10 were the Bill & Melinda Gates Foundation
and the Rockefeller Foundation. Here are a few examples of our partnership
work during the year:

—The Bill & Melinda Gates and Rockefeller Foundations supported IFC’s
effort to mobilize up to $1 billion to strengthen private health care delivery
in Africa and advance socially responsible health care.

—The Kauffman Foundation sponsored Global Entrepreneurship Week
to highlight the efforts and challenges of bringing entrepreneurship to scale
in emerging markets and frontier countries.

—Visa International supported the expansion of IFC’s Small and Medium
Enterprise Toolkit curriculum to include financial-literacy content that ben-
efits both small and medium enterprises and financial providers.

WORKING WITH OTHER INTERNATIONAL FINANCE INSTITUTIONS

As demand for IFC’s services intensifies and the fiscal constraints on our
shareholders and clients mount, effective partnerships with other interna-
tional organizations are more important than ever.

We are teaming up with a host of multi- and bilateral private sector
development institutions, pooling resources to expand our reach and
maximize the impact of our investments and advisory services. Through
collaboration, we can share knowledge and design more efficient programs
to confront the thorniest developmentissues. Our partners, in turn, benefit
from IFC's leadership position—we account for about 30 percent of the
financing committed by international financial institutions to the private
sector in developing countries.

Collaboration has been critical in our response to the global economic
crisis, allowing us to swiftly launch new initiatives to boost trade finance,
recapitalize banks, and spur infrastructure investment. More broadly, IFC
and other IFls participate together on individual projects, provide joint
financing, and cooperate on best practices and standards.

Through the Master Cooperation Agreement, we have expanded our
formal co-financing arrangements with other {Fls. The agreement, which
details how IFls work together to co-finance projects led by IFC, supple-
ments the commercial finance made scarce by the crisis.

IFC senior management also meets periodically with counterparts from
more than 20 other private sector development institutions to review the
progress of joint initiatives. More than 15 working groups have been created
to share best practices and harmonize activities in areas including corporate
governance, off-shore financial centers, and development results.

Collaboration has been critical in IFC’s
response to the global economic crisis,
allowing us to swiftly launch new initiatives.
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ensuring an etfective

and

sustainable business model

IFC 2013

A Comprehensive Change Program

IFC 2013 is a comprehensive change process to create a more effective,
sustainable business model that allows us to achieve greater development
impact. This process builds on earlier decentralization efforts designed to
help us do more in the least developed countries and regions of middle-
income countries while building on our track record as a leader in private
sector development—and on our core corporate values of excellence, com-
mitment, integrity, and teamwork.

As part of this process, we looked at ways to update our business delivery
model, simplify how we work, and put decision making closer to our clients
so we can respond more quickly to their needs. We are introducing a set
of development goals to guide long-term strategy. We are strengthening
our industry expertise to extend our global franchise and find better ways
to put our global knowledge to work for our clients. We are continuing to
sharpen the focus of our advisory services, and strengthening the align-
ment between our Advisory and Investment Services, to expand our impact.
Measures of success will include increased client satisfaction and greater
development impact.

To ensure the sustainability of our business model, we have also increased
our focus on financial results. Because of our sound financial position, we
were able to respond to our clients’ needs during the global financial crisis.
Going forward, a critical element of our strategy will remain safeguarding
our financial position and ensuring that our business model continues to be
sustainable as our clients’ needs and financial conditions change.

We are strengthening our financial position by growing our equity
investments, generating management and mobilization fees, and secur-
ing additional stakeholder contributions. The establishment of IFC Asset
Management Company in 2009 creates a new platform for mobilizing third-
party investment for development (see page 74).

THE NEW OPERATIONS CENTERS

Ahallmark of IFC's success over the years has been our ability to deliver global
expertise to meet the needs of our clients in different parts of the world.

To improve that delivery, we have periodically adjusted our organizational
structure. Previously, we established specialized industry departments. We
also increased our presence in field offices in developing countries. Under
IFC 2013, we are taking an important next step, establishing Operations
Centers to serve our clients in different time zones.

IFC 2013 calls for the establishment of several regional Operations
Centers, each led by an IFC Vice President. These centers will concentrate
decision making, execution capacity, and support functions closer to our
clients, facilitating more efficient investment and portfolio risk-management
activities. The centers also will support further integration of our investment
and advisory work, increasing the benefits for our clients.

IFC’s first Operations Center outside Washington is in Istanbul, serv-
ing IFC operations in Central and Eastern Europe, Central Asia, Southern
Europe, the Middle East, and North Africa. The establishment of this center
will be followed by a phased rollout of other Operations Centers globally,
incorporating lessons learned from the Istanbul center. We are coordinating
with the World Bank on the location of these centers, and the approach we
take to the regions they serve.

MANAGING RISKS

Portfolio Management

Portfolio management plays a key role in ensuring that IFC investments
result in successful, environmentally sustainable private sector enterprises.
In an uncertain economic environment, the role of portfolio management is
even more important. Since the global economic crisis began, IFC portfolio
staffers have worked proactively with client companies to assess vulner-
abilities and risk exposures both for clients and for IFC. Additional resources
have been allocated to portfolio processes, and more staff members have
been active in portfolio work. We have conducted portfolio stress testing
and have continued to review and adjust our product mix to maximize devel-
opment impact as well as financial returns.

On an ongoing basis, IFC monitors compliance with investment agree-
ments, visits sites to check on project status, and helps identify solutions
to address potential problem projects. We also track the development out-
comes of projects with respect to environmental and social performance.
These supervision processes are performed by portfolio units largely based
in field offices. IFC management oversees supervision by reviewing the
entire investment portfolio on a quarterly basis. The portfolio management
process is supported by a credit-risk rating system. Banks participating in
IFC loans are kept regularly informed of project developments. IFC consults
or seeks their consent as appropriate.

When financial difficulties arise, management determines specific
reserves against loan losses on the basis of portfolio reviews and recom-
mendations by portfolio management units and in accordance with policies
and methods approved by IFC’s external auditors. For projects with severe
problems, the Special Operations Department determines the appropri-
ate remedial actions. It seeks to negotiate agreements with all creditors
and shareholders to share the burden of restructuring so problems can be
worked out while the project continues to operate. In exceptional cases,
when the parties reach an impasse, IFC takes all necessary and appropriate
measures to protect our interests.

Before making any investment, IFC carries out broad due diligence,
including integrity due diligence on the sponsors and principals, to ensure
that the project meets all IFC standards in a number of areas-—including
social and environmental, combating money laundering and the financing
of terrorism, anti-corruption, corporate governance, and tax transparency.
IFC also applies heightened scrutiny of projects involving offshore financial
centers, in order to assess the legitimacy of the proposed structures. Such
broad due diligence has long been standard for IFC projects.



Capital Adequacy and Financial Capacity

We assess our capital adequacy by measuring our growth needs and the risk
profile of current and projected investments against the established mini-
mum capital adequacy for these needs. The minimum capital requirement is
determined using IFC's Capital, Pricing, and Risk, or CAPRI, economic capital
approach, which differentiates assets based on statistical measures of risk.

According to CAPRI, IFC needs to maintain a minimum level of total
available resources (including paid-in capital, retained earnings net of des-
ignations and certain unrealized gains, and total loan loss reserves) equal to
total potential losses for all on- and off-balance-sheet exposures estimated
at levels IFC believes to be consistent with maintaining a triple-A rating.

Our economic capital-based method of calculating capital adequacy,
taking into account our unique mandate of private sector development and
our countercyclical nature, is in line with industry best practices and is con-
figured to provide adequate capital backing for a triple-A rating.

Even with the more demanding capital adequacy that a triple-A rating
requires, we have historically exceeded our minimum capital requirements
by a wide margin.

As of the end of FY10, the total resources required were $12.8 bitlion,
while total resources available were $16.8 billion. IFC's debt-to-equity ratio
was 2.2:1, well within the limit of 4:1 prescribed by our financial policies.

IFC’s paid-in capital, retained earnings net of designations and certain
unrealized gains, and total loan-loss reserves constitute our total resources
available. This financial capacity serves to support existing business, accom-
modate medium-term growth opportunities and strategic plans, and
provide a buffer to withstand shocks or crises in some client countries or
more general global market downturns, while retaining the capacity to pre-
serve our triple-A rating and play a countercyclical role.

Tackling corruption is an
essential element of IFC’s
effort to promote sustainable
private sector development.

IFC and Anticorruption

Corruption undermines public trust in open markets and the rule of law, and
adds to the cost of doing business in most developing nations. Tackling cor-
ruption is an essential element of [FC's effort to promote sustainable private
sector development. Our initiatives to enhance openness and competition,
and to promote stronger corporate governance and integrity systems, have
proven to be effective tools in combating corruption.

IFC's due-diligence processes and procedures are the first line of
defense against corruption in our projects. They aim to ensure the integrity
of our potential partners and prevent unethical or illegal practices. Relying
on intelligence on the ground and leveraging information through other
sources, such as publicly available databases, IFC inquires into the back-
ground of potential partners and their stakeholders—including sponsors,
management, and owners.

Our anticorruption stance is incorporated into the legal framework gov-
erning our investments. Acts of fraud or corruption by a client in an IFC
project give us the right to cancel disbursements or terminate a facility.
Sanctions are also a possibility for persons or entities found—under the
World Bank Group’s sanctions process—to have engaged in corrupt, fraud-
ulent, coercive, collusive, or obstructive practices in connection with an IFC
project. Sanctions include publishing the name of the company or person
on a public Web site, and may include debarment from World Bank Group
engagements.

The World Bank Group's investigative unit, the Integrity Vice Presidency,
is responsible for investigating allegations of fraud and corruption in IFC

“projects. IFC’s Business Risk Department acts as a liaison between the Vice

Presidency and IFC. The Vice Presidency’s annual report can be found on
the World Bank’'s Web site.

IFC is also participating in the Cross-Debarment Accord signed in April
between the World Bank Group and four leading multilateral banks. Under
the agreement, entities sanctioned by one participating development bank
may be cross-debarred by the others for the same misconduct. The accord
helps ensure a level playing field for all firms competing for multilateral
development bank projects. A list of debarred firms is available on the
World Bank’s Web site.

Further reforms to the sanctions process were made by the World Bank
Group Governance on Anti-Corruption Forum. These include early tem-
porary suspension, debarment with conditional release, settlements, and
revised sanctioning guidelines. These reforms are being implemented
together with updated legal agreement templates. In FY10, a new inter-
nal Web site was launched to improve staff access to information on
anti-corruption. It includes tools on the World Bank Group’s sanctions pro-
cess and access to mandatory e-Learning programs.
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working
responsibly

IFC'S APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY

IFC's approach to sustainability is founded on the belief that sound eco-
nomic growth, driven by private sector development, is crucial to poverty
reduction. In our investments, operations, and advisory services across the
globe, we consider four dimensions of sustainability—financial, economic,
environmental, and social.

—The financial sustainability of IFC and our clients ensures that together
we can make a long-term contribution to development.

—The economic sustainability of the projects and companies IFC finances
means they are contributing to host economies.

—Environmental sustainability in our clients’ operations and supply
chains helps protect and conserve natural resources, mitigate environmen-
tal impacts, and address the global imperative of climate change.

—Social sustainability is supported through improved living and working
standards, poverty reduction, concern for the welfare of communities, and
respect for key human rights.

IFC is committed to ensuring that the benefits of economic development
are shared with those who are poor or vulnerable, and that develop-
ment takes place in an environmentally sustainable manner. We also see
sustainability as an opportunity to transform markets, drive innovation
in new areas, and add value to our clients by helping them improve their
business performance.

43,591 Metric Tons of tC0,e

fy09 carbon emissions inventory for
IFC's global internal business operations

— Aiir Travel 56%
S .

— Electricity 39%

— Onsite Fuel 1%

- Vehicle Fuel 3%

- Refrigerant 1%

IFC's FYO? carbon emissions totaled 43,591 metric tons of
carbon dioxide equivalent (tCO e), which includes emissions
from carbon dioxide, methane, and nitrous oxide.

[FC'S SUSTAINABILITY FRAMEWORK AND POLICY REVIEW

IFC's sustainability framework reflects our longstanding commitment to
sound environmental management and social development. It gives private
sector clients an understanding of their requirements and performance
expectations well before they finalize a transaction with IFC. it is designed
to address the concerns of people who are affected by our projects, and
boost our development impact.

The framework consists of three components: the Policy on Social and
Environmental Sustainability, which defines our responsibility in support-
ing project performance in partnership with clients; the IFC Performance
Standards (see page 76), and the Policy on Disclosure of Information. When
itapproved the current framework in 2006, IFC's Board of Directors asked us
to review our experience in implementation after three years.

The resulting report concluded that clarifications and modifications were
needed to adapt to a changing business environment and address the
evolution of IFC's products. We launched a review in September 2009 and
began consultations with stakeholders in November.

So far, IFC has engaged with a wide variety of stakeholder groups,
including civil society, industry representatives, academics and technical
experts, our Board, the Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman, the Independent
Evaluation Group, the IFC’s Sustainability Framework External Advisory
Group, and internal peer groups.

Stakeholders identified a number of areas where more attention or clari-
fication was needed. Key cross-cutting themes included climate change,
ecosystem services, and gender and human rights. Other issues of interest
to stakeholders: the implications of “consent” versus “consultation” with
indigenous people, biodiversity protection, environmental and social cat-
egorization, and contract transparency.

Proposed changes expand the scope of our clients’ greenhouse gas
emissions reporting, add requirements on water and energy efficiency,
ensure projects take a gender-responsive approach, and address trafficking
of women and children. IFC committed to expand disclosure of information
on our development impact and project performance.

More information on the process is available at http://www.ifc.org/
policyreview.



EWRVIRONMENTAL AND SOCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

IFC has calculated an environmental and social risk rating for our invest-
ments since 2000. We rate investments that have some degree of risk, as
reflected by their environmental and social categorization as A, B, or Fl. The
rating is given and updated, usually once a year, by our environmental and
social specialists, based on reports provided by clients and site visits. The
frequency of visits depends on an investment's risk rating and its perfor-
mance against agreed action-plan items.

Research at IFC shows a positive correlation between environmental and
social risk and credit risk in IFC's investments. Our most recent research,
completed in 2010, indicated that around 35 percent of loan invest-
ments with the highest environmental and social risk also carry a high IFC
credit-risk rating. Similarly, only about 5 percent of investments with low
environmental and social risk ratings have a high credit risk. In the case of
equity investments, research has shown that IFC investments assessed to
have less environmental and social risk also yield significantly higher rates
of return on investment. -

To further strengthen IFC's environmental and social risk management,
we continued to focus in FY10 on reducing the environmental and:social
knowledge gap in {FC's portfolio. The gap refers to the percentage of com-
panies in IFC’s portfolio for which we have not received updated information
on environmental and social performance within the last two years. The
knowledge gap was reduced from 6.4 percentin FY09to 4.4 percent in FY10.

IFC INVESTMENT PROJECT CATEGORIES

A Expected to have significant adverse social i
or environmental impacts that are diverse,
irreversible, or unprecedented.

B Expected to have limited adverse social or [
environmental impacts that can be readily
addressed through mitigation measures.

C Expected to have minimal or no adverse
impacts; includes certain financial inter-
mediary investments.

Fl Investments in financial intermediaries that
have no adverse social or environmental
impacts but that may finance subprojects
with potential impacts.

QUR FOOTPRINT COMMITMENT

Helping our clients address environmental challenges is central to IFC's
strategy. Aligning this strategy with how we run our business is an important
day-to-day effort.

This year, IFC received the “Environmental Excellence” award from
District of Columbia Mayor Adrian Fenty. The annual competition recognizes
environmental stewardship, innovative best practices, pollution prevention,
and resource conservation by businesses in Washington, D.C.

As part of the World Bank Group, IFC became the first multilateral
development bank to report our greenhouse emissions —starting with
IFC/World Bank headquarters operations—in the Carbon Disclosure
Project, the world's largest database of primary corporate information on
climate change.

This year, IFC's headquarters building—our largest office —was awarded
the U.S. Green Building Council’s Leadership in Energy and Environmental
Design Platinum Certification for Existing Buildings. This is the highest
rating given to existing buildings for maximizing operational efficiency and
minimizing environmental impacts—by reducing water and energy con-
sumption, for example.

More than half of IFC’s carbon footprint is from air travel. We are working
to reduce corporate air travel by increasing the use of video conferences,
e-meetings, and online training. Since FY08, our use of video conferencing
has more than doubled. in addition, more staff training has been moved to
an e-learning platform.

The other significant part of IFC's carbon footprint is electricity use—
IFC’s headquarters electricity use accounts for 22 percent of the overall
FY09 carbon footprint. In FY10, we reduced electricity use per workstation
at IFC headquarters by 10 percent to 6,394 kilowatt hours, achieving the
electricity reduction target we set for the years FY0O8 through FY13. We
will be readjusting this target in FY11 to encourage even more energy-
efficient operations.

In FY10, we began using a new Web-based data management system,
instituted in FY09, for the collection and calculation of our global carbon
emissions inventory fram internal operations. Because of the complexity
and detail of IFC's carbon inventory methodology, transition to the new
system has posed several challenges—including data inconsistencies and
issues concerning data calculation, which we are working to resolve. in FY09,
carbon emissions from IFC’s global internal business operations totaled
43,591 metric tons of catbon dioxide equivalent.

IFC continues to be carbon-neutral for all global business operations.
We purchase carbon credits from a portfolio of five projects. Working with
ClimateCare, IFC chose projects that bring clear and tangible benefits to
the development of the communities in which they take place.
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The IFC Investment Cycle

The following cycle shows
the stages a business idea
goes through to become an
IFC-financed project:
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COMMITMENT TO TRANSPARENCY

As a global, multilateral finance institution with operations in many regions
and sectors, IFC has an impact on a diverse range of stakeholders.

We believe that transparency and accountability are fundamental to
fulfilling our development mandate, and to strengthening public trust in
IFC and our clients. IFC makes information concerning our investments
and advisory services publicly available, enabling our clients, partners, and
stakeholders to better understand our activities and engage in informed
discussion about them.

We frequently solicit feedback to identify issues of importance to stake-
holder groups. Feedback includes an annual client survey and ongoing
engagement with stakeholders, including representatives of civil society,
local communities affected by our projects, industry associations, govern-
ments, international finance institutions, and academia.

Such feedback has prompted us to consider how we can disclose more
information. in September 2009, we began a review of our Disclosure Policy,
in conjunction with the review of IFC's Sustainability Framework. Through
this process, IFC will seek to increase reporting on project performance and
development impact while also ensuring consistency with the World Bank's
new Access to Information Policy, where appropriate.

We are also providing updated information on the development impact
of our projects. Working with our clients, and on an experimental basis,
IFC this year produced several reports containing updated development
results of selected projects. We will use lessons learned from producing
these reports, as well as feedback from stakeholders, to inform our deci-
sions as we develop a new disclosure framework.

IFC'S DISCLOSURE PORTAL AND PROJECT MAPPING

IFC continues to improve our Internet-based Disclosure Portal, which serves
as a central location for corporate information, policies and standards, pro-
posed investments, and stakeholder feedback. The portal provides links to
a project database containing client information, summaries of proposed
investments, environmental and social reviews and mitigation measures,
and expected development impact. The database was expanded last year
to include IFC Advisory Services projects. The portal encourages stake-
holder feedback, allowing users to ask questions or provide comments
about specific projects.

This year, to improve access to IFC's project information and develop-
ment impact, IFC introduced a project-mapping Web tool. Using satellite
images hosted by Google, the tool allows visitors to see the global distribu-
tion of our projects, in a color-coded map that includes information about
the environmental and social risk associated with each project. Clicking on
specific icons on the map allows readers to access broader project informa-
tion contained in IFC’s Disclosure Portal. In addition, readers can search IFC
projects by sector, region, and country.

For members of the public who feel that an initial request for informa-
tion has been unreasonably denied or that our policy has been incorrectly
applied, we have established a complaints mechanism. Complaints are
reviewed by the Disclosure Policy Advisor, who reports directly to IFC's
Executive Vice President and CEQO.

For full information, see www.ifc.org/disclosure.

IFC makes information concerning our
investments and advisory services
publicly available, enabling our clients,
partners, and stakeholders to better
understand our activities and engage
in informed discussion about them.
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WORKING WITH CiVIL SOCIETY

IFC engages with civil society, including nongovernmental organizations,
both institutionally and in project implementation. We maintain an ongoing
dialogue about many aspects of our operations, strategy, and policies, and
we are collaborating on a variety of initiatives.

IFC works with the World Bank Group's Civil Society Team to reach out
to civil society on a regular basis. For example, senior IFC staffers have held
roundtable meetings with civil society representatives to discuss the financial
crisis and its effect on the poor. IFC also has several advisory groups that pro-
vide feedback and make recommendations on our strategies and policies in
various areas. The Compliance Advisory/Ombudsman, in collaboration with
IFC project teams, also maintains close contact with local communities, civil
society organizations, and other stakeholders through its work.

IFC is making a concerted effort to engage with civil society in the con-
text of the review of its Policy and Performance Standards on Social and
Environmental Sustainability and its Policy on Disclosure of Information.
The review of these policies began in September 2009, and IFC has since
engaged with stakeholders, including civil society organizations, using a
combination of Web tools (such as e-mails, a blog, live Web chats, and the
Policy Review Web site), teleconferences, and face-to-face consultations
to receive input. We will continue these consultations globally throughout
the review period.

We seek to improve and initiate more strategic partnerships with non-
governmental organizations at the operational level, improving projects
and enhancing our development impact. For example, we work with the
World Wildlife Fund'’s Global Forest Trade Network to promote sustain-
able forestry, with the Rainforest Alliance to assist coffee growers in Central
America and southern Mexico, and with Oxfam Hong Kong to develop sus-
tainable tourism in Cambodia and the Lao People's Democratic Republic.
IFC has also collaborated with the World Wildlife Fund to promote better
agricultural management practices in such industries as cotton, palm oil,
soybeans, and sugar cane.

- what we were building,” he said.

BRAZIL: CONTAINING DEFORESTATION IN THE AMAZON

John Carter felt “a sorrow” as he watched the Amazon forest disap-
pear before his eyes.

in hundreds of flights, piloting his single-engine Cessna over Brazil's
Mato Grosso, he saw bulldozers and massive fires tear through one
of the world’s most important ecosystems. There were laws and envi-
ronmental strategies, but none seemed to contain the deforestation.

"I thought, if we could support landowners and create economic
incentives for responsible production, that might work where other
conservation efforts have failed,” Carter said.

in 2004, he founded Alianga da Terra, a nongovernmental organi-
zation that seeks market-based solutions to deforestation in the
Amazon. Its Registry for Socio-environmental Responsibility helps
ranchers and soybean producers enhance social and environmental
practices. When Carter needed help growing his organization, he
turned to IFC.

“We were a small, grassroots organization oriented toward opera-
tions in the field, but we didn't have a view toward capitalizing on

IFC Advisory Services helped strengthen Carter’'s NGO and add
2 million hectares to its registry, bringing the total to 3.5 million hect-
ares. In addition, IFC is helping develop a carbon monitoring system
that could help bring new streams of revenue for farmers that follow
responsible environmental practices.

“This is a new model of agriculture happening in the eye of the
hurricane, the area of the Amazon which has had the largest defor-
estation,” Carter said.




Independent Evaluation Group

IFC emphasizes learning from experience. The
Independent Evaluation Group, which reports
to IFC's Board of Directors, contributes to IFC's
learning agenda and is a vital part of its account-
ability structure.

Each year, IEG independently evaluates or
validates the performance of a representative
sample of IFC investment and advisory projects.
This year, IEG evaluated IFC activities concerning
agribusiness, the response to the global finan-
cial crisis, environmental and social performance
standards, climate change, energy efficiency, and
the Chad-Cameroon cluster of projects. For the
first time, IEG also evaluated IFC's country opera-
tions in Peru along with those of the World Bank
and MIGA, providing a comprehensive view of
the World Bank Group's contribution to Peru’s
development. Such an approach encourages
cross-institutional learning.

This year's evaluation findings show that dur-
ing fiscal years 2007-09 over 74 percent of IFC's
investment projects achieved satisfactory or
higher development outcome ratings. Ratings
declined slightly in FYQ9, reflecting the initial
impact of the global crisis. The performance of
IFC’s financial-sector projects declined, although
their environmental and social impact ratings
improved, reversing a three-year downward trend.
Infrastructure, stilt among IFC's best-performing
sectors in development outcomes, has seen an
almost 40 percent decline in activities since the
crisis began.

In-depth analysis shows that project develop-
ment outcomes appear to hinge on two groups of
factors: those external to IFC—such as a change in
a country’s business-climate risk, sponsor risk, mar-
ket risk, or project type risk—and those internal
to IFC, such as the quality of IFC's work in project
appraisal and structuring, project supervision, and
additionality. This year's findings indicate that IFC's
overall work quality has continued its recent upward
trend, with some decline in supervision quality. IEG
also has recommended that IFC intensify its focus
on Africa, where development outcomes have
lagged behind those of other regions.

:advisory-role,

To encourage learning from its reports, EG
makes frequent presentations for IFC staff in
Washington, D.C., and in the field. IEG's reports
are available at www.ifc.org/IEG.

Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman

The Compliance Advisor/fOmbudsman is the inde-
pendent accountability mechanism for IFC and
the Multilateral Investment Guarantee Agency.
Reporting to the President of the World Bank
Group, CAQ responds to complaints from people
affected by IFC and MIGA projects, with the goal
of enhancing the social and environmental out-
comes of these projects.

CAQ has three roles. CAO’s Ombudsman team
works to identify the causes of conflict and helps
stakeholders resolve concerns through dialogue
and assisted negotiation. CAO Compliance spe-
cialists conduct appraisals and audits of IFC’s
social and environmental performance to ensure
adherence to iﬁs policies and guidelines. In its
AO provides independent guid-
ance to the President and management of IFC
on social and environmental concerns related to
policies, systenjic issues, and emerging trends.
CAO does not %ve project-specific advice.

In FY10, CAQ worked on 22 cases related to
28 IFC projects|in 16 countries. Of these, eight
were new complaints accepted by CAO for fur-
ther assessment, and 14 were carried over from
previous years. CAO closed six cases, facilitated
seven agreements through its ombudsman team,
and released si:I compliance appraisals and one
auditof IFC. |

The audit was prompted by a complaint from
civil society in 2007 regarding IFC's investments
in Wilmar. Groyp, which relate to palm oil in
indonesia. CAO facilitated settlements between
the company and affected communities in FYO8
and FY09 and released an audit of IFC’s involve-
ment with Wilmdr in early FY10. In response, IFC is
conducting a stﬂategic review of its engagement
in the global palm oil sector (see page 67). CAQ
continues to moénitor the settlements, and the
audit remains open.

In May 2010, CAO completed an advisory review
of IFC’s Sustainability Framework {(see page 102).
It focused on issues relevant to communities
affected by IFC projects and assessed IFC's
implementationjof the framework.

CAO reaches out to civil society and other
stakeholders to raise awareness about account-
ability and recourse at IFC. In FY10, CAO met
with about 300 civil society organizations from
over 20 countries. CAO works with IFC staff at
headquarters and in the field to share lessons
from its work.

Visit www.cao-ombudsman.org for more
information.

Internal Auditing
The Internal Auditing Department helps the

World Bank Group achieve its mission by provid-
ing objective assurance and advice to add value;

enhancing risk management, control, and gover- _

nance; and improving accountability for results.
The department conducts its work in all organiza-
tional activities (including trust-funded operations)
in accordance with the International Standards for
the Professional Practice of Internal Auditing pro-
mulgated by the Institute of Internal Auditors.

Auditing work primarily focuses on determin-
ing whether the Bank Group’s risk management,
control, and governance processes provide
reasonable assurance that significant financial,
managerial, and operating information is accu-
rate, reliable, and timely; resources are acquired
economically and used efficiently; assets are
safeguarded; the organization's actions are in
compliance with policies, procedures, contracts,
and applicable laws and requlations; and busi-
ness objectives are achieved.
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Quality In Everything We Do

independent assurance report on a selection
of sustainable development information

Further to the request made by IFC, we performed a review on a selection of sustainable development information for the
financial year ended June 30, 2010 in the Annual Report, including quantitative indicators (“the Indicators”) and
qualitative statements (“the Statements™), related to the following material areas:

MATERIAL AREAS

Environmental and Social Performance of projects

STATEMENTS

“What We Do: Standard Setting: IFC Performance Standards”
(p. 76), "The Equator Principles” (p. 77), and " Corporate
Governance” (p.77)

INDICATORS
R

o Commitments by Environmental and Social Category {p. 10):

Category Commitments Number of
($ millions) projects

A 825 10

B 3,975 147

C 4,516 254

F1 3,348 117

N 0 0

Development effectiveness of investments and
advisory services

“Measuring results” (pp. 90 and 91), “Investments Results”
(p. 92, excluding the table “Development Reach by IFC's Client
companies”), and "Advisory Services Results” (p. 93)

Development Effectiveness scores of Investments
{pp. 10, 11 and 91): 71% "rated high""
Development Effectiveness score of Advisory Services
(p. 93): 58% “rated positively”

Finandial inclusion: microfinance loans and loans
to small and medium enterprises

Number and amounts of microfinance loans and SME loans
{p.92)

Type of loans Number of loans Amount
(millions) ($ billions)

Microfinance 8.5 10.79

SMEs 15 101.32

Climate change

Climate Change section (pp. 28-37)

Amount committed in renewable energy and energy
efficiency investments (p. 17): $1,644 millions

Corporate footprint, social responsibility, and
sustainable business model

“IFC 2013" (p. 100), "IFC and Anticorruption” (p. 101), and
“Working Responsibly” (pp. 102—103)

Carbon footprint (p. 102): 43,591 tCO; equivalent in
financial year 2009

Water

“Water and Urbanization: Focus” (p. 56), " Innovation and
Impact (p. 57), "Our Approach to Water Security” (p. 60),
“Cleaner Water and a Healthier future” {p. 62) and
“Impact around the World” (pp. 64 and 65)

Engagement in {DA? countries

“Expanding role in IDA countries and focus on the poor”
(pp. 82 and 83)

Partnerships

"Forming Productive Partnerships”(p. 97)

Accountability

“Independent Evaluation Group” and “Compliance Advisor/
Ombudsman” (p. 107)

'FY10 Development Results for investments (% rated high):

Overall Portfolio Unweighted ighted
(% rated high}) {number of by investment
projects) size Development Outcome by industry {% rated high} Development Outcome by region (% rated high)
Development Qutcome 1% 82% IFC (total) 7 IFC {total) il
Financial Performance 57% 65% Oif, Gas, Mining & Chemicals 79 South Asia 79
Economic Performance 62% 71% Infrastructure 70 Latin America & the Caribbean 77
Environmental and 68% 70% Agribusiness 78 Europe and Central Asia 66
Social Performance Global Financial Markets 73 Middle Fast & North Africa 70
Private Sector 78% 87% Health & Education 85 Sub-Saharan Africa 66
Development impact Private Equity & Investment Funds 74 East Asia & the Pacific 72
information & Communication Technologies 70
Manufacturing & Services 57



Our review aimed at obtaining limited assurance? that:

1. the Indicators were prepared in accordance with
the reporting criteria applicable in 2010 (the "Reporting
Criteria"), consisting in IFC instructions, procedures, and
guidelines specific for each indicator, a summary of which is
provided in the comments next to the Indicators presenta-
tion (pp.10, 11, 17, 91, 92, 93 and 102) in the Annual Report
or on IFC's website; and

2. the Statements have been presented in accordance
with “IFC’s Policy on Disclosure of Information” and prin-
ciples of relevance, completeness, neutrality and clarity, and
reliability as defined by international standards.*

It is the responsibility of IFC to prepare the Indicators
and Statements, to provide information on the Reporting
Criteria, and to compile the Annual Report.

ft is our responsibility to express a conclusion on the
Indicators and the Statements on the basis of our review.
Our review was conducted in accordance with the ISAE
3000, International Standard on Assurance Engagements
from IFAC> Our independence is defined by IFAC profes-
sional code of ethics.

NATURE AND SCOPE OF OUR REVIEW

We performed the following review to be able to express

a conclusion:

~—We assessed the Reporting Criteria, policies and prin-
ciples, with respect to their refevance, their completeness,
their neutrality, and their refiability.

—We reviewed the content of the Annual Report in
order to identify key statements regarding the sustain-
ability areas listed above. We selected statements that
were deemed to be committing, of particular stakeholder
interest, of potential reputation risk to IFC, together with
statements on corporate responsibility management
and performance.

—At group level, we conducted interviews with people
responsible for reporting in order to assess the application
of the Reporting Criteria or to substantiate the Statements.

— At group level, we implemented analytical procedures
and verified, on a test basis, the calculations and the con-
solidation of the Indicators.

—We collected supporting documents of Indicators or
Statements, such as reports to the board of directors
or other meetings, loan contracts, internal and external
presentations and reports, studies or results of survey.

—We reviewed the presentation of the Information in the
Annual Report and the associated notes on methodology.

# Internationat Development Association.

# A higher level of assurance would have required more extensive work.

* ISAE 3000 from IFAC, Glabal Reporting Initiative (GRI), or AATO00
Accountability Principles.

* ISAE 3000: "Assurance Engagement other than reviews of historical data”,
International Federation of Accountants, International Audit and Assurance
Board, December 2003.

LIMITATIONS OF OUR REVIEW

Our review was limited to the Statements and Indicators
identified in the table above and did not cover other dis-
closures in the Annual Report.

Our tests were fimited to document reviews and inter-
views at IFC's headquarters in Washington, DC. We did
not participate in any activities with external stakeholders,
clients, or local IFC offices.

INFORMATION ABOUT THE REPORTING CRITERIA
AND THE STATEMENT PREPARATION PROCESS

With regards to the Reporting Criteria and the Statement
preparation policies and principles, we wish to make the
following comments:

RELEVANCE

IFC publishes an integrated Annual Report and, for the first
time, involved stakeholders in an effort to improve the iden-
tification of key sustainability issues that should be included
in the Annual Report.

{FC presents sistainability information on its own
impact and the enyironmental and social risks, impacts,
and outcomes of projects financed directly or through
finandial intermediaries that are comparable to other multi-
lateral development! banks. A specific effort is made by
IFC to assess its development results, notably through its
Development Outcorne Tracking System (DOTS).

COMPLETENESS

The Indicators reportJng perimeters aim to cover all relevant
IFC’s activities. An effort has been made this year to formal-
ize the definitions, ferimeters, and exclusion rules for the

Indicators, especially related to “Development effective-

ness of advisory serices” and the “Microfinance and SME
loans”. The perimeters actually covered by each indicator
have been indicated)in the comments next to the data in
the Annual Report.

NEUTRALITY AND CLARITY

IFC provides-information on the methodologies used to
establish the Indicators in the comments next to the pub-
lished data, in partiular for indicators related to “Carbon
footprint”, “investments in renewable energy and energy
efficiency”, "Microfigance and SME loans”, “Development
Results” in the related sections and on the IFC website
(links listed p.110).

RELIABILITY

The reporting tools and internal controls for the Indicators
related to "Investments in renewable energy and energy
efficiency” and “Development effectiveness of advisory
services” need to be strengthened and formalized in order
to be more adapted to their complexity and the significant
reliance on professional judgments of people entering or
validating the data.

The improvement of the Statements preparation pro-
cesses should be continued to ensure that the Statements
rely on the most up-do-date and accurate information.

CONCLUSION

For the Indicator related to "carben footprint”, IFC imple-
mented methodological changes and a new reporting tool
this year. We identified significant gaps between the carbon
footprint calcutated with this new tool and the requirements
of the Reporting Criteria. Due to time constraints, it was not
possible to check if all the inconsistencies were corrected.
Based on our review, and except for the above qualifica-
tion, nothing has come to our attention that causes us to
believe that:
~—the Indicators were not established, in all material
aspects, in accordance with the Reporting Criteria;
—the Statements were not presented, in all material
aspects, in accordance with "IFC’s Policy on Disclosure of
Information” and the principles of relevance, completeness,
neutrality and clarity, and reliability as defined by interna-
tional standards.

Paris-La Défense, France, August 25, 2010

Ell ERNST & YOUNG

Quality In Everything We Do

The Independent Auditors
ERNST & YOUNG et Associés

Eric Duvaud
Partner, Climate Change and
Sustainability Services
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acronyms
AGRA  Alliance for a Green Revolution in Africa
CAO  Compliance Advisor/Ombudsman
CAPRI  Capital Pricing and Risk

(economic capital approach)
CY  calendar year
DEG private sector arm of German
development agency KfW
DFI development finance institution

DFID  Department for International Development
of the United Kingdom
DOTS Development Outcome Tracking System
EBRD  European Bank for
Reconstruction and Development
FMO  Netherlands Development

Finance Company
FY  Fiscal Year

GBF  Grassroots Business Fund
GTLP  Global Trade Liquidity Program
IBRD International Bank for Reconstruction

and Development (World Bank)
ICF Infrastructure Crisis Facility
(IFC crisis-response facility)
IDA  International Development Association
IEG  Independent Evaluation Group
IFl  International Financial Institution
ILO  International Labour Organization

Kfw  Kreditanstalt fur Wiederaufbau
(German development agency)
LNG  Liquefied Natural Gas
MIGA  Multilateral Investment
Guarantee Agency
MSMEs  micro, small, and medium enterprises
OeEB  Oesterreichische Entwicklungsbank AG
(Austrian Development Bank)
PPP  Public-Private Partnership

PROPARCO Promotion et Participation pour la
Coopération Economique (development
finance institution of France)

small and medium enterprises

United Nations Educational,

Scientific and Cultural Organization

SMEs
UNESCO

letter to the
Board of Governors

The Board of Directors of IFC has had this annual report
prepared in accordance with the Corporation’s bylaws.
Robert B. Zoellick, President of IFC and Chairman of
the Board of Directors, has submitted this report with
the audited financial statements to the Board of Governors.

The Directors are pleased to report that for the fiscal year
ended June 30, 2010, IFC expanded its sustainable devel-
opment impact through private sector investments and
Advisory Services.
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web resources

IFC’'s Web site, www.ifc.org, provides com-
prehensive information on every aspect of
our activities. It includes contact informa-
tion for offices worldwide, news releases
and feature stories, data on results measure-
ment, disclosure documents for proposed
investments, and key policies and guidelines
affecting IFC and our client companies.

The online version of the IFC Annual
Report 2010 provides downloadable PDFs of
all materials in this volume and translations
as they become available. It is available at
www.ifc.org/annualreport. The Web site also
provides more information on sustainability,
including a Global Reporting Initiative index.

For more information on several key top-
ics, please visit the following Web Resources:

IFC's crisis-response initiatives
http://www.ifc.org/issuebriefs

Creating opportunity at the
Base of the Pyramid
http://www.ifc.org/TOS_baseofthepyramid

IFC's Women in Business Program
http://www.ifc.org/gem

Supporting women in business in Africa
http://www.ifc.org/
womenentrepreneursinafrica

Gender dimensions of investment
climate reform
http://www.ifc.org/GenderlC

Embedding gender in
sustainability reporting
http://www.ifc.org/genderreporting

IFC's June 2010 Corporate
Responsibility Forum
http://www.ifc.org/
CorporateResponsibilityForum

Addressing climate change
http://www.ifc.org/TOS_climatechange

IFC’s transportation strategies
http://www.ifc.org/
TransportationStrategies

IFC’s project mapping tooi
http://www.ifc.org/projectmappingtool

IFC's Better Work Program in Haiti
http://www.ifc.org/betterworkhaiti

IFC Performance Standards and
human rights
http://www.ifc.org/IBHRandIFCPoliciesPS

Food security

~ http://www.ifc.org/foodsecurity

Charting our Water Future
http://www.ifc.org/charting waterfuture

IFC in conflict-affected countries
http://www.ifc.org/
conflictaffectedcountries

Performance Standards
http://www.ifc.org/performancestandards

World Bank list of debarred firms
www.ifc.org/WBDebarredFirms

IFC footprint commitment
http://www.ifc.org/footprint



stakeholder review panel on 2010 Annual Report

IFC regularly engages with stakeholders on a variety of issues.

This year, we convened our first stakeholder review panel on the 2010
Annual Report. The panel was asked to assess IFC's identification of
material issues in the first draft. IFC found the feedback constructive,
and is committed to continuing our engagement with stakeholders

in order to receive more substantive commentary on future reports.
What follows is a summary of the meeting, which panelists agree
accurately describes the process and outcomes.

Engagement Process

We retained a neutral facilitator to manage the engagement process. There
were two goals: to advance mutual learning; and to assess IFC's identifi-
cation of material issues in the first draft of the report. “Materiality” was
defined as those aspects of IFC’s strategy, initiatives, and performance that
are important to communicate to [FC’s stakeholders and to demonstrate
our development impact. Panelists participated in a four-hour meeting for
a facilitated discussion with senior managers of IFC. Panelists subsequently
reviewed changes IFC made to the Annual Report based on their feed-
back. However, neither the panel nor any individual member endorsed or
approved the 2010 Annual Report. This engagement was neither an audit
nor verification.

Panelists’ Feedback

Panelists

IFC and the facilitator jointly selected the panelists by considering the fol-
lowing: understanding of IFC's work; expertise in areas of importance to IFC;
and geographic, gender, and issue diversity. IFC reimbursed the panelist's
expenses. The panel consisted of the following experts:

— Arvind Ganesan, Director, Business and Human Rights,

Human Rights Watch

—Frank Mantero, Director, Corporate Citizenship, General Electric
—Carol Peasley, President and CEO, Centre for Development and
Population Activities (CEDPA)

—Kavita Ramdas, President and CEO, Global Fund for Women

— Ruth Rosenbaum, Executive Director, Center for Reflection, Education
and Action (CREA)

—Ken Wilson, Executive Director, The Christensen Fund

— Simon Zadek, Visiting Senior Fellow, Harvard University's Kennedy Center

Panelists’ Suggestions and IFC's Response

The panel suggested several areas where the report could be strengthened
in terms of its format, including clarifying the unique role of IFC, and pro-
viding greater transparency about the challenges and dilemmas we face.
Additionally, some panelists offered recommendations that require further
discussion and examination. We will explore ways to address that feedback
in future reports. The panel appreciated IFC’s forthrightness at the meeting
and the changes IFC made in this year's report. The following summarizes
key themes and IFC's responses.

IFC’s Response

Discuss dilemmas of private sector development (such as palm oil), emphasizing
context, learning, and need to manage risks.

Discuss IFC's unique role and impact.

Clarify what IFC means by “sustainability.”

Provide more information on policy work and normative impact of standard-setting,
including an analysis of the relationship with external standards such as human
rights covenants.

Provide greater clarity about outcome-oriented approach to development.
Strengthen discussion about gender.

Discuss IFC's efforts to build “resilience.”

Address role of new market players in Africa.

Discuss youth.

Provide information on debarred companies.

Adopt a sound approach to placing content on the Web, providing links to more
detailed information on the Web.

Emphasize IFC's venture capital work to strengthen discussion of Base of
Pyramid work.

Use investment cycle chart to tell the story of a deal.

Addressed in introductory essays; “Lessons Learned” section expanded and moved
forward; text strengthened on examples, e.g., “The Financial Crisis—Shaping
IFC’s Strategy,” “IFC’s Approach to Palm Oil.”

Addressed in introductory essays; text strengthened, e.g., “Despite Crisis, IFC
Clients Expanded Jobs.”

Sustainability definition provided.

Addressed in introductory essays; expanded discussion of the IFC Sustainability
Framework Policy Review; added details on Better Work program; added Web link
to human-rights impact analysis and examples of impact.

Addressed in introductory essays; strengthened text on development resuilts,
including Advisory Services results.

"Focusing on Opportunities for Women” section revised and expanded to highlight
women, business, and the law; other text strengthened.

Addressed in introductory essays; new examples added, e.g., “Easing Poverty,
Fostering Stability with [nsurance.”

Focus of section changed to “Helping New Global Players Invest In Infrastructure;”
text on Mwalimu Nyerere Foundation project strengthened.

Story on “Helping Young Adults Gain Productive Jobs" strengthened to discuss
challenge of youth unemployment.

Web link provided to list of debarred companies.

About a dozen Web links were added, offering more details about the issues
raised here, provided as a box.

Strengthened text to “Inclusive Business—Opportunities At The Base Of The
Pyramid;” added Web link to “Telling our Story” on Creating Opportunity at the
Base of the Pyramid, but this work cannot be characterized as “venture capital.”

New text and chart provides more detail on 12 steps of the IFC investment cycle.
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Management's
Discussion
and Analysis

l. Overview

International Finance Corporation (IFC or the Corporation) is
an international organization, established in 1956, to further
economic growth in.its developing member countries by pro-
moting private sector development. IFC is a member of the
World Bank Group, which also comprises the International Bank
for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), the International
Development Association (IDA), the Multilateral Investment
Guarantee Agency {MIGA), and the International Centre for
Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID). It is a legal entity
separate and distinct from IBRD, IDA, MIGA, and ICSID, with its
own Articles of Agreement, share capital, financial structure, man-
agement, and staff. Membership in IFC is open only to member
countries of IBRD. As of June 30, 2010, {FC's entire share capital
was held by 182 member countries.

IFC's principal investment products are loans and equity invest-
ments, with smaller debt securities and guarantee portfolios. IFC

p2

also plays a catalytic role in mobilizing additional funding from
other investors and lenders, either through cofinancing or through
loan participations, underwritings, and guarantees. In addition to
project finance, corporate lending and resource mobilization, IFC
offers an array of financial products and advisory services to pri-
vate businesses in the developing world with a view to fulfilling its
developmental mission. It also advises member governments on
how to create an environment hospitable to the growth of private
enterprise and foreign investment. Unlike most other multilateral
institutions, IFC does not accept host government guarantees of
its exposures. IFC raises virtually all of the funds for its lending
activities through the issuance of debt obligations in the inter-
national capital markets, while maintaining a small borrowing
window with IBRD. Equity investments are funded from net worth.
During the year ended June 30, 2010 (FY10), IFC had an authorized
borrowing program of up to $9.5 billion, and up to $2.0 billion to
allow for possible prefunding during FY10 of the funding program
for the year ending June 30, 2011 (FY11).

IFC’s capital base and its assets and liabilities, other than its
equity investments, are primarily denominated in US dollars. IFC
seeks to minimize foreign exchange and interest rate risks by
closely matching the currency and rate bases of its liabilities in
various currencies with assets having the same characteristics.
IFC manages any hon-equity investment related residual currency
and interest rate risks by utilizing currency and interest rate swaps
and other derivative instruments.

The Management Discussion and Analysis contains forward
looking statements which may be identified by such terms as
“anticipates,” “believes,” "expects,” “intends,” “plans” or words
of similar meaning. Such statements involve a number of assump-
tions and estimates that are based on current expectations,
which are subject to risks and uncertainties beyond IFC's control.
Consequently, actual future results could differ materially from
those currently anticipated.

" ou
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MANAGEMENT’'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

ll. Financial Summary

BASIS OF PREPARATION OF IFC’S
CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The accounting and reporting policies of IFC conform to account-
ing principles generally accepted in the United States (US GAAP).

Up to and including the year ended June 30, 1999, IFC prepared
one set of financial statements and footnotes, complying with
both US GAAP and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS). However, principally due to material differences between
US Financial Accounting Standards Board’s (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 815, Derivatives and Hedg-
ing (Topic 815) (formerly FASB Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards No. 133, Accounting for Derivative Instruments and
Hedging Activities), and its counterpart in IFRS, IAS No. 39,
Financial Instruments Recognition and Measurement, it has not
been possible for IFC to satisfy the requirements of both US GAAP
and IFRS via one set of financial statements since the year ended
June 30, 2000.

IFC is actively monitoring developments related to accounting
standards and the primary basis for preparation of its consoli-
dated financial statements, ali with a view to the necessary systems
and controls to manage its various lines of business. IFC will pres-
ent its consolidated financial statements for FY10 in accordance
with US GAAP. IFC continues to plan to transition from US GAAP to
IFRS and will continue to re-evaluate the timetable for this transi-
tion during FY11. During FY10, IFC has continued to use account-
ing pronouncements that expand the use of fair values in its FY10
consolidated financial statements, broadly consistent with its
planned overall approach to the transition to IFRS. These account-
ing policies are discussed in more detail in Note A to IFC’s FY10
consolidated financial statements.

FINANCIAL PERFORMANCE SUMMARY

From year to year, IFC's net income is affected by a number of
factors, principally income generated from its equity investment
portfolio (principally dividends, realized capital gains on equity
sales and unrealized gains and losses on equity investments); the
magnitude of provisions for losses against its loans and guaran-
tees; impairment of equity investments; loans in nonaccrual status;
recoveries of interest on loans formerly in nonaccrual status; and
income from liquid assets.

A significant part of IFC’s liquid assets trading portfolio is
invested in fixed income securities, including asset-backed securi-
ties (ABS) and mortgage-backed securities (MBS) which are also
subject to external market factors that significantly affect the value
of such securities, adding variability to income.

Net income also includes net gains and losses on non-trading
financial instruments accounted for at fair value and grants to IDA.

IFC reported income before net losses on non-trading finan-
cial instruments and grants to IDA of $2,285 million in FY10, as
compared to a loss of $153 million in the year ended June 30,
2009 (FY09) and income of $1,938 million in the year ended
June 30, 2008 (FY08).

The significant improvement in income before net losses on
other non-trading financial instruments and grants to IDA in FY10
when compared to FY09 was principally as a result of a generally
improved operating environment for IFC’s investment and liquid
asset portfolios in FY10 as compared with that experienced in
FY09. This improved financial performance in FY10 when com-
pared to FYO9 resulted from: (i) lower impairment write-downs on
equity investments; (i) higher realized capital gains on equity sales
and unrealized gains on equity investments accounted for at fair
value in net income; (iii) lower provisions for losses on loans and
guarantees; (iv) higher income from liquid asset trading activities;
and (v} lower charges on borrowings.

IFC reported net losses on non-trading financial instruments of
$339 million in FY10 as compared with a net gain of $452 million
in FYO9 and a net gain of $109 million in FY08, resulting in income
before grants to IDA of $1,946 million in FY10, as compared to
$299 million in FY09 and $2,047 million in FYO08.

Grants to IDA totaled $200 million in FY10, as compared to
$450 million in FY09 and $500 million in FY08. Accordingly, net
income (in accordance with US GAAP) totaled $1,746 million in
FY10, as compared with a net loss of $151 million in FY09, and net
income of $1,547 million in FY08. ‘

IFC’s net income (loss) for the past five fiscal years ended
June 30, is presented below (US$ millions):

2006* L]
2007* L J
2008 L]
2009 -
2010 L J
-500 0 500 1,000 1,500 2,000 2,500 3,000

*As restated.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

il Financial Summary

The table below presents selected financial data for the last five fiscal years (in millions of US dollars, except where otherwise stated):

AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30

2010

2009

2008

2007

2006

Net income highlights:

Income from loans and guarantees $ 801 871 % 1,065 $ 1,062 804
(Provision) release of provision for losses on loans & guarantees (155) (438) (38) 43 (15)
Income (loss) from equity investments 1,638 - (42) 1,688 2,292 1,224
Of which:
Realized capital gains on equity sales 1,290 990 1,219 1,941 928
Dividends and profit participations 285 3n 428 385 323
Unrealized gains {losses) on equity investments 240 (299) 12 - -
Non-monetary gains on equity investments 28 14 177 - -
Equity investment impairment write-downs (203) (1,058) (140) (40) (57}
Other, net . (2) - 8 6 30
Income from debt securities 108 7 163 27 7
Income from liquid asset trading activities 815 474 473 618 444
Charges on borrowings (163) (488) (782) (801) (603)
Other income 176 153 13 99 109
Other expenses (743) (629) (555) (500) 477)
Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains on non-trading activities (82) 10 (39) (S) 6
Expenditures for advisory services (101) (129) (123) (96) (55)
Expenditures for PBG and IFC SME Ventures for IDA countries 9 6) (27) - (35)
Income (loss) before net gains and losses on other non-trading .
financial instruments accounted for at fair value and grants to IDA 2,285 (153) 1,938 2,739 1,409
Net (losses) gains on other non-trading financial instruments (339) 452 109 99) (145)
Income before grants to IDA 1,946 299 2,047 2,640 1,264
Grants to IDA (200) (450} (500) (150) -
Net income (loss) $ 1,746 (151 % 1,547 $ 2,490 1,264
Consolidated balance sheet highlights:
Total assets $ 61,075 51,483 § 49471 $ 40,599 38,547
Liquid assets, net of associated derivatives 21,001 17,864 14,622 13,269 12,730
Loans, equity investments, and debt securities, net 25,944 22,214 23,319 15,796 12,787
Borrowings drawn-down and outstanding, including fair value adjustments 31,106 2571 20,261 15,879 14,967
Total capital $ 18,359 16,122 $ 18,261 $ 14,017 11,141
Of which:
Undesignated retained earnings $ 14,307 12,251 § 12,366 % 10,604 7,868
Designated retained earnings 481 791 826 606 852
Capital stock 2,369 2,369 2,366 2,365 2,364
Accumulated other comprehensive income (AOCI) 1,202 71 2,703 442 57




MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS {l. Financial Summary

AS OF AND FOR THE YEARS ENDED JUNE 30 2010 2009 2008 2007 2006

Financial ratios:!

Return on average assets (GAAP basis)2 ' 3.1% 0.3)% 34% 6.3% 3.2%
Return on average assets (non-GAAP basis)3 3.8% (1.% 3.7% 8.6% 4.7%
Return on average capital (GAAP basis)4 10.1% (0.9)% 9.6% 19.8% 12.1%
Return on average capital (non-GAAP basis)5 11.8% (3.00% 9.0% 21.1% 13.3%
Cash and liquid investments as a percentage of next three years' estimated
net cash requirements 71% 75% 62% 85% 112%
External funding liquidity levelé 190% 163% 96% 95% n/a
Debt to equity ratio? 2.2:1 211 1.6:1 1.4 1.6:1
Total reserves against losses on loans to total disbursed portfolio8 7.4% 7.4% 5.5% 6.5% 8.3%
Capital measures:
Capital to risk-weighted assets ratio? n/a 44% 48% 57% 54%
Total Resources Required ($ billions)10 12.8 10.9 10.4 8.0 n/a
Total Resources Available ($ billions)11 16.8 14.8 15.0 13.8 n/a
Strategic capital12 4.0 39 4.6 5.8 n/a
Deployable strategic capitall3 23 2.3 34 4.4 n/a
Deployable Strategic Capital as a percentage of Total Resources Available 14% 16% 21% 32% n/a

-
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Certain financial ratios as described below are calculated excluding the effects of unrealized gains and losses on investments, other non-trading financial instruments, AOCI,
and impacts from consolidated Variable Interest Entities (VIEs).

Net income for the fiscal year as a percentage of the average of total assets at the end of such fiscal year and the previous fiscal year.

Net income excluding unrealized gains and losses on certain investments accounted for at fair value, income from consolidated VIEs, and net gains and losses on non-trading
financial instruments accounted for at fair value, as a percentage of total disbursed loan and equity investments (net of reserves) at cost, liquid assets net of repos, and other
assets averaged for the current period and previous fiscal year.

Netincome for the fiscal year as a percentage of the average of total capital (excluding payments on account of pending subscriptions) at the end of such fiscal year and the previous
fiscal year. )

Net income excluding unrealized gains and losses on certain investments accounted for at fair value, income from consolidated VIEs, and net gains and losses on non-trading
financial instruments accounted for at fair value, as a percentage of paid in share capital and retained earnings (before certain unrealized gains and losses and exclud-
ing cumulative designations not yet expensed) averaged for the current period and previous fiscal year.

Beginning June 30, 2007, IFC's liquidity policy was revised so that IFC is to maintain a minimum level of liquidity, consisting of proceeds from external funding to cover at least
65% of the sum of (i) 100% of committed but undisbursed straight senior loans; (i) 30% of committed guarantees; and (iii} 30% of committed client risk management products.

The ratio of outstanding borrowings plus outstanding guarantees to subscribed capital plus undesignated retained earnings (less cumulative unrealized gains and losses on
loans, equity investments, and other non-trading financial instruments accounted for at fair value in netincome) at the end of the fiscal year.

Total reserves against losses on loans to total disbursed loan portfolio is defined as reserve against losses on loans as a percentage of the total disbursed loan portfolio at the
end of the fiscal year.

The ratio of capital (including paid-in capital, retained earnings, and portfolio (general) loan loss reserves) to risk-weighted assets, both on- and off-balance sheet. The ratio
does not include designated retained earnings reported in total capital on IFC’s consolidated balance sheet. IFC's Board of Directors has approved the use of a risk-based
economic capital framework beginning in FY08. Parallel use of the capital to risk-weighted assets ratio has now been discontinued.

10 The minimum capital required consistent with the maintenance of IFC’s AAA rating. It is computed as the aggregation of risk-based economic capital requirements for each

asset class across the Corporation.

11 Paid in capital plus retained earnings net of designated retained earnings plus general and specific reserves against losses on loans. This is the level of available resources under

IFC’s risk-based economic capital adequacy framework.

12 Total resources available less total resources required.

13 90% of total resources available less total resources required.
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MANAGEMENT'S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IHI. Client Services

BUSINESS OVERVIEW

In partnership with private investors, IFC assists in financing the
establishment, improvement, and expansion of private sector
enterprises by making investments where sufficient private capital
is not otherwise available on reasonable terms. {FC seeks to bring
together domestic and foreign private capital and experienced
management and thereby create conditions conducive to the flow
of private capital (domestic and foreign) into productive invest-
ments in its developing member countries. In this way, IFC plays a
catalytic role in mobilizing additional funding from other investors
and lenders through parallel loans, loan participations, partial
credit guarantees, securitizations, loan sales, and risk sharing facil-
ities (core resource mobilization). In addition to project finance,
corporate lending and resource mobilization, IFC offers an array
of financial products and advisory services to private businesses
in the developing world with a view to fulfilling its developmental
mission. IFC also advises member governments on how to create
an environment hospitable to the growth of private enterprise and
foreign investment.

IFC's activities are guided by five strategic pillars: (i) strengthen-
ing the focus on frontier markets; (i) building enduring partner-
ships with clients in emerging markets; (iii) addressing climate
change and ensuring social and environmental sustainability;
(iv) promoting private sector growth in infrastructure, health,
education, and the food supply chain; and (v) developing local
financial markets. IFC's strategic priorities are aligned with the
World Bank Group's strategic directions.

INVESTMENTS

IFC’s investments are normally made in its developing member
countries. The Articles of Agreement mandate that IFC shall invest
in productive private enterprise. The requirement for private
ownership does not disqualify enterprises that are partly owned
by the public sector if such enterprises are organized under local
commercial and corporate law, operate free of host government
control in a market context and according to profitability criteria,
and/or are in the process of being totally or partially privatized.

IFC’'s main investment activity is project and corporate financ-
ing. This encompasses “greenfield” projects, expansions, and
modernizations. IFC also provides financing to selected compa-
nies for ongoing investment programs. In addition, IFC facilitates
financing through financial intermediaries, covering project and
general purpose lending and specialized lending products such
as leasing, trade, and mortgage finance. These financial inter-
mediaries function either as IFC's borrower, on-lending to private
sector companies at their own risk, or as IFC’s agent, identifying
companies for direct loans from IFC.

pb

IFC applies stringent tests of enterprise soundness, project
viability, additionality, and developmental impact in determining
the eligibility of projects for its investments.

IFC's investment cycle can be divided into twelve main stages:
Business development @ Board of Directors’ review
Early review and approval
Appraisal [due diligence) B Commitment
Investment review B Disbursement
Negotiations ® Project supervision
Public notification ® Evaluation

& Closing
IFC carefully supervises its projects to monitor project perfor-
mance and compliance with contractua!l obligations and with IFC's
internal policies and procedures. IFC's Board of Directors (Board
or Board of Directors) is informed of such matters and of recom-
mended courses of action at regular intervals.

ADVISORY SERVICES

Advisory services have become a more substantial and important
part of IFC’s business and a critical tool for extending IFC’s reach
and impact. IFC's advisory services cycle can be divided into
six main stages:

8 Business development
® Early review

B Appraisal

® Implementation/Supervision
® Project completion
® Evaluation

IFC ASSET MANAGEMENT COMPANY

IFC Asset Management Company LLP (AMC), a wholly-owned
subsidiary of IFC, mobilizes capital from outside IFC's traditional
investor pool. AMC serves as a fund manager and mobilizes third-
party capital to invest in its funds. IFC is a co-investor in such funds.

At June 30, 2010 (FY10-end) AMC has assets under manage-
ment! of $3.9 billion, $1,275 million in the IFC Capitalization
{(Equity) Fund, LP (the Equity Capitalization Fund); $1,725 million
in the IFC Capitalization (Subordinated Debt) Fund, L.P. (the Sub-
Debt Capitalization Fund); and $900 million in the IFC African,
Latin American and Caribbean Fund, L.P. (the ALAC Fund). The
Equity Capitalization Fund and the Sub-Debt Capitalization Fund
are collectively referred to as the Capitalization Funds.

The Capitalization Funds, established in FY09, are jointly funded
by $1 billion from IFC and $2 billion from a third-party investor: the
IFC Capitalization (Equity) Fund, L.P. (the Equity Capitalization
Fund); and the IFC Capitalization (Subordinated Debt) Fund, L.P.
(the Sub-Debt Fund).

The Equity Capitalization Fund and the Sub-Debt Capitalization
Fund are designed to support banks considered vital to the finan-
cial system of an emerging market country.

1 Assets under management are generally based upon how investment advisory
and administrative fees are calculated (including total assets, committed assets, or
other measures).
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As of June 30, 2010, IFC had disbursed $128 million and other
investors have disbursed $82 million to the Equity Capitalization
Fund (IFC: $13 million — June 30, 2009; other investors: $8 mil-
lion June 30, 2009). As of June 30, 2010, the fund has disbursed
$208 million to three investees ($20 million to one investee as of
June 30, 2009).

As of June 30, 2010, IFC and other investors have disbursed
$2 million to the Sub-Debt Capitalization Fund and no amounts
have been disbursed by the fund to investees.

The ALAC Fund was established in FY10 to make investments
in companies or other entities located in the Sub-Saharan Africa,
Latin America and/or the Caribbean. The ALAC Fund is currently
a $900 million fund, $180 million from IFC and $720 million from
five other third party investors.

As of June 30, 2010, IFC has disbursed $3 million and other
investors have disbursed $13 million to the ALAC Fund. As of
June 30, 2010, no amounts have been disbursed by the fund
to investees.

OTHER INITIATIVES

IFC has launched a series of initiatives to assist the private sector
address the challenges introduced by the global financial crisis
that began in FY09. These initiatives are expected to combine IFC
funds with contributions mobilized from various sources, including
governments and other international financial institutions. IFC's
initiatives are designed to address both the immediate and long-
term needs of IFC's clients.
IFC’s initiatives include:

Trade Finance

Launched in FY05, the Global Trade Finance Program (GTFP) pro-
vides guarantees for trade transactions in emerging markets, pri-
marily supporting small and medium enterprises. In addition, IFC
has launched a global trade liquidity program (GTLP), an initiative
that brings together governments, development finance institu-
tions, and commercial banks to provide funding for trade finance
in emerging markets. The GTLP commenced operations in the
fourth quarter of FY09.

IFC’s FY10 commitments include $3.5 billion ($2.4 billion — FY09)
relating to GTFP. IFC's FY10 commitments include $0.3 billion
{$0.5 billion - FY09), and FY10 resources mobilized include $1.6 bil-
lion ($1.4 billion — FYQ9), relating to GTLP.

Infrastructure

The Infrastructure Crisis Facility is a facility that includes debt and
equity components and provides short- to medium-term financ-
ing for infrastructure projects. It also includes advisory services
to help governments design or redesign public-private-
partnership projects.

Microfinance

The Microfinance Enhancement Facility (MEF) is designed to
address the challenge of restricted availability of micro-finance
services. As of June 30, 2010, IFC has approval to provide $150 mil-
lion to MEF and anticipates other investors would provide an addi-
tional $332 million.

i1, Client Services

Managing Troubled Assets

IFC has created a Debt and Asset Recovery Program to make
direct investments in entities with good fundamentals that require
debt restructuring as a result of the global financial crisis. The
program is to invest in nonperforming loan pools, select servicers,
and distressed asset funds, targeted in East Asia and the Pacific,
Latin America and the Caribbean, and Europe and Central Asia.

INVESTMENT PROGRAM SUMMARY

Commitments

In FY10, IFC entered into new commitments totaling $12.7 billion,
compared with $10.5 billion in FY09. In addition, IFC mobilized
resources totaling $5.4 billion, compared with $4.0 billion in FY09.
FY10 and FYO9 commitments and core resources mobilized (as
described in more detail in “Investment Products”) comprised
the following:

FY10 FY09
]

Commitments2

Loans $ 5721 % 5,959
Equity investments 2,974 2,069
Guarantees:

GTFP 3,464 2,380

Other 468 99
Client risk management 37 40
Total commitments $ 12664 % 10,547
B-loans $ 1,247 % 1,858
Structured finance 797 169
Parallel loans 734 374
Sales of loans and other mobilization 379 -
Total B-loans, structured finance, parallel

loans and other mobilization $ 3,157 § 2,401
AMC:

IFC Capitalization Equity Fund $ 18 §

IFC Capitalization Sub-debt Fund 65

IFC African, Latin American and }

Caribbean Fund 53 -
Total AMC $ 236 $ 8
Other initiatives:

Global Trade Liquidity Program 1,580 1,400
Debt and Asset Recovery Program 237 -
Microfinance Enhancement Facility 123 155
Infrastructure Crisis Facility 45 -
Total other initiatives 1,985 $ 1,555
Total core resource mobilization $ 5378 §$ 3,964
Core resource mobilization ratio 0.42 0.38

2 Debt security commitments are included in loans and equity investments based on
their predominant characteristics.
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DISBURSEMENTS

IFC disbursed $6.8 billion for its own account in FY10 ($5.6 billion in
FY09): $4.9 billion of loans ($4.4 billion in FY09), $1.6 billion of equity
investments ($1.1 billion in FY09), and $0.3 billion of debt securities
($0.1 billion in FY09).

DISBURSED INVESTMENT PORTFOLIO

IFC's total disbursed investment portfolio (a non-US GAAP perfor-
mance measure) was $25.4 billion at June 30, 2010 ($22.4 billion at
June 30, 2009), comprising the disbursed loan portfolio of $18.2 bil-
lion ($16.8 billion at June 30, 2009), the disbursed equity portfolio
of $5.4 billion ($4.1 billion at June 30, 2009), and the disbursed debt
security portfolio of $1.8 billion ($1.5 billion at June 30, 2009).

IFC's disbursed investment portfolio is diversified by sector and
geographic region with a focus on strategic high development
impact sectors such as financial markets and infrastructure.

The following charts show the distribution of the disbursed
investment portfolio by geographical region and sector as of
June 30, 2010, and June 30, 2009:

Distribution by Region

FY10 FY09
__Latin America and __ Latin America and
Caribbean Caribbean
__ Europe and
Central Asia . ~ Surope and
- . o
— Middle East and .
North Africa - — Niddle East and
— Sub-Saharan Africa — Sub-Saharan Africa
— Other ) " — Other
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Distribution by Sector

Finance and insurance

Electric power

Qil, gas and mining

Transportation and warehousing
Collective investment vehicles
Information

Food and beverages

Nonmetallic mineral product manufacturing
Chemicals

Industrial consumer products
Agriculture and. forestry

Utilities

Wholesale and retail trade

Health Care

Primary metals

Puip and paper

Accommodation and tourism services
Construction and real estate

Textiles, apparel and leather

Education services

30 35 40 45

o
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DISBURSED B-LOANS

The portfolio of disbursed and outstanding B-loans which are
serviced by IFC at June 30, 2010, totaled $6.3 billion, as compared
with $6.7 billion at June 30, 2009.

Additional information on IFC'’s investment portfolio as of and
for the years ended June 30, 2010, and June 30, 2009, can be
found in Notes B, D, E, F, G, H and | to IFC's FY10 consoclidated
financial statements.

Investment Products

LOANS

Loans generally have the following characteristics:

B Term: typically amortizing with final maturities generally for
seven to 12 years, although some loans have been extended
for tenors as long as 20 years.

W Currency: primarily in major convertible currencies, princi-
pally US dollar, and to a lesser extent, Euro, Swiss franc, and
Japanese yen, but with a growing local currency loan portfolio.

# |nterest rate: typically variable (or fixed and swapped
into variable).

@ Pricing: reflects such factors as market conditions and country
and project risks.
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IFC's loans traditionally have been made in major currencies,
based on client demand and on IFC's ability to hedge loans in
these currencies through the use of mechanisms such as cross-
currency swaps or forward contracts. Fixed-rate loans and loans
in currencies other than US dollars are normally economically
hedged, using currency and/or interest rate swaps, into US dollar
variable rate assets.

There has been a growing demand for IFC to offer local cur-
rency products. IFC typically offers local currency products in
other currencies where it can hedge the local currency loan cash
flows back into US dollars using swap markets. IFC’s disbursed
loan portfolio at June 30, 2010 includes $2.1 billion of currency
products denominated in Russian rubles, indian rupees, Chinese
renminbi, Philippine pesos, Colombian pesos, Indonesian rupiah,
South African rand, Brazilian reais, Mexican pesos, and New
Turkish lira ($1.2 billion at June 30, 2009).

IFC’s disbursed loan portfolio totaled $18.2 billion at June 30,
2010 ($16.8 billion at June 30, 2009). The carrying value of IFC’s
loan portfolio on IFC’s consolidated balance sheet (comprising the
disbursed loan portfolio together with adjustments as detailed in
Note D to IFC’s FY10 Consolidated Financial Statements) grew 9%
to $16.7 billion at June 30, 2010 ($15.3 billion at June 30, 2009).

Loans comprise 72% of the disbursed investment portfolio
as of June 30, 2010 (75% at June 30, 2009) and 64% of the carry-
ing value of the investment portfolio as of June 30, 2010 (69% at
June 30, 2009). )

At June 30, 2010, 74% (74% at June 30, 2009) of IFC's disbursed
loan portfolio was US dollar-denominated.

The currency composition of the disbursed loan portfolio at
June 30, 2010, and June 30, 2009, is shown below:

Currencies

US dollars

Euro

Russian rubles
Indian rupees
Chinese renminbi
Philippine pesos
Colombian pesos
Indonesian rupiah
South African rand
Brazilian reais
Mexican pesos
New Turkish lira
Other

______________________________}
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]

]
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$
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$

!
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IIl. Client Services

EQUITY INVESTMENTS

IFC's equity investments are typically in the form of common or
preferred stock which is not mandatorily redeemable by the issuer
or puttable to the issuer by IFC and are usually denominated in the
currency of the country in which the investment is made.

IFC’s disbursed equity portfolio totaled $5.4 billion at June 30,
2010 ($4.1 billion at June 30, 2009), an increase of 32%.

The carrying value of IFC's equity investment portfolio (com-
prising the disbursed equity portfolio together with adjustments
as detailed in Note D to IFC’s FY10 Consolidated Financial
Statements) grew 42% to $7.5 billion at June 30, 2010 (35.3 billion
at June 30, 2009).

The fair value of IFC's equity portfolio3 was $11.0 billion at
June 30, 2010 ($8.5 billion at June 30, 2009).

Equity investments accounted for 21% of IFC’s disbursed invest-
ment portfolio at June 30, 2010, compared with 18% at June 30,
2009 and 29% of the carrying value of the investment portfolio at
June 30, 2010 (24% at June 30, 2009).

DEBT SECURITIES

Debt securities are typically in the form of bonds and notes
issued in bearer or registered form, securitized debt obligations
(e.g., ABS, MBS, and other collateralized debt obligations) and
preferred shares, which are mandatorily redeemable by the issuer
or puttable to the issuer by IFC.

IFC’s disbursed debt security portfolio totaled $1.8 billion at
June 30, 2010 ($1.5 billion at June 30, 2009).

The carrying value of IFC's debt securities portfolio (compris-
ing the disbursed debt security portfolio together with adjust-
ments as detailed in Note D to IFC’'s FY10 Consolidated Financial
Statements) was $1.8 billion at June 30, 2010 ($1.5 billion at
June 30, 2009).

Debt securities accounted for 7% of IFC's disbursed investment
portfolio at June 30, 2010 (7% at June 30, 2009) and 7% of the
carrying value of the investment portfolio at June 30, 2010 (7% at
June 30, 2009).

GUARANTEES AND PARTIAL CREDIT GUARANTEES

IFC offers partial credit guarantees to clients covering, on a risk-
sharing basis, client obligations on bonds and/or loans. IFC's
guarantee is available for debt instruments and trade obligations
of clients and covers commercial as well as noncommercial risks.
IFC will provide local currency guarantees, but when a guarantee
is called, the client will generally be obligated to reimburse IFC in
US dollar terms. Guarantee fees are consistent with IFC's loan pric-
ing policies. During FY10, IFC signed $2.7 billion of guarantees,
$2.1 billion in FY09.

3 Including “equity-like” securities classified as debt securities in IFC's consolidated
balance sheet and equity-related options.
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CORE RESOURCE MOBILIZATION

Core Resource mobilization is defined as financing from entities
other than IFC that becomes available to clients due to IFC's direct
involvement in raising resources. IFC finances only a portion, usu-
ally not more than 25%, of the cost of any project. All IFC-financed
projects, therefore, require other financial partners. IFC mobilizes
such private sector finance from other entities through loan partic-
ipations, parallel loans, partial credit guarantees, securitizations,
loan sales, and risk sharing facilities. In FY09, IFC launched AMC
and a number of other initiatives, each with a core resource mobili-
zation component, and revised its resource mobilization definition
accordingly to include these in the measure. The components of
core resource mobilization are as follows:

B-Loans

The principal direct means by which IFC mobilizes such private
sector finance is through the sale of participations in its loans
(B-loans), known as the B-loan program. Through the B-loan pro-
gram, IFC has worked primarily with commercial banks but also
with nonbank financial institutions in financing projects since the
early 1960s.

Whenever it participates a loan, IFC will always make a loan for
its own account (an A-loan), thereby sharing the risk alongside its
loan participants. IFC acts as the lender of record and is respon-
sible for the administration of the entire loan, including the B-loan.
IFC charges fees to the borrower at prevailing market rates to
cover the cost of the B-loan.

B-loan commitments were $1,247 million in FY10 ($1,858 million
in FY09).

Structured Finance

Structured finance comprises partial credit guarantees, securitiza-
tions and risk sharing facilities. Structured finance commitments,
net, defined as the amount of financing with a risk position equal
to, or senior to, that of IFC's risk participation in the transaction,
totaled $797 million in FY10 ($169 million in FY09).

Parallel Loans

Loans from other financial institutions that IFC helped raise for
clients and received a fee, but for which IFC is not the lender of
record, arranged by IFC in FY10 were $734 million ($374 million
in FYQ9).

Sales of Loans and Other Mobilization

Loans originally disbursed and reported on IFC’s balance sheet
that were subsequently sold and other mobilization totaled
$379 million in FY10 ($0 in FYQ9).

e1C
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AMC

Amounts committed by investors other than IFC through Funds
managed by AMC totaled $236 million in FY10 ($8 million — FY09),
comprising $118 million in respect of the Equity Capitalization
Fund ($8 million = FY09), $65 million in respect of the Subordinated
Debt Capitalization Fund ($0 - FY09), and $53 miillion in respect of
ALAC Fund ($0 - FY09). )

OTHER INITIATIVES

Amounts committed by entities other than IFC to IFC's other initia-
tives totaled $1,985 million in FY10, comprising: $1,580 million in
respect of GTLP ($1,400 million — FY09); $237 million in respect of
the Debt and Asset Recovery Program ($0 — FY09); $123 million in
respect of the Microfinance Enhancement Facility ($155 million —
FYQ9); and $45 million in respect of the Infrastructure Crisis Facility
($0 - FY09).

CORE RESOURCE MOBILIZATION RATIO

The core resource mobilization ratio is defined as:

Loan participations + parallel loans + sales of loans +
non-IFC investment part of structured finance +
non-IFC commitments in initiatives +
non-IFC investments committed in funds managed by AMC

Commitments (IFC investments +
IFC portion of structured finance +
IFC commitments in new initiatives +
IFC investments committed in funds managed by AMC)

For each dollar that IFC committed, IFC mobilized (in the form
of B-loans, parallel loans, sales of loans, the non-IFC portion of
structured finance and the non-IFC commitments in initiatives, and
the non-IFC investments committed in funds managed by AMC)
$.42in FY10 ($0.38 in FY09).

CLIENT RISK MANAGEMENT PRODUCTS

IFC provides derivative products to its clients to allow them to
hedge their interest rate, currency or commodity price exposures.
IFC intermediates between its developing country clients and
derivatives market makers in order to provide IFC's clients with full
market access to risk management products.
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ADVISORY SERVICES

Advisory services have become a more substantial and important
part of IFC's business and a critical tool for extending IFC'’s reach
and expanding IFC’s impact. Advisory services contribute sig-
nificantly to IFC's additionality by improving the business enabling
environment for the private sector as well as the capabilities of
private firms and service providers. IFC provides such services
to promote sustainable private sector investment in developing
countries. Through this work, which is funded in partnership with
governments and other donors, IFC contributes to development
where opportunities for development may be limited.

Through June 30, 2010, IFC's advisory services were organized
into five business lines.

B Investment Climate: to help governments of developing and
transitional countries improve the operating environment
for businesses.

B Access to Finance: to help increase the availability and afford-
ability of financial services, focusing particularly on micro, small,
and medium enterprises.

® Corporate Advice: to offer corporate advice to existing and
potential investment clients.

B Environment and Social Sustainability: to promote the large-
scale adoption of business models that are both profitable and
good for the environment and social development.

W Infrastructure Advice: to help generate investment opportuni-
ties that result in long-term economic growth and better living
standards for IFC’s client countries.

To strengthen client and strategic focus, beginning July 1, 2010,
IFC’s advisory services business lines were reorganized as follows:
B The former Corporate Advice and Environmental and

Social Sustainability business lines were consolidated into

[Il. Client Services

a Sustainable Business Advisory business line, providing a one-

stop-shop for AS with real sector clients.

B The former Infrastructure Advice business line was re-positioned
into the Public-Private Partnership (PPP) Transaction Advisory
business line, recognizing its focus on support to governments
in designing and implementing PPP transactions in sectors that
went beyond infrastructure.

B The Investment Climate and Access to Finance business lines
remained substantially unchanged, focusing on support to gov-
ernments and to financial intermediary clients, respectively.
Donor funds mobilized (new signed commitments) for advisory

services in FY10 totaled $181 million.

The advisory services portfolio at June 30, 2010 included
736 projects with an approved value of $859 million. 226 new proj-
ects were approved in FY10, with an approved value of $206 million.’

Assets held in Trust Funds pending utilization in advisory services
business at June 30, 2010, and June 30, 2009, including $191 million
at June 30, 2010 ($187 million at June 30, 2009) of funds provided by
IFC in its capacity as a donor are summarized below (US$ millions):

June 30,2010 June 30, 2009
|

Executed by IFC(*) $ 904 $ 662
Recipient-executed(*) 8 12
Financial intermediary fund - 3
Total $ 912 % 677

(") includes donor funds for investments.
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IV. Treasury Services

LIQUID ASSETS

IFC invests its liquid assets portfolio in highly rated fixed and float-
ing rate instruments issued by, or unconditionally guaranteed by,
governments, government agencies and instrumentalities, mul-
tilateral organizations, and high quality corporate issuers; these
include ABS and MBS, time deposits, and other unconditional
obligations of banks and financial institutions. Diversification
in multiple dimensions ensures a favorable risk return profile.

FAIR VALUE

PORTFOLIO ($ BILLIONS)* COMPRISING MANAGED BY

IFC manages the market risk associated with these investments
through a variety of hedging techniques including derivatives,
principally currency and interest rate swaps and financial futures.
IFC's liquid assets are invested in five separate portfolios, inter-
nally named PO through P4. All five portfolios are accounted for as
trading portfolios.
IFC's liquid assets portfolio can be summarized as follows:

INVESTED IN BENCHMARK

PO $0.5 Proceeds from discount note IFC's Treasury  Money market instruments Overnight US dollar LIBID
(30.8) program and cash inflows from Department
investment operations
P1 $13.1 Proceeds from market borrowings  IFC's Treasury  Principally global government bonds, Custom-created index of a series
($10.4) invested pending disbursementof ~ Department ABS, bank deposits, and high quality  of six, equally weighted 6-month
operational loans corporate bonds generally swapped  LIBID deposits that mature on the
into 3-month US dollar LIBOR 15th of each month —average life
of 3months**
P2 $6.1 Primarily IFC’s paid-in capitai IFC's Treasury ~ US Treasuries, ABS, and other Lehman Brothers
($5.7) and accumulated earnings that Department sovereign and agency issues US 1-3 year maturity
have not been invested in equity Treasury Index***
and quasi-equity investments or
fixed-rate loans
P3 $0.7 An outsourced portion of the External Global government bonds and other ~ Same as for P1
($0.5) P1 portfolio managers high quality corporate bonds as well
appointed as mortgage-backed securities
by IFC
P4 $0.6 An outsourced portion of the External Global government bonds, and other  Sames as for P2
($0.5) P2 portfolio managers high quality corporate bonds as well
appointed as mortgage-backed securities
by IFC
Total $21.0bn
($17.9 bn)

*at June 30, 2010 (June 30, 2009)

**The net duration of the P1 and P3 benchmarks is approximately 0.25 years.

***The net duration of the P2 and P4 benchmark is 1.9 years. The benchmark was changed on March 31, 2009 from the Lehman Intermediate Treasury index, which had a duration

of approximately 3.8 years.

pl2




MANAGEMENT’S DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

IFC has a flexible approach to managing the liquid assets
portfolios by making investments on an aggregate portfolio
basis against its benchmark within specified risk parameters. In
implementing these portfolio management strategies, IFC uti-
lizes derivative instruments, including futures and options, and
takes positions in various sectors and countries. All positions are
swapped back into US dollars.

All liquid assets are managed according to an investment
authority approved by IFC's Board of Directors and investment
guidelines approved by IFC's Corporate Risk Committee, a sub-
committee of IFC’'s Management Team.

A P6 portfolio was created in FYO08 in support of IFC's local cur-
rency lending capabilities. The P6 portfolio contains the proceeds
of liquidity raised in local currency prior to disbursement and is
managed by IFC's Treasury Department against local interbank
rate indices. At June 30, 2010 this portfolio contained short-term
money market instruments denominated in Brazilian reais, Russian
rubles and Mexican pesos. The P6 portfolio totaled $0.3 billion
at June 30, 2010 ($0.4 billion at June 30, 2009). A P7 portfolio was
created in FY10, which contains the after-swap proceeds from
variable-rate borrowings denominated and invested in Euros. The
P7 portfolio was less than $10 million at June 30, 2010.

FUNDING RESOURCES

IFC’s funding resources (comprising borrowings, capital and
retained earnings) as of June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009 are
as follows:

FY10 FY09

_ &errl?ev{mgs from __ Borrowings from
sources market sources
Discount Note
/ Program

c— -~ BOrrowing from IBRD
SENERIB — Paid-in capital

— — Borrowing from IBRD

RS . capital

. — Retained earnings Retained earnings

IV. Treasury Services

Borrowings

The major source of IFC’s borrowings is the international capital
markets. Under the Articles of Agreement, IFC may borrow in the
public markets of a member country only with approvals from
that member and also the member in whose currency the borrow-
ing is denominated. IFC borrowed (after the effect of borrowing-
related derivatives) $8.8 billion during FY10 ($9.1 billion in FY09
and $6.2 billion in FYO08). In addition, IFC's Board of Directors has
authorized the repurchase and/or redemption of debt obligations
issued by IFC, which enhances the liquidity of IFC’s borrowings.
During FY10, IFC repurchased and retired $0.9 billion of outstand-
ing debt ($1.05 billion in FY09; $43 million in FY08), generating
gains on buybacks of $62 million in FY10 ($61 million — FY09; $2 mil-
lion — FYO08).

IFC diversifies its borrowings by currency, country, source, and
maturity to provide flexibility and cost-effectiveness. IFC also has
a developmental role in helping open up new domestic markets to
foreign issuers in its member countries. In FY10 IFC borrowed in
eleven currencies and in final maturities ranging from 1 to 30 years.
Outstanding market borrowings have remaining maturities rang-
ing from less than one year to approximately 30 years, with a
weighted average remaining contractual maturity of 6.5 years at
June 30, 2010 (7.3 years at June 30, 2009). Actual maturities may
differ from contractual maturities due to the existence of call fea-
tures in certain of IFC's borrowings.

Market borrowings are generally swapped into floating-rate
obligations denominated in US dollars. As of June 30, 2010, IFC
had gross payables from borrowing-related currency swaps of
$13.7 billion ($12.7 billion at June 30, 2009} and from borrowing-
related interest rate swaps in the notional principal payable
amount of $23.1 billion ($16.5 billion at June 30, 2009). After the
effect of these derivative instruments is taken into consideration,
98% of IFC's market borrowings at June 30, 2010 were vari-
able rate US dollar-denominated, substantially unchanged from
June 30, 2009.

IFC’s mandate to help develop domestic capital markets can
result in providing local currency funds for onlending to its cli-
ents rather than being swapped into US dollars. At June 30, 2010,
$0.3 billion of non-US dollar-denominated market borrowings in
Chinese renminbi and C.F.A. francs were used for such purposes.
In addition, the $0.1 billion Brazilian reais borrowing funded a
non-investment portfolio loan as opposed to being swapped into
US dollars. : .

The weighted average cost of market borrowings after currency
and interest rate swap transactions was 0.5% at June 30, 2010 (1.4%
at June 30, 2009).

In the fourth quarter of FY09, IFC launched a short term discount
note program to provide an additional liquidity management tool
for IFC and to support certain of IFC's crisis response initiatives.
The discount note program provides for issuances with maturities
ranging from overnight to one year. At June 30, 2010, $1.4 billion
was outstanding under this program ($0 - June 30, 2009).
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Capital and Retained Earnings
As of June 30, 2010, IFC's total capital as reported in IFC's con-
solidated balance sheet amounted to $18.4 billion, up from the
June 30, 2009 level of $16.1 billion. At June 30, 2010, total capital
comprised $2.4 billion of paid-in capital, substantially unchanged
from June 30, 2009, $14.8 billion of retained earnings ($13.0 billion
at June 30, 2009), and $1.2 billion of accumulated other compre-
hensive income ($0.7 billion at June 30, 2009).

As of June 30, 2010 and 2009, IFC’s authorized capital was
$2.45 billion, of which $2.37 billion was subscribed and paid in.

Special Capital Increase
On July 20, 2010, the Board of Directors recommended that the
Board of Governors approve an increase in the authorized share
capital of IFC of $130 million, to $2,580 million, and the issuance of
$200 million of shares (including $70 million of unallocated shares).
The Board of Governors also recommended that the Board of
Governors approve an increase in Basic Votes aimed at enhanc-
ing the voice and participation of developing and transition
countries (DTCs) and requiring an amendment to IFC's Articles
of Agreement. Currently the voting power of each IFC member is
the sum of its Basic Votes, fixed at 250 votes per member, and its
share votes, with one vote for each share of IFC stock held. At pres-
ent, Basic Votes represent 1.88% of total IFC voting power. Once
the amendment to the Articles of Agreement becomes effec-
tive, the Basic Votes of each member shall be the number of votes
that results from an equal distribution among all members of
5.55% of the aggregate sum of the voting power of all members.
The above is expected to result in a shift of the voting power to
DTCs by 6.07% to 39.48%.

Designations of Retained Earnings
Beginning in the year ended June 30, 2004 (FY04), IFC began
a process of designating retained earnings to increase its sup-
port of advisory services and, subsequently, for performance-
based grants (year ended June 30, 2005 (FY05)), grants to IDA
(year ended June 30, 2006 (FY06)), the Global Infrastructure
Project Development Fund (FY08), and IFC SME Ventures for IDA
Countries (FY08). The levels and purposes of retained earnings
designations are set based on Board-approved principles, which
are applied each year to assess IFC's financial capacity and to
determine the maximum levels of retained earnings designations.
Amounts available to be designated are determined based on
a Board-approved income-based formula and, beginning in FY08,
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on a principles-based Board-approved financial distribution policy,
and are approved by IFC's Board of Directors. Expenditures for
the various approved designations are recorded as expenses in
IFC’s consolidated income statement in the year in which they
occur, and have the effect of reducing retained earnings desig-
nated for this specific purpose.

On August 5, 2009, IFC’s Board of Directors approved a desig-
nation of $200 million of IFC’s retained earnings for grants to IDA
and concurrently reallocated $70 million of the unutilized balances
of prior year designations relating to performance-based grants,
$70 million of the unutilized balances of prior year designations
relating to the Global Infrastructure Project Development Fund
and $60 million of the unutilized balances relating to IFC SME
Ventures for IDA countries. On October 7, 2009, IFC's Board of
Governors noted with approval the designations and realloca-
tions approved by IFC's Board of Directors on August 5, 2009.
Accordingly, IFC recorded $200 million as an expense for grants
to IDA in IFC's FY10 consolidated income statement, leaving a
remaining indicative program for Grants to IDA for the IDA 15
replenishment of up to $600 million.

On June 23, 2010, IFC’s Board of Directors approved a transfer
of $5 million of the unutilized balance of prior period designations
relating to performance-based grants to advisory services.

At June 30, 2010, retained earnings comprised $14.3 billion of
undesignated retained earnings ($12.3 billion at June 30, 2009;
and $12.4 billion at June 30, 2008), $0.3 billion of retained earnings
designated for advisory services ($0.4 billion at June 30, 2009; and
$0.4 billion at June 30, 2008), $0.1 billion of retained earnings des-
ignated for PBG ($0.2 billion at June 30, 2009; 0.2 billion at June 30,
2008), less than $0.05 billion of retained earnings designated for
the Global Infrastructure Project Development Fund ($0.1 bil-
lion at June 30, 2009; $0.1 billion at June 30, 2008), and less than
$0.05 billion of retained earnings designated for IFC SME Ventures
for IDA countries ($0.2 billion at June 30, 2009; and $0.2 billion at
June 30, 2008).

FY10 Designations

On August 5, 2010, IFC's Board of Directors approved a desig-
nation of $600 million of IFC's retained earnings for grants to IDA
and $10 million of IFC's retained earnings for advisory services.
These designations are expected to be noted with approval by the
Board of Governors, and thereby concluded in FY11.
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V. Enterprise Risk
Management

In executing its sustainable private sector development business,
IFC assumes various kinds of risks. IFC's management has defined
a comprehensive enterprise risk management framework, within
which it recognizes six main risk groupings: strategic and repu-
tational risk, credit risk, financial risk, operational risk, environ-
mental and social risk, and legal risk. The Risk Management Vice
Presidency has oversight responsibility for credit, financial and
operational risk. Environmental and social risk is managed by the
Advisory Services Vice Presidency while legal risk is overseen by
the General Counsel Vice Presidency. The Corporation proactively
manages all aforementioned risk categories through a Corporate
Risk Committee, a subset of the Management Team, which reviews
all risk policies and sets risk standards for the Corporation. The
Corporate Operations Committee, a subset of the Management
Group, has oversight for strategic and reputational risk in both
investment and advisory activities.

Active management of these risks is a key determinant of IFC's
success and its ability to maintain a stable capital and earnings
base, and is an essential part of its operations. As part of its enter-
prise risk management framework, IFC has adopted several key
financial and exposure policies.

FY10 ENTERPRISE RISK HIGHLIGHTS

After the stand-alone Risk Management Vice Presidency was
established in FY07, the risk management function in IFC have
continued to be enhanced in FY10 through integration and

expansion of existing functions and in some cases, establishing

new capacity for additional functions.

The global financial crisis has highlighted the critical impor-
tance of ensuring a sound financial structure and the urgent need
for more proactive risk management practices. Through FY10, IFC
continued to dedicate significant additional resources to all areas
of risk management.

The principal measures IFC has taken in this regard include:

W Improving and developing the tools and models needed for
measuring risk and developing a forward-looking framework
to allow for better management of capital adequacy, liquid-
ity and resource utilization through the Integrated Risk
Management Department which is mandated to work closely
with Investment Departments and the Treasury Department on
assessing and managing credit, market and liquidity risk on an
enterprise-wide basis.

® Continuing to expand IFC’'s operational risk assessment
and management capabilities, including the roll out of Risk and
Control Self Assessment for all significant business processes.

8 Continuing to streamline and strengthen operating processes
and enhancing reporting effectiveness and accountability
through an ongoing Business Process Improvement initiative.

® Continuing to strengthen internal controls especially around
accounting and financial reporting, advisory service activities,
and information technology expenditures.

B Enhancing the existing framework for economic capital, risk
adjusted return on capital and asset allocation to allow for a
forward-looking management of capital adequacy.

B Developing and/or implementing important risk management
tools including enhanced risk rating systems for early risk identi-
fication and heightened portfolio supervision. These tools allow
for greater decentralization and more accountability for pricing,
performance measurement and portfolio management.

Strategic
B Additionality
B Devt Impact
® Strategic Fit

Credit
® Customer

& Country

® Counterparty
8 Sector
®Product

Financial
B Market
® Liquidity
®Funding

Environmental and Social

Legal

Operational
®People

B Systems

B Processes
WExternal Events

Reputational
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IFC has been experiencing strong growth in all its businesses
and is focused on implementing its strategic objective of becom-
ing a client-driven organization, providing global knowledge and
local expertise with decentralized decision- making. In parallel,
IFC has stepped up its efforts to maintain asset quality, enhance
the independence of its risk management function, and reaffirm the
enterprise-wide nature of its mandate.

In line with IFC’s decentralization strategy, there is an increased
shift of risk functions to key field offices and a mapping of
Washington, DC-based risk specialists to regions. During FY10,
IFC increased risk management staffing and placed credit risk
and special operations officers and other risk disciplines in the
Hong Kong, Istanbul and Johannesburg regional hubs in order to
improve the timeliness and quality of the risk decisions process.
At the same time, risk standards and controls are continuing to be
centrally managed.

During FY10, IFC increased its focus on proactive portfolio
management by continuing to reach out to clients to help them
assess their vulnerabilities in light of the global economic crisis.

. Throughout the year, a number of stress tests were performed to
review risks in [FC's investment portfolio.

The comprehensiveness of the risk process at IFC necessitates
reviews of economic and social risks, corporate governance stan-
dards, and integrity risk of clients, in addition to the more tradi-
tional credit quality and operational concerns.

tFC’s risk management framework has allowed the Corporation
to respond quickly and effectively to the global economic crisis.

In FY10, the Integrated Risk Management Department pre-
pared an integrated risk management framework report for the
Board to provide an integrated and holistic picture of risk man-
agement activities within IFC and is working towards aligning this
report with the annual integrated risk monitoring report prepared
by IBRD starting in FY11.

STRATEGIC AND REPUTATIONAL RISK

IFC defines strategic risk as the potential reputation, financial, and
other consequences of a failure to achieve its strategic mission
and, in particular, its sustainable development mandate.

The overall management of strategic risk is effected through
the definition and implementation of an annual strategy for meet-
ing IFC’s mission and guidelines for its investment operations,
advisory services, and treasury activities. The strategy is devel-
oped with Senior Management by the Corporate Strategy
Department, and is approved by the Board of Directors. The
Independent Evaluation Group conducts ex post evaluations of
the implementation of IFC's strategy on an ongoing basis.

IFC's commitment to quality enterprise risk management, par-
ticularly on the environment and social front, continues to gain
acceptance with our strategic partners, as the "Equator Principles”
announced in FYO5 have now become an established standard for
financial institutions engaged in finance in the emerging markets.
Responsibility for managing these economic and social risk prin-
ciples, both internally and in liaison with other financial institutions
rests with the Environment and Social Development Department.

In addition, IFC addresses corporate governance risks by
assessing its clients’ commitment to, and implementation of,
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good corporate governance regimes as part of the investment
process. IFC is focused on ensuring that the evolving principles
of corporate governance are accepted and practiced by our
clients, and great emphasis is placed on leading in the develop-
ment of these standards in this area. The Development Financial
Institution (DFI) Statement on corporate governance of FY09 has
led to an effort to develop a common set of tools, based on IFC's
corporate governance methodology, for assessing corporate gov-
ernance for adoption by DFls. Responsibility for managing corpo-
rate governance (both internally and within the operations of our
clients’ operations) rests with the Corporate Governance unit of
the Department of Corporate Advice.

More broadly, the responsibility for management of the integ-
rity and reputational risks associated with the selection of clients
and partners rests with the operational departments. Support and
knowledge sharing are provided by the Business Risk Department.

Communication activities related to reputational risk are man-
aged by the Corporate Relations Department, which provides
advice on strategic and crisis communications to mitigate and
manage the potential and actual reputation risk both at the corpo-
rate and the project level throughout the investment cycle.

Given the nature and scope of products and services that IFC
provides its clients in furtherance of its development mandate,
operational or business conflicts of interest can arise in the normal
course of its activities. IFC recognizes that adverse reputational,
client-relationship and other implications can arise if such con-
flicts are not properly managed. In order to properly manage
operational or business conflicts, IFC has implemented processes
directed at (i) the identification of such conflicts as and when they
arise {ii) the application of mitigation measures specifically tailored
to the circumstances pertaining to the identified conflicts.

The key guiding principles and policies established as part of
the framework for managing strategic risk are as follows:

Guiding Principles for IFC’s Operations
Catalytic role: IFC will seek above all to be a catalyst in facilitat-
ing productive investments in the private sector of its developing
member countries. It does so by mobilizing financing from both
foreign and domestic investors from the private and public sectors.
Business partnership: IFC functions like a business in partner-
ship with the private sector. Thus, IFC takes the same commercial
risks as do private institutions, investing its funds under the disci-
pline of the marketplace.
Additionality: IFC participates in an investment only when it can
make a special contribution not offered or brought to the deal by
other investors.

IFC Sanctions Procedures

In FYO7, IFC established a set of procedures to sanction parties
involved in IFC projects committing corrupt, fraudulent, collusive,
coercive or obstructive practices. In April 2010 the World Bank
Group concluded an agreement with other multilateral develop-
ment banks (MDBs) whereby entities debarred by one MDB may
be sanctioned for the same misconduct by the other participating
development banks. The enhanced emphasis on combating fraud
and corruption does not change the high expectations IFC has
always held for its staff, clients and projects, including due dili-
gence and commitment to good corporate governance.
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FY10 STRATEGIC RISK HIGHLIGHTS

IFC’s Environmental and Social Policies have become widely rec-
ognized as best practice with 10 further international commercial
banks adopting them in the form of the Equator Principles. To
date and as of August 5, 2010, 68 leading international financial
institutions have adopted these principles, including 17 from
emerging markets.

IFC defines environment and social risk as the risk that IFC's
sustainability policy and performance standards are not achieving
their objectives.

IFC integrates environment and social risk management
throughout its investment cycle and helps companies (primarily in
IFC's loan and equity portfolios, but also in advisory services) pro-
actively identify, avoid and address risks in the following key ways:
B Environment and social due diligence (including risk analysis)

B Project-specific advice to meet IFC environmental and
social standards.

B Project-specific business risk management services.

® Guidance and training for commercial banks, private equity
funds and other financial intermediaries.

® Annual monitoring and continuous improvement of environ-
mental, social and business performance.

W Assurance to shareholders and stakeholders.

IFC's Environment and Social Department develops environ-
mental and social standards and assesses risk for all projects
and for IFC as a whole in addition to maintaining a quantitative
and qualitative methodology of risk rating IFC's investment
portfolio through the Environmental and Social Risk Rating
score. In 2006, IFC introduced an internal Environment and Social
Management System, to ensure that IFC's Performance Standards
and Disclosure Policy are applied correctly and systematically by
IFC in every investment project, with quality in implementation
and a focus on the outcome that the clients must achieve.

In light of the financial crisis, IFC has increased environmental
and social supervision visits and interactions with clients based
upon portfolio stress testing. IFC's Performance Standards are
a global good adopted by other commercial banks through the
Equator Principles. IFC periodically updates its Sustainability
Policy and Performance Standards to ensure [FC continues to play
a leadership role in setting global environmental and social prac-
tice and to ensure the Performance Standards remain consistent
with the evolving sustainability agenda.

CREDIT RISK

IFC defines credit risk as the potential reduction in value of
on- and off-balance sheet assets due to a deteriorating credit
profile of its clients, the countries in which it invests, or a financial
counterparty. Credit risk is incurred in two areas of IFC's opera-
tions: (i) investment operations, where IFC provides loans, invests
in debt securities and equity investments, provides guarantees
and acts as a derivatives counterparty for clients in its developing
member countries; and (ii) treasury, where credit risk is incurred
with counterparties in IFC's liquid asset, borrowing and asset-
liability management. As part of its mandate, IFC is prohibited
from accepting sovereign government guarantees of repayment

V. Enterprise Risk Management

on its investments and, therefore, incurs commercial and sover-
eign risk on its investments.

Until June 30, 2008, IFC’s Risk Management and Financial Policy
Department had oversight responsibility for overall financial risk
management and, in addition, monitored and controlled credit
risk arising in IFC’s treasury activities. Effective July 1, 2008, this
responsibility was assumed by a combination of the Integrated
Risk Management and Credit Review Departments. The Credit
Review Department plays a key role with respect to IFC's credit risk
exposures to clients in developing countries. At origination of
new investments, the Credit Review Department analyzes infor-
mation obtained from the investment departments and provides
an independent review of the credit risk of the transaction. After
commitment, the quality of IFC’s investment portfolio is moni-
tored according to supervision principles and procedures defined
in the Operational Policies and Procedures. Responsibility for
the day-to-day monitoring and management of credit risk in the
portfolio rests with the portfolio management units of individual
investment departments. Their assessments are subject to quar-
terly review, on a sample basis, by the Loss Provisioning Division of
the Accounting and Financial Operations Department and by the
Credit Review Department.

IFC’s investment portfolio is subject to a number of operational
and prudential limits, including limitations on single project/client
exposure, single country exposure, and segment concentration.
Similarly, credit policies and guidelines have been formulated cov-
ering treasury operations; these are subject to annual review and
approval by the Corporate Risk Committee.

Credit risk across IFC's investment portfolio is monitored and
managed by the Corporate Portfolio Management Department
through the review of equity valuations, proactive identification of
emerging risks and portfolio stress testing in focus sub-portfolios.

For jeopardy investments, the Department of Special
Operations provides rapid response and focused attention on
portfolio projects that require more sophisticated workout and
restructuring. Early involvement is the key to recovery when
projects get into difficulty. To help enable early involvement,
seasoned professionals from Special Operations Department
are part of the regional crisis response teams looking at potential
issues with IFC's investments. IFC instituted objective criteria for
the Department of Special Operations involvement in troubled
projects three years ago and in FY10, strengthened that criterion
to ensure earlier intervention given the ongoing effects of the
financial crisis.

The credit risk of loans is quantified in terms of the praobability of
default, loss given default and exposure at risk. These risk param-
eters are used to determine risk based economic capital for capital
adequacy, capital allocation and internal risk management pur-
poses as well as for setting general loan loss reserves and limits.

While top-down economic capital measures are well integrated
into IFC’'s risk management framework, IFC Management rec-
ognizes the need to enhance the Corporation’s use of economic
capital in making investment-ievel decisions. To this end, several
enhancements were made to IFC's economic capital framework
during FY10. These enhancements include the introduction of
additional risk differentiation into the required economic capital
ratios; translation of country limits from the existing notional
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exposure limits into economic capital-based limits; and a process
for allocating capital by department being developed for imple-
mentation in FY11.

Treasury counterparty credit risk is managed by the Integrated
Risk Management Department to mitigate potential losses from
the failure of a trading counterparty to fulfill its contractual obli-
gations. General counterparty eligibility criteria are set by IFC’s
Board-approved Asset-Liability Management and Derivative
Products Authorization and Liquid Asset Management General
Investment Authorization. IFC Counterparties are subject to con-
servative eligibility criteria and are currently restricted to banks
and financial institutions with high quality credit ratings by leading
international credit rating agencies.

The eligibility criteria and limits of Treasury counterparties are
stipulated by Liquid Asset Investment Guidelines and Treasury
Counterparty Credit Limits Guidelines, both of which are
approved by the Corporate Risk Committee.

Specifically, IFC has adopted the following key financial policies
and guidelines:

Investment Operations
1. IFC does not normally finance for its own account more than
25% of a project’s cost.

2. Total exposure to a single obligor may not exceed an eco-
nomic capital limit of $75 million (economic capital required is
dependent upon the product mix, as different products have
different risks and therefore require different levels of capital
support) and a nominal limit of $300 million based on disbursed/
outstanding exposures.

3. Total exposure to an economic group of obligors may not
exceed an economic capital limit of $200 million and a nominal
limit of $800 million based on disbursed outstanding exposures.

Portfolio Management
1. The maximum economic capital exposure in a country cannot

exceed 7% of IFC's total resources available (total resources
available is defined as the sum of (i) paid-in-capital (i) retained
earnings net of designations and certain unrealized gains/
losses; and (iii) total loan loss reserves and economic capital
exposure is calculated as a percentage of exposures at risk
(100% of outstanding + 75% of undisbursed portfolio, based on
required economic capital ratios determined by product).

2. Economic capital exposure limits ranging from 3% to 7% of total
resources available are set for each country, based on the size of
its economy and risk rating.

3. IFC lender of record exposure in a country (outstanding) may
not exceed 10% of a country's total long-term external debt for
Heavily Indebted Poor Countries and 5% for all other countries.
Exceptions for countries with low levels of external debt may be
made by the Corporate Risk Committee. Lower trigger levels
are set for certain countries.

4. IFC’s total exposure (outstanding net of specific reserves on
loans) to a single risk sector (i.e., business sectors that are heav-
ily influenced by a single, identifiable, world price index) may not
exceed 12% of net worth plus general reserves on loans. Lower
review trigger levels are set for single sectors, and individually
for the finance and insurance sector, based on IFC's net worth
plus general reserves on loans and the country exposure level.
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5. IFC's committed exposure in guarantees that are subrogated in
local currency is limited to $300 million for currencies for which
there are no adequate currency and interest rate risk hedging
instruments as determined by IFC's Treasury Department at the
time of commitment. There is a sublimit of $100 million for an
individual currency under this limit.

Treasury Operations

1. Counterparties are subject to conservative eligibility criteria.
For derivative instruments IFC’s counterparties are currently
restricted to banks and financial institutions with a high qual-
ity credit rating {(with a mark-to-market agreement) by leading
international credit rating agencies.

2. Exposures to individual counterparties are subject to concen-
tration limits. For derivatives, exposure is measured in terms
of replacement cost for measuring total potential exposure.
Institution-specific limits are updated at least quarterly based
on changes in the total size of IFC derivatives portfolio or as
needed according to changes in counterparty’s fundamental
situation or credit status.

3. To limit exposure, IFC signs collateral agreements with coun-
terparties that require the posting of collateral when net mark-
to-market exposure exceeds certain predetermined thresholds,
which decrease as a counterparty’s credit rating deteriorates.
IFC also requires that low quality counterparties should not
have more than 30% of total net-of-collateral exposures.

4. Because counterparties can be downgraded during the life of a
transaction, the agreements provide an option for IFC to termi-
nate all swaps if the counterparty is downgraded below invest-
ment grade or if other early termination events occur that are
standard in the market.

5. For exchange-traded instruments, IFC limits credit risk by
restricting transactions to a list of authorized exchanges, con-
tracts and dealers, and by placing limits on the Corporation’s
position in each contract.

FY10 CREDIT RISK HIGHLIGHTS

The global credit cycle rebounded to positive in FY10 fueled by
accommodative fiscal policy and high levels of liquidity, char-
acterized by low spreads and low yields. in contrast, FYO8 and
FY09 have been characterized by significant volatility in credit
markets. The quality of IFC's investment portfolio, as measured
by the aggregate risk rating improved as recovery took root in
emerging markets.

IFC does not recognize income on loans where collectibility is in
doubt or payments of interest or principal are past due more than
60 days unless management anticipates that collection of interest
is expected in the near future.

The amount of nonaccruing loans as a percentage of the dis-
bursed loan portfolio4, a key indicator of loan portfolio perfor-
mance, increased to 4.8% at June 30, 2010 (2.7% at June 30, 2009).
The principal amount outstanding on nonaccrual loans totaled
$877 million at June 30, 2010, an increase of $420 million (92%)
from the June 30, 2009, level of $457 million.

4 Excluding “loan-like” debt securities.
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Total reserves against losses on loans at June 30, 2010, increased
to $1,349 million ($1,238 million at June 30, 2009), driven by an
increase in specific loan loss reserves of $132 million. General
loan loss reserves decreased by $21 million during FY10, due to
improved credit risk ratings on unimpaired loans. Total reserves
against losses on loans are equivalent to 7.4% of the disbursed
loan portfolio, unchanged from June 30, 2009.

The five-year trend of nonaccruing loans is presented below:

Nonaccruing Loans
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IFC operates under the assumption that the guarantee port-
folio is exposed to the same idiosyncratic and systematic risks
as IFC’s loan portfolio and the inherent, probable losses in the
guarantee portfolio need to be covered by an allowance for loss.
The allowance at June 30, 2010, was $24 million ($14 million at
June 30, 2009), based on the year-end portfolio, and is included
in payables and other liabilities on IFC's consolidated balance
sheet. The increase in allowance for the year, $10 million for FY10
($3 million decrease for FY09), is included in the {provision) release
of provision for losses on loans and guarantees in the consolidated
income statement.

During FY10, IFC suffered no losses (FYO9 — $3 million) due to
rehedging costs related to terminating existing swap exposures.

In accordance with IFC's key financial policies and guidelines
noted above, IFC holds collateral in the amount of $1,476 million at
June 30, 2010 ($1,139 million — June 30, 2009).

FINANCIAL RISK

IFC defines financial risk in three components: (a) the potential
inability to realize asset values in its portfolio sufficient to meet
obligations to disburse funds as they arise (liquidity risk); {b) the
potential inability to access funding at reasonable cost (funding
risk); and (c) a deterioration in values of financial instruments or
positions due to changes in market variables such as interest and
exchange rates and the volatility thereof (market risk).

V. Enterprise Risk Management

KEY FINANCIAL POLICIES AND GUIDELINES

IFC operates under a number of key financial policies and guidelines

as detailed below, which have been approved by its Board of Directors:

1. Disbursed equity plus quasi-equity investments (net of impair-
ment write-downs) may not exceed 100% of net worth.

2. Minimum liquidity (liquid assets plus undrawn borrowing com-
mitments from IBRD) must be sufficient at all times to cover at
least 45% of IFC's estimated net cash requirements for the next
three years.

3. Matched-funding policy: Loans are funded with liabilities hav-
ing the same characteristics in terms of interest rate basis and
currency and, for fixed rate loans, duration except for Board-
approved new products involving asset-liability mismatches.
IFC maintains a minimum level of liquidity, consisting of pro-
ceeds from external funding, that covers at least 65% of the sum
of: (i) 100% of committed but undisbursed straight senior loans;
(i) 30% of committed guarantees; and (i) 30% of committed cli-
ent risk management products.

4. IFC is required to maintain a minimum level of total resources
(including paid-in capital, total loss reserves and retained earn-
ings, net of designations) equal to total potential losses for all
on- and off-balance sheet exposures estimated at levels consis-
tent with the maintenance of a AAArating.

In addition, under IFC’s Articles of Agreement, as long as IFC
has outstanding borrowings from IBRD, IFC'’s leverage, as mea-
sured by the ratio of IFC's outstanding debt {(borrowings plus out-
standing guarantees) to IFC’s net worth (using subscribed capital),
may not exceed4.0to 1.

The impact of the global financial crisis, though subsiding in
some regions, continues to be severe for many vulnerable coun-
tries. IFC has taken great strides in addressing the needs of the
private sector in emerging markets, while proactively managing its
own capital position and financial risk. The overall financial risk for
IFC is defined by the adequacy of its financial resources to meet
potential future financial needs. The Corporation’s future financial
strength is dependent on many factors including: the economic
environment; equity returns; future designations; and the rate of
growth and capital usage for IFC's portfolio.

LIQUIDITY RISK

The primary instruments for maintaining sufficient liquidity are
IFC's liquid asset portfolios, including the P6 portfolio and, begin-
ning in FY10, the P7 portfolio:

B PO, which is generally invested in short-dated deposits, money mar-
ket funds, fixed certificates of deposits, one-month floater securities
and repos, reflecting its use for short-term funding requirements.

W P1 and P2, which are generally invested in: (a) high quality for-
eign sovereign, sovereign-guaranteed and supranational fixed
income instruments; (b) US Treasury or agency instruments;
(c) high quality ABS rated by at least two rating agencies and/
or other high quality notes issued by corporations; {d) MBS;
(e) interest rate futures and swaps to manage currency risk in
the portfolio, as well as its duration relative to benchmark; and
(f) cash deposits and repos.
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® P3, which is an outsourced portion of the P1 portfolio (managed
by external managers).

& P4, which is an outsourced portion of the P2 portfolio (managed
by external managers).

W P6, which is invested in short-term local currency money market
instruments and local government securities.

B P7, which consists of after-swap proceeds from variable-rate
borrowings denominated and invested in Euros.

FY10 LIQUIDITY RISK HIGHLIGHTS

On June 30, 2010, IFC's liquidity level stood at $21.0 billion
($17.9 billion on June 30, 2009). Current levels of liquid assets also
represented 190% of the sum of (i) 100% of committed but undis-
bursed straight senior loans; (i) 30% of committed guarantees;
and (jii) 30% of committed client risk management products (163%
on June 30, 2009).

FUNDING RISK

IFC's primary objective with respect to managing funding risk is,
through the adoption of the key financial policies described above,
to maintain its triple-A creditratings and, thereby, maintain access to
market funding as needed at the lowest possible cost.

The risk of higher funding costs is also reduced by IFC's annual
funding targets, the US$ billion-dollar benchmark bonds, and the
Discount Note Program. Accessing the capital markets for financ-
ing establishes investor confidence, liquidity, price transparency,
and a diversified investor base, all of which help to reduce financ-
ing cost. IFC's Discount Note Program was launched in June 2009
to provide swift access to funded liquidity, to complement tradi-
tional funding sources, and to provide a natural funding source
for GTFP.

FY10 FUNDING RISK HIGHLIGHTS

During FY10, IFC raised $8.8 billion, net of derivatives ($9.1 bil-
lion in FY09 and $6.2 billion in FY08). The outstanding balance
under the Discount Note Program at June 30, 2010 was $1.4 billion.
Funding costs compared to US$ LIBOR for IFC increased signifi-
cantly during FY09 as credit spreads for IFC widened. During FY10,
credit spreads for IFC narrowed somewhat but remained wider
than those generally experienced by IFC in FY09 and prior.

MARKET RISK

IFC’s exposure to market risk is minimized by adopting
the matched-funding policy noted above and by using deriva-
tive instruments to convert assets and liabilities into floating rate
US dollar assets and liabilities with similar duration.
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INVESTMENT OPERATIONS

Interest rate and currency exchange risk associated with fixed rate
and/or non-US dollar lending is hedged via currency and interest
rate swaps that convert cash flows into variable rate US dollar flows.

Exposures to market risk resulting from derivative transactions
with clients, which are intended to facilitate clients’ risk manage-
ment, are minimized by entering into offsetting positions with
highly rated market counterparties.

LIQUID ASSET PORTFOLIOS

The PO, P1 and P3 portfolios are managed to variable rate US dol-
lar benchmarks, on a portfolio basis. To this end, a variety of
derivative instruments are used, including short-term, over-the-
counter foreign exchange forwards (covered forwards), interest
rate and currency swaps, and exchange-traded interest rate
futures and options. IFC also takes both long and short posi-
tions in securities in the management of these portfolios to their
respective benchmarks.

The primary source of market risk in the liquid asset portfolios is
the P2 and P4 portfolios, which are managed to Barclay's 1-3 year
US Treasury Index benchmark. P2 represents the portion of IFC's
capital not disbursed as equity investments, and the benchmark
reflects the chosen risk profile for this un-invested capital (Paid-in
capital and retained earnings). P4 represents an outsourced
portion of the P2 portfolio. In addition, the P1 and P3 portfolios
contain a degree of market risk (e.g., spread risk).

The P6 portfolio consists of foreign currency proceeds raised
locally through swaps and other funding instruments to provide
more flexible local currency loan products to clients.

The P7 portfolio is managed to six equal-weighted EURIBID
deposits maturing at the next six monthly reset dates of out-
standing liabilities, rebalanced at each calendar month-end.

BORROWING ACTIVITIES

Access to funding is maximized, and cost is minimized, by issuing
debt securities in various capital markets in a variety of currencies,
sometimes using complex structures. These structures include
borrowings payable in multiple currencies, or borrowings with
principal and/or interest determined by reference to a specified
index such as a reference interest rate, or one or more foreign
exchange rates.

Market risk associated with fixed rate obligations and struc-
tured instruments entered into as part of IFC's funding program
is generally mitigated by using derivative instruments to convert
them into variable rate US dollar obligations, consistent with the
matched-funding policy.

ASSET-LIABILITY MANAGEMENT

While IFC's matched-funding policy provides a significant level
of protection against currency and interest rate risk, IFC can be
exposed to residual market risk in its overall asset and liability
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management of the funded balance sheet. This residual market

risk is monitored by the Asset-Liability Management group within

the Treasury and Integrated Risk Management Departments.

Residual currency risk arises from events such as changes in
the level of non-US dollar loan loss reserves. This risk is managed
by monitoring the aggregate position in each lending currency
and hedging the exposure when the net asset or liability position
exceeds $5 million equivalent.

Residual interest rate risk may arise from two main sources:

B Assets that are fully match-funded at inception, which can
become mismatched over time due to write-downs, prepay-
ments, or rescheduling; and

B Differing interest rate reset dates on assets and liabilities.

This residual risk is managed by measuring the sensitivity of
the present value of assets and liabilities in each currency to each
basis point change in interest rates, with an action trigger of
$50,000 for a one basis point parallel move in the yield curve.

FY10 MARKET RISK HIGHLIGHTS

Total liquid asset returns (comprising interest, realized and unreal-
ized gains and losses, and foreign currency transaction (losses)
gains) were $815 million in FY10 ($474 million in FY09 and $473 mil-
lion in FYO8), of which $393 million was attributable to the PO, P1
and P3 portfolios ($156 million in FY09 and $93 million in FY08),
$422 million was attributable to the P2 and P4 portfolios ($318 mil-
lion in FY09 and $345 million in FY08)5. The overall market environ-
ment in FY10 and the resulting impact on the performance of IFC's
liquid assets portfolios are discussed in more detail in “Results
of Operations”.

Foreign currency transaction losses on non-trading activities
for FY10 included in net income were $82 million ($10 million gains
in FY09 and $39 million losses in FY08). Foreign currency trans-
action gains on investments in debt securities accounted for as
available-for-sale for FY10 included in Other Comprehensive
Income {OCI) were $53 million ($69 million losses in FY09 and
$85 million gains in FYO08).

OPERATIONAL RISK

Consistent with “Internal Convergence of Capital Measurement
and Capital Standards, A Revised Framework" issued by the Basel
Committee on Banking Supervision in June 2004, IFC defines
operational risk as the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed
internal processes, people and systems or from external events.

During FY10, the Corporate Risk Committee approved an
Operational Risk Management (ORM) directive that establishes
the approach and roles and responsibilities for ORM in the
Corporation. Responsibility for the implementation of the direc-
tive and procedures for managing and monitoring operational risk
rests with the Business Risk Department.

5 In addition, FY08 income from liquid assets included $35 million from the P6 potfolio.
Beginning in FY09, income from the P6 portfolio ($27 million in FY10; $42 million in FY09)
is reported in other income.

V. Enterprise Risk Management

IFC's ORM approach is designed to ensure that operational risks
are identified, assessed, and managed so as to minimize potential
adverse impacts, thus enabling a determination, for each area
(people, systems, processes and external events), which risks IFC
will: (i) manage internally, as part of its ongoing business; (i) miti-
gate through contingency planning; or {iii) transfer to third parties,
whether by subcontracting, outsourcing, or insurance.

IFC seeks to mitigate the risks it manages internally by maintain-
ing a comprehensive system of internal controls that is designed
not only to identify the parameters of various risks but also to
monitor and control those areas of particular concern.

IFC utilizes risk transfer, including insurance, at both the project
and the institutional levels for mitigation of low frequency and high
severity operational risks. At both levels, IFC identifies and evalu-
ates risks, determines available contractual transfer and insur-
ance options, implements the optimal structure, and tracks its
effectiveness over time. IFC also insures its corporate assets and
operations against catastrophic losses where commercially viable.

Other key components of IFC's operational risk management
approach include:

W Operational risk assessment and measurement based on mar-
ket practices and tools.

m Adoption of the COSOSé control framework as the basis for its
evaluation of the effectiveness of its internal controls over finan-
cial reporting.

® Ongoing independent review of the effectiveness of IFC's inter-
nal controls in selected key areas and functions performed by
the Internal Audit Vice Presidency of the World Bank Group.

B Promoting data integrity in the Corporation based on its Data
Management Policy, overseen by the Information Quality
Group within the Accounting and Financial Operations depart-
ment and through a network of Departmental Data Stewards.

¥ Ensuring that processes and controls are in place to manage the
risks in new products and initiatives before they are executed,
through a New Products/Initiatives Assessment Group with rep-
resentation from key business and support functions.

FY10 OPERATIONAL RISK MANAGEMENT HIGHLIGHTS

IFC is continuing a multiyear effort to analyze and develop enhanced
methodologies for identifying, measuring, monitoring and manag-
ing operational risk in its key activities. During FY10, IFC:

W Implemented a corporate-wide roll-out of its Risk and Control
Self Assessment methodology.

B Developed and piloted other operational risk management
methodologies and tools, including risk events tracking, root
cause analysis and scenario analysis.

® Undertook studies of selected processes to analyze operational
risks therein and formulate actions to improve operational
risk management.

B Conducted events to promote and raise awareness of opera-
tional risk management, including inviting experts from exter-
nal organizations to share experiences and market practices on
operational risk-related topics.

6 COSO refers to the Internal Control — integrated Framework formulated by the
Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission, which was
convened by the US Congress in response to the well-publicized irregularities that
occurred in the financial sector in the United States during the late 1980s.
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IFC also continues to focus on its preparedness to react to an
emergency situation that could disrupt its normal operations.
During FY10 IFC:

® |n collaboration with IBRD, successfully completed a change
in roles of its data centers. The out-of-town, lower risk, facility
shared with IBRD has become [FC's primary data center and the
downtown, higher risk, facility now serves as the secondary data
center. As part of this project IFC also implemented an "active-
active” environment for virtually all critical corporate applica-
tions, increasing the resiliency of its systems.

@ Developed business continuity plans for all departments based in
Washington, and updated plans for country offices where needed.

® Conducted home-based working exercises in Washington
departments and other key locations to test IFC’s ability to
maintain essential operations through remote ‘access. These
exercises proved to be excellent preparation for the winter
storms in the Washington, DC area.

M Maintained Emergency Management Teams in all regions; con-
ducted emergency simulation exercises, in cooperation with
IBRD, in its Washington, DC offices and in the regional hub
offices; and held emergency management workshops in the
larger country offices in each region.

Internal Control Over Financial
Reporting and Disclosure
Controls and Procedures

In FY10, IFC continued its practice of conducting an annual assess-
ment of its internal controls over external financial reporting based
on the criteria for effective internal control described by the COSO
framework. Between FY06 and FY09, management had not sought
the attestation to its published assertion on internal controls previ-
ously provided by IFC's external auditors. In FY10, IFC’s external
auditors have provided an attestation report that management's
assertion regarding the effectiveness of internal control over exter-
nal financial reporting is fairly stated in all material respects.

Management has carried out an evaluation of internal control over
external financial reporting for the purpose of determining if there were
any changes made in internal controls during the fiscal year covered by
this report, that had materially affected, or would be reasonably likely to
materially affect IFC's internal control over external financial reporting.
As of June 30, 2010 no such significant changes had occurred.

Disclosure controls and procedures are those processes which are
designed to ensure that information required to be disclosed is accu-
mulated and communicated to management, as appropriate to allow
timely decisions regarding required disclosure by IFC. Management
has undertaken an evaluation of the effectiveness of such controls and
procedures. Based on that evaluation, management has concluded
that these controls and procedures were effective as of June 30, 2010.
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VL. Critical
Accounting Policies

The Notes to IFC's FY10 consolidated financial statements contain
a summary of IFC's significant accounting policies, including a dis-
cussion of recently adopted accounting standards and accounting
and financial reporting developments. Certain of these policies
are considered to be “critical” to the portrayal of IFC's financial
condition, since they require management to make difficult, com-
plex or subjective judgments, some of which may relate to matters
that are inherently uncertain.
These policies include:
(i) Determining the level of reserves against losses in the
loan portfolio;
Determining the level and nature of impairment for equity
investments and debt securities carried at fair value with
changes in fair value being reported in OCl and for equity
investments accounted for at cost less impairment (where
impairment is determined with.reference to fair value);
Determining the fair value of certain equity investments, debt
securities, loans, liquid assets, borrowings and derivatives,
which are accounted for at fair value with changes in fair value
being reported in net income and OCI; and
Determining the future pension and postretirement benefit
costs and obligations using actuarial assumptions based on
financial market interest rates, past experience, and man-
agement’s best estimate of future benefit changes and
economic conditions.
Many of IFC’s financial instruments are classified in accordance
with the fair value hierarchy established by accounting standards
for fair value measurements and disclosures where the fair value
and/or impairment is estimated based on internally developed
models or methodologies utilizing significant inputs that are
non-observable. )

@iy

(iii)

(iv)

RESERVE AGAINST LOSSES ON LOANS

IFC considers a loan as impaired when, based on current informa-
tion and events, it is probable that IFC will be unable to collect
all amounts due according to the loan’s contractual terms. The
reserve against losses for impaired loans reflects management'’s
judgment of the present value of expected future cash flows
discounted at the loan’s effective interest rate. The reserve
against losses for loans includes an estimate of probable losses on
loans inherent in the portfolio but not specifically identifiable. The
reserve is established through periodic charges to income in
the form of a provision for losses on loans. Loans written off, as well
as any subsequent recoveries, are recorded through the reserve.
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The assessment of the adequacy of reserves against losses
for loans is highly dependent on management'’s judgment about
factors such as its assessment of the financial capacity of borrow-
ers, geographical concentration, industry, regional and macro-
economic conditions, and historical trends. Due to the inherent

limitation of any particular estimation technique, management

utilizes a capital pricing and risk framework to estimate the prob-
able losses on loans inherent in the portfolio but not specifically
identifiable. This Board-approved framework uses actual loan loss
history and aligns the loan loss provisioning framework with [FC's
capital adequacy framework.

The reserve against losses on loans is separately reported
in the consolidated balance sheet as a reduction of IFC’s total
loans. Increases or decreases in the reserve level are reported in
the income statement as provision for losses or release of provi-
sion for losses on loans, and guarantees. The reserve against
losses on loans relates only to the Client Services segment of IFC
(see Note T to the FY10 consolidated financial statements for fur-
ther discussion of IFC’s business segments).

EQUITY AND DEBT SECURITY IMPAIRMENT

IFC assesses all equity investments accounted for at fair value
through OCl and all equity investments accounted for at cost less
impairment for impairment each quarter. When impairment is
identified and is deemed to be other than temporary, the equity
investment is written down to its impaired value, which becomes
the new cost basis in the equity investment. IFC generally pre-
sumes that all equity impairmerits are deemed to be other than
temporary. Impairment losses on equity investments accounted
for at cost less impairment are not reversed for subsequent recov-
eries in value of the equity investment until it is sold. Recoveries
in value on equity investments accounted for at fair value through
OCI that have been the subject of an other-than-temporary
impairment write-down are reported in OCl until sold.

IFC assesses all debt security investments accounted for at fair
value through OCI for impairment each quarter. When impairment
is identified, the entire impairment is recognized in net income if
certain conditions are met (as detailed in Note A to IFC’s FY10 con-
solidated financial statements). However, if IFC does not intend
to sell the debt security and it is not more likely than not that IFC
will be required to sell the security, but the security has suffereda
credit loss, the credit-related impairment loss is recognized in net
income and the non-credit related loss is recognized in OCI.

vi. critical accounting policies

VALUATION OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS
WITH NO QUOTED MARKET PRICES

IFC reports at fair value all of its derivative instruments, all of its lig-
uid asset trading securities and certain borrowings, loans, equity
investments and debt securities. In addition, certain features in
various investment agreements contain embedded or stand-
alone derivatives that, for accounting purposes, are separately
accounted as either derivative assets or liabilities, including puts,
caps, floors, and forwards. IFC classifies all financial instruments
accounted for at fair value based on the fair value hierarchy estab-
lished by accounting standards for fair value measurements and
disclosures as described in more detail in Notes A and R to IFC's
FY10 consolidated financial statements. .
Many of IFC's financial instruments accounted for at fair value
have fair values that are based on unadjusted quoted market prices
or using models where the significant assumptions and inputs are
market-observable. The fair values of financial instruments valued
using models where the significant assumptions and inputs are
not market-observable are generally estimated using complex
pricing models of the net present value of estimated future cash
flows. Management makes numerous assumptions in developing
pricing models, including an assessment about the counterparty’s

-financial position and prospects, the appropriate discount rates,

interest rates, and related volatility and expected movement in
foreign currency exchange rates. Changes in assumptions could
have a significant impact on the amounts reported as assets and
liabilities and the related unrealized gains and losses reported in
the income statement and statement of OCI. The fair value com-
putations affect both the Client Services and Treasury segments of
IFC (see Note T to the FY10 consolidated financial statements for
further discussion of IFC's business segments).

PENSION AND OTHER POSTRETIREMENT BENEFITS

IFC participates, along with IBRD and MIGA, in pension and
postretirement benefit plans that cover substantially all of their
staff members. All costs, assets and liabilities associated with the
plans are allocated between IBRD, IFC and MIGA based upon their
employees’ respective participation in the plans. The underlying
actuarial assumptions used to determine the projected benefit
obligations, fair value of plan assets and funded status associated
with these plans are based on financial market interest rates, past
experience, and management’s best estimate of future benefit
changes and economic conditions. For further details, please refer
to Note V to the FY10 consolidated financial statements.
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VIl. Results of Operations

OVERVIEW

The overall market environment has a significant influence on IFC’s financial performance.
The main elements of IFC's net income and comprehensive income and influences on the level and variability of net income and com-

prehensive income from year to year are:

ELEMENTS

SIGNIFICANT INFLUENCES

- Netincome:
Yield on interest earning assets

Liquid assetincome

Income from the equity investment portfolio

Provisions for losses on loans and guarantees
Noninterest income and expense

Net unrealized gains and losses on non-trading financial
instruments accounted for at fair value

Grants to IDA

Other comprehensive income:

Unrealized gains and losses on listed equity investments
and debt securities accounted for as available-for-sale

Unrecognized net actuarial gains and losses and
unrecognized prior service costs on benefit plans

Market conditions including spread levels, and degree of competition. Nonaccruals and
recoveries of interest on loans formerly in nonaccrual status and income from participation

" notes on individual loans are also inciuded in income from loans.

Realized and unrealized gains and losses on the liquid asset portfolios, which are driven by
external factors such as: the interest rate environment; and liquidity of certain asset classes
within the liquid asset portfolio.

Performance of the equity portfolio (principally realized capital gains, dividends, equity
impairment write-downs and unrealized gains and losses on equity investments).

Risk assessment of borrowers and actual and forecasted levels of default.

Level of advisory services provided by IFC to its clients, the level of expense from the staff
retirement and other benefits plans, and the approved administrative and other budgets.
Principally, differences between changes in fair values of borrowings, including IFC's credit
spread, and associated derivative instruments and unrealized gains associated with the
investment portfolio including puts, warrants and stock options which in part are dependent
on the global climate for emerging markets.

Level of Board of Governors-approved grants to IDA.

Global climate for emerging markets equities and company-specific performance. Such
equity investments are valued using unadjusted quoted market prices and debt securities
are valued using internally developed models or methodologies utilizing inputs that may be
observable or non-observable.

Returns on pension plan assets and the key assumptions that underlie projected benefit
obligations, including financial market interest rates, past experience, and management'’s

best estimate of future benefit changes and economic conditions.

The following paragraphs detail significant variances between
FY10and FY09, and FYO9 and FY08, covering the periodsincludedin
IFC's FY10 consolidated financial statements. Certain amounts
in FY09 and FY08 have been reclassified to conform to the current
year's presentation. Where applicable, the following paragraphs
reflect reclassified prior year comparative information. Such
reclassifications had no effect on net income or total assets.

FY10 Versus FY09

IFC has reported income before net losses on other lnon-trading
financial instruments accounted for at fair value and grants to
IDA of $2,285 million, $2,438 million higher than the loss before
net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments
accounted for at fair value and grants to IDA of $153 million in FY09.

The significant improvement in income before net losses on
non-trading financial instruments and grants to IDA in FY10 when
compared to FYO? was principally as a result of a generally improved
operating environment for IFC's investment and liquid asset port-
folios in FY10 as compared with that experienced in FY09. This
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resulted in: () lower impairment write-downs on equity investments;
(iiy higher realized capital gains on equity sales and unrealized gains on
equity investments accounted for at fair value in net income; iii) lower
provisions for losses on loans and guarantees; (iv) higher income from
liquid asset trading activities; and (v) lower charges on borrowings.

IFC reported net losses on non-trading financial instruments of
$339 million in FY10 as compared with a net gain of $452 million in
FY09, resulting in income before grants to IDA of $1,946 million
in FY10, as compared to $299 million in FYQ9.

Grants to IDA totaled $200 million in FY10, as compared to
$450 million in FY09. Accordingly, net income (in accordance with
US GAAP) totaled $1,746 million in FY10, as compared with a net
loss of $151 million in FYQ9.

A more detailed analysis of the components of IFC’s net
income follows.

INCOME FROM LOANS AND GUARANTEES

IFC's primary interest earning asset is its loan portfolio. Income
from loans and guarantees for FY10 totaled $801 million, com-
pared with $871 million in FY09, a decrease of $70 million.
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The disbursed loan portfolio grew by $1,449 million, from
$16,748 million at June 30, 2009 to $18,197 million at June 30, 2010.
The overall interest rate environment was lower in FY10 than in FY09.

The weighted average contractual interest rate on loans at June 30,
2010 was 4.6%, versus 5.0% at June 30, 2009, reflecting the lower over-
all interest rate environment existing at June 30, 2010 as compared
with June 30, 2009. These factors combined resulted in $203 million
lower interest income than in FY09. Commitment and financial fees
were $29 million higher than in FY09. Recoveries of interest on loans
being removed from non-accrual status, net of reversals of income
on loans being placed in nonaccrual status, were $3 million higher
in FY10 as compared to FY09. Income from IFC's participation notes,
over and above minimum contractual interest, was $3 million lower
in FY10 than in FY09. Unrealized gains on loans accounted for at fair
value were $104 million higher than in FYQS.

INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Income from the equity investment portfolio increased by
$1,680 million from a loss of $42 million in FY09 to income of
$1,638 million in FY10.

IFC generated realized gains on equity investments, including
recoveries of previously written-off equity investments and net of
losses on sales of equity investments, for FY10 of $1,290 million,
as compared with $990 million for FY09, an increase of $300 mil-
lion. IFC sells equity investments where |FC’s developmental role
was complete, and where pre-determined sales trigger levels had
been met and, where applicable, expiration of lock ups.

Total realized gains on equity investments are concentrated - in
FY10, 9 investments generated individual capital gains in excess
of $20 million for a total of $867 million, or 67%, of the FY10 gains,
compared to 9 investments that generated individual capital gains
in excess of $20 million for a total of $723 million, or 73%, of the
FY09 gains. A significant amount of gains ($885 million) were real-
ized during the last three months of FY09, principally driven by the
sale of one investment in the Oil, Gas and Mining sector that gen-
erated a gain of $592 million.

Dividend income totaled $285 million, as compared with
$311 million in FY09. Consistent with FY09, a significant amount
of IFC's dividend income in FY10 was due to returns on IFC’s joint
ventures in the oil, gas and mining sectors accounted for under the
cost recovery method, which totaled $60 million in FY10, as com-
pared with $56 million in FY09.

Unrealized gains on equity investments that are accounted for
at fair value through net income in FY10 totaled $240 million, as
compared with losses of $299 million in FYQ9.

INCOME FROM DEBT SECURITIES

Income from debt securities increased to $108 million in FY10 from
$71 million in FYQ9, an increase of $37 million. The majority of the
increase was attributable to higher unrealized gains on debt secu-
rities accounted for at fair value and higher non-monetary gains on
debt securities, resulting from conversions to equity investments,
in FY10 when compared with FY09. Unrealized gains on debt secu-
rities accounted for at fair value were $23 million higher in FY10 as
compared to FYO9.

VII. Resuits of Operations

PROVISION FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND GUARANTEES

The quality of IFC’s loan portfolio, as measured by country risk
ratings and credit risk ratings was substantially unchanged during
FY10. Non-performing loans as a percentage of the disbursed
loan portfolio increased from 2.7% of the disbursed loan portfolio
at June 30, 2009 to 4.8% of the disbursed loan portfolio at June 30,
2010. The increase in non-performing loans was largely due to two
loans each with principal outstanding in excess of $100 million
being placed in non-performing status during FY10. IFC recorded
a provision for losses on loans and guarantees of $155 million in
FY10 ($153 million in specific provisions, $8 million release in port-
folio provisions, and $10 million provision in respect of guaran-
tees) as compared to $438 million in FY09 ($109 million in specific
provisions, $332 million in portfolio provisions, and $(3) million
in respect of guarantees). On June 30, 2010, IFC’s total reserves
against losses on loans were 7.4% of the disbursed loan portfolio
(7.4% at June 30, 2009).

Specific reserves against losses at June 30, 2010 of $432 million
($300 million at June 30, 2009) are held against impaired loans of
$984 million ($552 million), a coverage ratio of 44% (55%).

INCOME FROM LIQUID ASSET TRADING ACTIVITIES

Income from liquid asset trading activities comprises interest from
time deposits and securities, net gains and losses on trading activi-
ties, and a small currency translation effect. The liquid assets port-
folio, net of derivatives and securities lending activities, increased
from $17.9 billion at June 30, 2009, to $21.0 billion at June 30, 2010.

Income from liquid asset trading activities totaled $815 million
in FY10 ($474 million in FY09). In FY10, all liquid asset portfolios
outperformed their respective benchmarks. In FY09, the P1, P2,
P3 and P4 portfolios underperformed their respective bench-
marks and the PO portfolio outperformed its benchmark. The main
cause of the underperformances when compared to benchmark in
FYO9 was the poor performance of the holdings of ABS and MBS.

In addition to interest income of $358 million, the portfolio
of ABS and MBS showed fair value gains totaling $419 million in
FY10. Holdings in other products, including US Treasuries, global
government bonds, high quality corporate bonds and derivatives
generated $36 million of gains in FY10 and substantially all hold-
ings in the liquid asset portfolio paid on schedule in FY10.

At June 30, 2010, trading securities with a fair value of
$177 million are classified as Level 3 securities ($856 million on .
June 30, 2009).

The P1 portfolio generated a return? of $376 million in FY10, a
return of 3.44%. In FYQ9, the P1 portfolio generated a return of
$130 million, or 0.53%. The externally managed P3 portfolio, man-
aged against the same variable rate benchmark as the P1 portfolio,
returned $14 million in FY10, or 2.81%, $16 million higher than the
$(2) million, or 0.65%, return in FYO9.

The P2 and externally-managed P4 portfolios returned $404 mil-
lion (7.28%) and $18 million (3.68%) in FY10, respectively, as com-
pared to $293 million (5.87%) and $25 million (6.40%) in FYQ9.

IFC's PO portfolio earned $3 million in FY10, a total return of
0.36%, as compared to $28 million (1.70%) in FYO09.

7 Return percentages are reported gross of fees.
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Charges on Borrowings

IFC’s charges on borrowings decreased by $325 million, from
$488 million in FY09 to $163 million in FY10, largely reflecting the
lower US dollar interest rate environment, when comparing FY10
and FY09. During FY10, IFC bought back $0.9 billion of its mar-
ket borrowings ($1.05 billion in FY09). Charges on borrowings of
$163 million in FY10 ($488 million in FY09) are reported net of gains
on buybacks of $62 million ($61 million in FY09).

The weighted average rate of IFC’'s borrowings outstand-
ing from market sources, after the effects of borrowing-related
derivatives, and excluding short-term borrowings issued under
the Discount Note Program, fell during the year from 1.4% at
June 30, 2009 to 0.5% at June 30, 2010. The size of the borrowings
portfolio (excluding the short-term Discount Note Program), net of
borrowing-related derivatives and before fair value adjustments,
increased by $3.0 billion during FY10 from $25.8 billion at June 30,
2009, to $28.8 billion at June 30, 2010.

OTHER INCOME

Other income of $176 million for FY10 was $23 million higher than in
FYO9 ($153 million). Other income in FY10 includes income from the
Pé local currency liquidity portfolio of $27 million ($42 million in FY09).

OTHER EXPENSES

Administrative expenses (the principal component of other expenses)
increased by $82 million (14%) from $582 million in FY09 to $664 mil-
lion in FY10. The increase in administrative expenses was largely due
to increases in the following categories: (i) salary and related benefits;
(i) reinstatement of variable pay programs in FY10; and (iii} infor-
mation technology and security. Administrative expenses include
the grossing-up effect of certain revenues and expenses attributable
to IFC's reimbursable program and jeopardy projects ($36 million
in FY10, as compared with $31 million in FY09). IFC recorded an
expense from pension and other postretirement benefit plans
in FY10 of $69 million, as compared with $34 million in FY09.

EXPENDITURES FOR ADVISORY SERVICES

Expenditures for advisory services in FY10 totaled $101 million,
$28 million or 22% lower than expenditures for advisory services of
$129 million in FY09.

PERFORMANCE-BASED GRANTS AND
IFC SME VENTURESFOR IDA COUNTRIES

Expenditures were $9 million in FY10 ($6 million in FY09).
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NET GAINS AND LOSSES ON OTHER
NON-TRADING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As discussed in more detail in Note A to IFC’s FY10 consolidated
financial statements, IFC accounts for certain financial instruments
at fair value with unrealized gains and losses on such financial
instruments being reported in net income, namely: (i) all swapped
market borrowings; and (i) all equity investments in which IFC has
greater than 20% holdings and/or equity and fund investments
which, in the absence of the Fair Value Option, would be required
to be accounted for under the equity method. All other non-
trading derivatives, including stand-alone and embedded deriva-
tives in the loan, equity and debt security portfolios continue to be
accounted for at fair value.

The resulting effects of fair value accounting for these non-
trading financial instruments on net income in FY10 and FY09 can
be summarized as follows (US$ millions):

FY10 FY09
|

Unrealized (losses) gains on market

borrowings and associated derivatives, net $ (226) $ 381
Unrealized losses on derivatives associated

with loans (98) (65)
Unrealized gains on derivatives associated

with debt securities 28 25
Net (losses) gains on derivatives associated

with equity investments (43) 1M
Net (losses) gains on other non-trading

financial instruments accounted

for at fair value $ (339) $ 452

The largest component of net gains and losses on other non-
trading financial instruments in FY10 was on market borrow-
ings and associated derivatives. Changes in fair value of IFC's
market borrowings and associated derivatives, net includes the
impact of changes in IFC's own credit spread when measured
against US$ LIBOR. As credit spreads widen, unrealized gains are
recorded and when credit spreads narrow, unrealized losses
are recorded (notwithstanding the impact of other factors, such as
changes in risk-free interest and foreign currency exchange rates).
The magnitude and direction (gain or loss) can be volatile from
period to period but do not alter the cash flows. IFC's policy is to
generally match currency, amount and timing of cash flows on mar-
ket borrowings with cash flows on associated derivatives entered
into contemporaneously.

Prior to FY09, IFC’'s own credit spread had been relatively stable
at sub-LIBOR rates — as such, there was no significant reported
volatility associated with fair valuing IFC's market borrowings
and associated derivatives. Beginning in the second quarter of
FY09 and extending into the third quarter of FY09 as the global
financial crisis worsened, IFC’s own credit spreads, consistent with
all supranationals and other triple-A rated institutions widened
considerably but narrowed somewhat during the fourth quar-
ter, although remaining LIBOR-plus at June 30, 2009. In FY10, as
appetite for risk in international capital markets slowly recovered,
reverted partially but credit spreads remained elevated relative to
the levels that prevailed before FY09. As a result, IFC reported an
unrealized loss for FY10 of $226 million, as compared to an unreal-
ized gain of $381 million in FY09.

IFC reported a net loss on derivatives associated with equity
investments (principally put options, stock options, conversion
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features and warrants) of $43 million in FY10. As emerging markets
equities decline, IFC's put options, stock warrants, and conversion
features entered into in part as an exit strategy became more valu-
able, resulting in unrealized net gains, and vice-versa. Gains/Losses
are highly concentrated, with five derivatives accounting for $56 mil-
lion of gains and five derivatives accounting for $84 million of losses
in FY10 (five derivatives accounting for $105 million of gains and
five derivatives accounting for $55 million of losses in FY09).

GRANTS TO IDA

During FY10, IFC recorded a grant to IDA of $200 million, as com-
pared with $450 million in FY09.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unrealized Gains and Losses on
Equity Investments and Debt Securities
IFC's investments in debt securities and equity investments that
are listed in markets that provide readily determinable fair values
at fair value are classified as available-for-sale, with unrealized
gains and losses on such investments being reported in OCI
until realized. When realized, the gain or loss is transferred to net
income. Changes in unrealized gains and losses on equity invest-
ments and debt securities being reported in OCl are significantly
impacted by (i) the global environment for emerging markets; and
{ii) the realization of gains on sales of such equity investments
and debt securities.

The net change in unrealized gains and losses on equity invest-
ments and debt securities in OCl can be summarized as follows:

FY10 FY09

Net unrealized gains and losses on
equity investments arising during the year:

Unrealized gains $ 1,117  § 180

Unrealized losses (198) (1,294)

Reclassification adjustment for realized

gains and impairment write-downs

included in netincome (313) (357)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on

equity investments $ 606 % (1,471)
Net unrealized gains and losses on

debt securities arising during the year

Unrealized gains $ 181 § 57

Unrealized losses 6n (294)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains,

non credit-related portion of impairment

write-downs which were recognized in

net income and impairment write-downs

included in net income (43) 63
Net unrealized gains (losses) on

debt securities $ 77 3 (174)
Total unrealized gains (losses) on equity

investments and debt securities $ 683 % (1,645)
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UNRECOGNIZED NET ACTUARIAL GAINS AND LOSSES
AND UNRECOGNIZED PRIOR SERVICE COSTS ON BENEFIT PLANS

Changes in the funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans are recognized in OCI, to the extent they are not
recognized in net income under periodic benefit cost for the
year. During FY10, IFC experienced a decrease in the current
value adjustment for unrecognized net periodic pension cost
of $192 million, primarily reflecting a lower increase in the fair
value of plan assets as compared to the increase in the projected
benefit obligation.

FY09 VERSUS FYO08

IFC has reported a loss before net gains and losses on other non-
trading financial instruments accounted for at fair value and grants
to IDA of $153 million, $2,091 million lower than income before
net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments
accounted for at fair value of $1,938 million in FYO8. Income before
grants to IDA totaled $299 million in FY09, as compared with
$2,047 million in FY08. Grants to IDA were $450 million in FY09 as
compared to $500 million in FY08, resulting in an overall net loss
(in accordance with US GAAP) of $151 million in FY09 as compared
to netincome of $1,547 million in FY08.

FYO9 results were significantly negatively impacted by the
global financial crisis, which resulted in significantly higher impair-
ment write-downs on equity investments and higher provisions
for losses on loans, both specific provisions and portfolio provi-
sions . Income from liquid asset trading activities was substan-
tially unchanged between FY08 and FY09 with a significant
improvement in performance occurring in the latter months of
FY09 relating to IFC's holdings of ABS and MBS. Netincome'in FY09
benefited by significant unrealized gains on IFC's swapped mar-
ket borrowings accounted for at fair value as credit spreads for
IFC widened considerably, particularly in the first nine months
of FY09. As credit spreads began to narrow in the fourth quarter of
FY09, there was a partial reversal of unrealized gains recorded in
the first nine months of FYQ9.

A more detailed analysis of the components of IFC's net
income follows.

INCOME FROM LOANS AND GUARANTEES

IFC's primary interest earning asset is its loan portfolio. Income
from loans and guarantees for FY09 totaled $871 million, com-
pared with $1,065 million in FY08, a decrease of $194 million.

The disbursed loan portfolio grew by $1,412 million, from
$15,336 million at June 30, 2008 to $16,748 million at June 30, 2009.
However, the interest rate environment was lower in FY09 than in
FY08. The weighted average contractual interest rate on loans at
June 30, 2009 was 5.0%, versus 6.6% at June 30, 2008. These fac-
tors combined resulted in $135 million lower income than in FY08.
Commitment and financial fees were $14 million lower than in
FYO08. Recoveries of interest on loans being removed from non-
accrual status, net of reversals of income on loans being placed
in nonaccrual status, were $2 million higher in FY09 as compared
to FY08. Income from IFC’s participation notes, over and above
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minimum contractual interest, was $3 million lower in FY09 than in
FY08. Unrealized losses on loans accounted for at fair value were
$44 million higher than in FY08.

INCOME FROM EQUITY INVESTMENTS

Income from the equity investment portfolio decreased by
$1,730 million from income of $1,688 million in FY08 to a loss of
$42 million in FY09.

IFC generated realized gains on equity investments, including
recoveries of previously written-off equity investments and net
of losses on sales of equity investments, for FY09 of $990 million,
as compared with $1,219 million for FY08, a decrease of $229 mil-
lion. IFC sells equity investments where IFC’s developmental role
was complete, and where pre-determined sales trigger levels had
been met and, where applicable, expiration of lock ups.

A significant portion of these gains ($381 million) were realized
during the last three months of FY09 as IFC took advantage of the
overall recovery in emerging markets during the fourth quarter
of FY09.

Total realized gains on equity investments are concentrated - in
FYO09, 9 investments generated individual capital gains in excess
of $20 million for a total of $723 million, or 73%, of the FY09 gains,
compared to 15 investments that generated individual capital
gains in excess of $20 million for a total of $863 million, or 62%, of
the FY08 gains.

Dividend income totaled $311 million, as compared with
$428 million in FY08. Consistent with FY08, a significant amount
of IFC’s dividend income in FY09 was due to returns on IFC's joint
ventures in the oil, gas and mining sectors accounted for under the
cost recovery method, which totaled $56 million in FY09, as com-
pared with $59 million in FY08.

Unrealized losses on equity investments that are accounted for
at fair value through net income in FY09 totaled $299 million, as
compared with gains of $12 million in FY08. Consistent with overall
trends in emerging markets, IFC reported unrealized losses in the
first nine months of FY09 of $353 million and unrealized gains in
the last three months of FY09 of $54 million.

INCOME FROM DEBT SECURITIES

Income from debt securities decreased to $71 million in FY09 from
$163 million in FY08, a decrease of $92 million. The majority of
the decrease was attributable to lower realized gains on sales
of debt securities in FY09 when compared with FY08. Realized
gains on debt securities were $96 million lower in FY09 as com-
pared to FY08. There was one individually significant realized gain
in FY08 that did not recur in FYQ9.

PROVISION FOR LOSSES ON LOANS AND GUARANTEES

As noted above, the quality of IFC's loan portfolio, as measured
by country risk ratings and credit risk ratings deteriorated dur-
ing FY09 as a result of worsening economic conditions. Loan
performance, however, remained solid with non-performing
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loans as a percentage of the disbursed loan portfolio increasing
marginally from 2.4% of the disbursed loan portfolio at June 30,
2008 to 2.7% of the disbursed loan portfolio at June 30, 2009. As
a result, IFC recorded a provision for losses on loans and guar-
antees of $438 million in FY09 ($109 million in specific provisions,
$332 million in portfolio provisions, and $(3) million in respect
of guarantees) as compared to $38 million in FY08 ($(34) million
in specific provisions, $71 million of portfolio provisions and
$1 million in respect of guarantees). On June 30, 2009, IFC's total
reserves against losses on loans were 7.4% of the disbursed loan
portfolio (5.5% at June 30, 2008).

INCOME FROM LIQUID ASSET TRADING ACTIVITIES

Income from liquid asset trading activities comprises interest
from time deposits and securities, net gains and losses on trad-
ing activities, and a small currency translation effect. The liquid
assets portfolio, net of derivatives and securities lending activities,
increased from $14.6 billion at June 30, 2008, to $17.9 billion at
June 30, 2009.

Income from liquid asset trading activities totaled $474 million
in FY09 (3473 million in FYO08). In both FY09 and FY08, the P1, P2,
P3 and P4 portfolios underperformed their respective bench-
marks and the PO portfolio outperformed its benchmark. As in
FY08, the main cause of the underperformances when compared
to benchmark in FYO9 was the poor performance of the holdings

of ABS and MBS.

Negative income on the ABS and MBS portfolio in FY09 was
more than offset by positive income from the cash and treasury
security portfolio. Increased risk aversion led to lower treasury
yields and price appreciation on the treasury portfolio. In addition
to interest income of $510 million, holdings of treasury securities
showed $334 million of gains in FYO9 and the portfolio of ABS
and MBS suffered further mark-to-market declines in the first
nine months of FYO9 but rebounded during FY09 Q4 and after
seven consecutive quarters of losses, the Corporation recorded
gains of $177 million in the fourth quarter of FY09. Overall, fair
value losses on ABS and MBS totaled $368 million in FY09. All
holdings in the liquid asset portfolio paid on schedule in FYO09.
At June 30, 2009, trading securities with a fair value of $856 million
are classified as Level 3 ($319 million on June 30, 2008).

The P1 portfolio generated a return of $130 million in FY09, a
return of 0.53%. In FY08, the P1 portfolio generated a return of
$(10) million, or (0.06)%. The externally managed P3 portfolio, man-
aged against the same variable rate benchmark as the P1 portfolio,
returned $(2) million in FY09, or 0.65%, $32 million lower than the
$30 million, or 3.13%, return in FY0S8.

The P2 and externally-managed P4 portfolios returned $293 mil-
lion (5.87%) and $25 million (6.40%) in FYQ9, respectively, as com-
pared to $332 million (5.71%) and $13 million (2.90%) in FYO08.

IFC’s PO portfolio earned $28 million in FYQ9, a total return of
1.70%, as compared to $73 million (4.44%) in FY08.

Income from IFC’s P6 local currency liquidity portfolio totaled
$42 million in FY09 ($35 million in FY08).
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CHARGES ON BORROWINGS

IFC's charges on borrowings decreased by $294 million, from
$782 million in FY08 to $488 million in FYQ9, largely reflecting the
decreased US dollar interest rate environment, when comparing
FY09 and FY08. During FYQ9, IFC bought back $1.05 billion of its
market borrowings. Charges on borrowings of $488 million in FY09
(3782 million in FY08) are reported net of gains on buybacks of
$61 million ($2 million in FY08). The weighted average cost of IFC’s
borrowings outstanding from market sources, after the effects
of borrowing-related derivatives, fell during the year from 2.8%
at June 30, 2008 to 1.4% at June 30, 2009. The size of the borrow-
ings portfolio, net of borrowing-related derivatives and before fair
value adjustments, increased by $6.2 billion in FY09 from $19.6 bil-
lion at June 30, 2008, to $25.8 billion at June 30, 2008.

OTHER INCOME

Other income of $153 million for FY09 was $40 million higher than
in FYO8 ($113 million). Other income in FYO9 includes income from
the Pé local currency liquidity portfolio of $42 million, which, in
FY08, was reported in income from liquid assets trading activities.

OTHER EXPENSES

Administrative expenses (the principal component of other
expenses) increased by $33 million (6%) from $549 million in
FY08 to $582 million in FYO9, principally reflecting the significant
increase in business volumes anticipated at the beginning of
FY09 and associated Board-approved administrative budget
increases, which were offset in part by cost controls put in place
by IFC as the global financial crisis worsened. Administrative
expenses include the grossing-up effect of certain revenues
and expenses attributable to IFC's reimbursable program and
jeopardy projects ($31 million in FY09, as compared with $33 million
in FY08). IFC recorded an expense from pension and other post-
retirement benefit plans in FY09 of $34 million, as compared with
$3 million in FY08.

EXPENDITURES FOR ADVISORY SERVICES

Expenditures for advisory services in FY09 totaled $129 million,
$6 million or 5% higher than expenditures for advisory services
of $123 miilion in FYO8. The increase reflects the continued growth
in demand for IFC'’s advisory services.

PERFORMANCE-BASED GRANTS AND
IFC SME VENTURES FOR IDA COUNTRIES

Expenditures were $6 million in FY09 ($27 million in FY08).
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NET GAINS AND LOSSES ON OTHER
NON-TRADING FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

As discussed in more detail in Note A to IFC's FYQ9 consolidated
financial statements, IFC accounts for certain financial instruments
at fair value with unrealized gains and losses on such financial
instruments being reported in net income, namely: (i) all swapped
market borrowings; and (i) all equity investments in which IFC has
greater than 20% holdings and/or equity and fund investments
which, in the absence of an election of fair value accounting, would
be required to be accounted for under the equity method. All
other non-trading derivatives, including stand-alone and embed-
ded derivatives in the loan, equity and debt security portfolios
continue to be accounted for at fair value.

The resulting effects of fair value accounting for these non-
trading financial instruments on net income in FY09 and FY08 can
be summarized as follows (US$ millions):

FY09 FY08
|

Unrealized gains on market borrowings and

associated derivatives, net - $ 381 % 17
Unrealized (losses) gains on derivatives
" associated with loans (83) 8

Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives
associated with debt securities 1 (2)
Net gains on derivatives associated with

equity investments 153 86
Net gains on other non-trading financial
instruments accounted for at fair value  $ 452 § 109

The largest component of net gains and losses on other finan-
cial instruments in FY09 was on market borrowings and associated
derivatives. Changes in fair value of IFC’s market borrowings and
associated derivatives, net includes the impact of changes in
IFC's own credit spread when measured against US$ LIBOR. As
credit spreads widen, unrealized gains are recorded and
when credit spreads narrow, unrealized losses are recorded
(notwithstanding the impact of other factors, such as changes
in risk-free interest and foreign currency exchange rates). The
magnitude and direction (gain or loss) can be volatile from period
to period but do not alter the cash flows. IFC's policy is to gener-
ally match currency, amount and timing of cash flows on market
borrowings with cash flows on associated derivatives entered into
contemporaneously.

Prior to FY09, IFC’s own credit spread had been relatively stable
at sub-LIBOR rates — as such, there was no significant reported
volatility associated with fair valuing IFC’'s market borrowings
and associated derivatives. Beginning in the second quarter of
FY09 and extending into the third quarter of FYQ9 as the global
financial crisis worsened, IFC's own credit spreads, consistent with
all supranationals and other triple-A rated institutions widened
considerably but narrowed somewhat during the fourth quarter,
although remaining LIBOR-plus at June 30, 2009. As a result, IFC
reported a credit to net income for FY09 of $381 million, as com-
pared to $17 million in FY08.
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IFC reported a net gain on derivatives associated with equity
investments (principally put options, stock options, conversion
features and warrants) of $153 million in FY09. As emerging mar-
kets equities declined in FYQ9, IFC’s put options, stock warrants,
and conversion features entered into in part as an exit strategy
became more valuable, resulting in unrealized net gains. Such
gains are highly concentrated, with five derivatives accounting for
$105 million of gains and five derivatives accounting for $55 million
of losses in FY09 (five derivatives accounting for $103 million, or
94%, of the gains in FY08).

GRANTS TO IDA

During FY09, IFC recorded a grant to IDA of $450 million, as com-
pared with $500 million in FY08.

OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

Unrealized Gains and Losses on

Equity Investments and Debt Securities

IFC's investments in debt securities and equity investments that
are listed in markets that provide readily determinable fair values
at fair value are classified as available-for-sale, with unrealized
gains and losses on such investments being reported in OCI
until realized. When realized, the gain or loss is transferred to net
income. Changes in unrealized gains and losses on equity invest-
ments and debt securities being reported in OCl are significantly
impacted by (i) the global environment for emerging markets;
and (i) the realization of gains on sales of such equity investments and
debt securities.

During the first nine months of FYQ09, IFC recorded a charge to
OCl in the amount of $2,077 million relating to equity investments
and debt securities as global emerging markets experienced
significant declines. In the fourth quarter of FY09, as emerg-
ing markets rallied, IFC recorded a credit to OCI in the amount
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of $432 million, resulting in a full year charge to OCl in the amount of

$1,645 million in respect of equity investments and debt securities.
The net change in unrealized gains and losses on equity invest-

ments and debt securities in OCl can be summarized as follows:

FY09 FY08
L]

Net unrealized losses on equity investments
arising during the year:

Unrealized gains $ 180 $ 694
Unrealized losses (1,294) (602)
Reclassification adjustment for realized
gains and impairment write-downs
included in net income (357) (570)
Net unrealized losses on equity investments  $ (1,471) $ (478)
Net unrealized {losses) gains on debt
securities arising during the year
Unrealized gains $ 57 § 232
Unrealized losses (294) (106)
Reclassification adjustment for realized gains,
non credit-related portion of impairment
write-downs which were recognized in
net income and impairment write-downs
included in net income 63 (104)
Net unrealized (losses) gains on
debt securities $ (174) $ 22
Total unrealized (losses) gains on equity
investments and debt securities $ (1,645) $ 456

Unrecognized Net Actuarial Gains and Losses
and Unrecognized Prior Service Costs on Benefit Plans
Changes in the funded status of pension and other postretirement
benefit plans are recognized in OC|, to the extent they are not
recognized in net income under periodic benefit cost for the
year. During FY09, IFC experienced a decrease in the current
value adjustment for unrecognized net periodic pension cost of
$346 million, primarily reflecting lower fair value of plan assets,
with a lower relative decline in projected benefit obligation.
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VIll. Governance

MANAGEMENT CHANGES

During FY10, the following changes occurred in the senior man-
agement of IFC:

Mr. Gavin E.R. Wilson was appointed CEO, IFC Asset
Management Company LLC, effective July 1, 2009 and became
a part of IFC's Management Team effective September 30, 2009.

Mr. Janamitra Devan was appointed Vice President, Financial
and Private Sector Development, effective October 19, 2009.

Mr. Rashad Kaldany's title became Vice President, Asia, Eastern
Europe, Middle East and North Africa, effective February 1, 2010.

Mr. Jyrki Koskelo's title became Vice President, Global
Industries, effective February 1, 2010.

Mr. Thierry Tanoh's title became Vice President, Sub-Saharan
Africa, Latin America and the Caribbean, and Western Europe,
effective February 1, 2010.

Subsequent to June 30, 2010, the following changes are
expected to occur, in the senior management of IFC:

Ms. Nina Shapiro has announced her intention to retire as Vice
President, Finance and Treasurer, effective September 30, 2010.

Mr. Michel G. Maila has announced his intention to step down
from his duties as Vice President, Risk Management, effective
September 15, 2010.

GENERAL GOVERNANCE

IFC’s decision-making structure is comprised of the Board of
Governors, the Board of Directors, the President, the Executive
Vice President and CEQ, other Officers and Staff. The Board of
Governors is the highest decision-making authority. The Board
of Governors has delegated to the Board of Directors authority
to exercise all of the powers of IFC except those reserved to the
Governors under the Articles of Agreement.

BOARD MEMBERSHIP

In accordance with its Articles of Agreement, members of IFC's
Board are appointed or elected by their member governments.
These Directors are neither officers nor staff of IFC. The President
is the only management member of the Board, serving as a non-
voting member and as Chairman of the Board.

The Board has established several Committees including:
B Committee on Development Effectiveness
B Audit Committee
® Budget Committee
B Personnel Committee
M Ethics Committee
M Committee on Governance and Administrative Matters

The Board and its Committees function in continuous session
at the principal offices of the World Bank Group, as business
requires. Each Committee’s terms of reference establishes its
respective roles and responsibilities. As Committees do not vote
on issues, their role is primarily to serve the full Board in discharg-
ing its responsibilities.

The Board of Directors is responsible for the conduct of the
general operations of IFC. The Directors are also responsible for
presenting to the Board of Governors, at the Annual meetings, an
audit of accounts, an administrative budget, and an annual report
on operations and policies as well as other matters.

MEMBERSHIP

The Audit Committee consists of eight members of the Board.
Membership on the Committee is determined by the Board, based
upon nominations by the Chairman of the Board, following informal
consultation with the Directors.

KEY RESPONSIBILITIES

The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board to assist it in
the oversight and assessment of IFC’s finances and accounting,
including the effectiveness of financial policies, the integrity
of financial statements, the system of internal controls regarding
finance, accounting and ethics (including fraud and corruption),
and financial and operational risks. The Audit Committee also
has the responsibility for reviewing the performance and recom-
mending to the Board the appointment of the external auditor, as
well as monitoring the independence of the external auditor. The
Audit Committee participates in oversight of the internal audit
function and reviews the annual internal audit plan and meets
with the Auditor General in executive session. In the execution
of its role, the Audit Committee discusses with management, the
external auditors, and the internal auditors, financial issues and
policies, which have a bearing on IFC's financial position and risk-
bearing capacity. The Committee also reviews with the external
auditor the financial statements prior to their publication and
recommends them for approval of the Board of Directors. The
Audit Committee updated its terms of reference in July 2009.

EXECUTIVE SESSIONS

Under the Committee’s Terms of Reference, members of the
Committee may convene in executive session at any time, without
management present. The Committee meets separately in execu-
tive session with the external and internal auditors.
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ACCESS TO RESOURCES AND TO MANAGEMENT

Throughout the year, the Audit Committee receives a large volume
of information, which supports the preparation of the financial
statements. The Audit Committee meets both formally and infor-
mally throughout the year to discuss relevant matters. Directors
have complete access to management. The Audit Committee
reviews and discusses with management topics contemplated in
their Terms of Reference.

The Audit Committee has the capacity, under exceptional cir-
cumstances, to obtain advice and assistance from outside legal,
accounting or other advisors as deemed approgpriate.

Staff members’ ethical obligations to the institution are embod-
ied in its core values and principles of staff employment. In sup-
port of this commitment, the institution has in place a code of
conduct, entitled Living our Values (the Code). The Code
applies to all staff worldwide and is available on IBRD's Web site,
www.worldbank.org.

In addition to the Code, Staff and Administrative Manuals, guid-
ance for staff is also provided through programs, training mate-
rials, and other resources. Managers are responsible for ensuring
that internal systems, policies, and procedures are consistently
aligned with the World Bank Group’s business conduct framework.

IFC has in place procedures for the receipt, retention and
handling of recommendations and concerns relating to business
conduct identified during accounting, internal control and audit-
ing processes.
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The World Bank Group has both an Ethics HelpLine and a Fraud
and Corruption hotline. A third-party service offers numerous
methods of world wide communication. Other reporting channels
include phone, email, anonymously, or through confidential sub-
mission through a website.

The World Bank Group's Staff Rules clarify and codify the obliga-
tions of staff in reporting suspected fraud, corruption or other mis-
conduct that may threaten operations or governance of the World
Bank Group. Additionally, these rules offer protection from retaliation.

AUDITOR INDEPENDENCE

The appointment of the external auditor of IFC is governed
by a set of Board-approved principles. Key features of those
principlesinclude:

® Prohibition of the external auditor from the provision of all non
audit-related services;

#® All audit-related services must be pre-approved on a case-
by case basis by the Board, upon recommendation of the
Audit Committee;

® Mandatory rebidding of the external audit contract every
five years;

External auditors are appointed to a five-year term of service. This
is subject to annual reappointment based on the recommendation of
the Audit Committee and approval of a resolution by the Board.
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August S, 2010

Management’s Report Regarding Effectiveness of
Internal Control over External Financial Reporting

The management of the Intemational Finance Corporation (IFC) is responsible for the
preparation, integrity, and fair presentation of its published consolidated financial statements and
all other information prcsented in the accompanying Management’s Discussion and Analysis.
The consolidated financial statements have boen prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United States of America (US GAAP) and, as such, include
amounts based on informed judgments and cstimates made by management.

The consolidatcd financial statements have been audited by an independent accounting firm,
which was given unrestricted access to all financial records and related data, including minutes
of all meetings of the Board of Directors and their Committees. Management believes that all
reprcscntations made to the independent auditors during their audit of IFC’s consolidated
financial statements and attestation of its internal control over financial reporting were valid and
appropriate. The independent auditor’s reports accompany thc audited consolidated financial
statcments.

Management is responsible for establishing and maintaining effective internal control over
cxternal financial reporting for financial presentations in conformity with US GAAP.
Management maintains a comprehensive system of controls intended to ensure that transactions
are exccuted in accordance with management’s authorization, assets are safeguarded and
financial records are reliable. The system of internal control contains monitoring mechanisms,
and actions arc takcn to corrcct dcficicncics identificd. Management belicves that internal
controls for extemal financial reporting, which are subject to scrutiny by management and the
internal auditors, and are revised as considered necessary, support the integrity and rcliability of
the external consolidated financial statements.

There are inherent limitations in the effectiveness of any intemal control, including the
possibility of human error and the circumvention or overriding of controls. Accordingly, even
effcctive intemal control can provide only reasonable assurance with respect to financial
statement preparation. Further, because of changes in conditions, the effectivencss of internal
control may vary over time.

TFC assessed its intemal control over external financial reporting for financial statement
presentation in conformity with US GAAP as of June 30, 2010. This assessment was based on
the criteria for effective internal control over external financial reporting described in /nternal
Control-Integrated Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission. Based upon this assessment, management believes that IFC maintained
effective internal control over external financial reporting presented in conformity with US

2121 Pennsylvania Ave,, N.W. washington, 12.C. 20433 LISA  Phone: (202) 473-1000 . Facsimile: (202) 477-6391
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GAAP, as of Junc 30, 2010. The independent audit firm that audited the consolidated financial
statements has issued an attestation rcport on management’s assertion on 1FC’s internal control
over external financial reporting,

The Board of Dircctors has appointed an Audit Committee rcsponsible for monitoring the
accounting pructices and internal controls of IFC. The Audit Committce is compriscd cntircly of
Directors who are indcpendent of IFC’s management. The Audit Committee is responsible for
recommending to the Board of Directors the selcction of indcpendent auditors. It mcets
periodically with management, the independent auditors, and the internal auditors to ensure that
they are carrying out their responsibilities. The Audit Committee is responsible for performing
an oversight role by reviewing and monitoring the financial, accounting and auditing procedures
of IFC in addition to rcviewing IFC’s rcports. The indepcendent auditors and the internal auditors
have full and frcc acccss to the Audit Committee, with or without the presence of management to
discuss the adequacy of internal control over external financial reporting and any other matters
which they believc should be brought to the attention of the Audit Committee.

Liee & Nl L .

Robert B. Zo¢llic s H. Thunell
President Executive Viee President and CEQO
= ,,»-"‘”' ’—..) o
— ) - —Bermard Lauwers

Vice President, Risk Management ¢ Controller and Director
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KPMG _LP
200* M Street NW
Washinjton, 0C 20036

Independent Auditors’ Report

President and Board of Directors
Intemational Finance Corporation:

We have examined management’s assertion, included in the accompanying Management’s Report
Regarding Effectiveness of Internal Control Over External Financial Reporting, that the International
Finance Corporation (IFC) maintained effective internal control cver financial reporting as of June 30,
2010, based on criteria established in Mternal Control — Integrated Framework issued by the Commission
of Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway Commission (COSO). IFC’s management is respcnsible for
maintaining efZective internal control over financial reporting, and for its assertion on the effectiveness of
intemnal control over financial reporting, included in the accompanying Management’s Report Regarding
Effectiveress of Internal Control Over External Financial Reporting. Our responsibility is to express an
opinion on management’s assertion based oa our examination.

We conducted our examination in accordance with attestation standards established by the American
Institute of Certified Public Accountaats. Those standards require that we plan and perform the
examination to obtain reasonable assurance about whether effective internzl control over financial
reporting was maintained in all material respects. Our examination included obtaining an understanding
of intemal control over financial reporting, assessing the risk that a matsrial weakaess exists, and testing
and evaluating the design aad operating effectivaness of internal control based on the assessed risk. Our
exarunation also inciuded performing such other procedures as we considered naecessary in the
circumstances. We bel:eve that our examination provides a reasonable basis for our opinior.

An entity’s internal control over financial reporting is a process effected by ‘hose charged with
governance, management. and other personnel, designed to prcvide reascnable assurance regarding the
reliability of financial reporting and thez preparation cf ‘inancial statements for external purposes in
accordance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles. An entity’s internal control over financial
reporting includes those policies and procedures that (1) pertain to the maintenance cf records that. in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly reflect the transactions and dispositions of the assets of the entity;
(2) prcvide reasonable assurance that transactions are recorded as necessary to permit preparation of
financial statemeats in acccrdance with U.S. generally accepted accounting principles, and that receipts
and expenditures of the entity are being made only in accordance with authonzations of management and
those charged with governance: and (3] provide reasonable assurance regarding prevention, or timely
detection of unauthorized acquisition, use, or disposition of the en:ity’s assets taat could have a material
effect on the financial stazements.

Bacause of its inherent limitations. internal control over financial reporting may not prevent, or detect and
correct misstatzments. Also. projactions of any evaluation of effectiveness to future periods are subject to
the nsk that contro’s may become inadequatz because of changes in conditions, or that the degree of
compliance with the policies or procedures may deteriorzte.

KPMG LLP 18 & Delawars imed 1 aditty painersip.
the U.5. mambes firm 2f KPMG IThernationa Coopesaiive
(KPMG IFTRMatbna™;, a SMSE ity




INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

International Finance Corporation
Page 2 of 2

In our opinion, management’s assertion that IFC maintained effective internal control over financial
reporting as of June 30, 2010 is fairly stated. in all material respects, based on criteria established in
Internal Control — Integrated Framework i1ssued by the Commission of Sponsoring Organizations of the
Treadway Commission (COSO).

We also have audited. in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States of
America, the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of IFC as of June 30 2010 and 2009, including
the consolidated statement of capital stock and voting power as of June 30, 2010, and the related
consolidated income statements and statements of comprehensive income, changes in capital, and cash
flows for each of the years in the two-year period ended June 30, 2010, and our report dated
August 5, 2010 expressed an unqualified opinion on those consolidated financial statements.

KPMcs LLP

August 5. 2010
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

as of June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009

(US$ millions)
2010 2009
Assets
Cash and due from DAMKS .........ccoccviiiiiiii e et e $ 528 $ 380
Time deposits .......ccecviviiviniieniien, 5,435 3,877
Trading securities - Notes C and R ........cccoooiiiii i e 23,428 20,243
Securities purchased under resale agreements ...t 539 544
Investments - Notes B, D, E, F, Rand U
Loans ($450 - June 30, 2010 and $386 - June 30, 2009 at fair value)
(net of reserves against losses of $1,349 - June 30, 2010 and
$1,238 - June 30, 2009) - Notes D, Eand R .......ccovoie i 16,660 15,328
Equity investments ($4,918 - June 30, 2010 and $3,243 - June 30, 2009
at fair value) - Notes B, D and R.........oooeoiiiiiiiiii ittt e e 7,469 5,344
Debt securities - Notes D, F and R...........cccoiiiiiiiieeiec e 1,815 1,542
Total INVESIMENES ......eoiiiiiiii e e s e s 25.944 22214
Derivative assets - Notes Q and R.......ccooveiiiiieireeiieiiie ettt et rens e seenas 2,688 2,195
Receivables and other assets - NOte J ... e 2,513 2,030
Total assets ... e e $ 61075 $ 51483
Liabilities and capital
Liabilities
Securities sold under repurchase agreements and payable
for cash collateral reCEIVEM .............coveciireerciinncie e et e et e en e e srenee s $ 8,393 $ 6,388
Borrowings outstanding - Notes Kand R............ocociiiiiiiiii s
From market sources at amortized COSt ..ot e 1,851 399
From market sources at fair VAIUE ............cevveviviiiiiiiii ettt ra e 29,205 25,261
From International Bank for Reconstruction and Development at amortized cost 50 51
TOtAl DOITOWINGS ..ot et ae e 31,106 25711
Derivative liabilities - Notes Q and R .......c.ccciiiviiiienr s e 1,140 1,553
Payables and other liabilities - NOte L.........cccccoeiiiiiiniiiiiii et e 2,077 1,709
Total HabIlIIES ........coeiiiiicii e et 42,716 35,361
Capital
Capital stock, authorized 2,450,000 shares of $1,000 par value each - Note M
Subscribed and PAIG-IN ... e e 2,369 2,369
Accumulated other comprehensive income - Note O ...........cccviiiiivieiieesincnnin e 1,202 711
Retained earnings - NOte O.........cccoiiiiii ittt e e 14.788 13,042
<] €= e o - 1O OO SO OSSO 18,359 16,122
Total liabilities and capital .................cocco i $ 61,075 $ 51483

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements
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CONSOLIDATED INCOME STATEMENTS

for each of the three years ended June 30, 2010

(US$ millions)
2010 2009 2008
Income from investments
Income from loans and guarantees - Note E.............cccooeviiviiiiiivece e $ 801 $ 871 $ 1,065
Provision for losses on loans and guarantees - NOte E............ccccvevvvvcvivieievienene. (155) (438) (38)
Income (loss) from equity investments - Note G............occoovviviiiiiieiiiciec e 1,638 (42) 1,688
Income from debt securities - NOte F ..o 108 71 163
Income from INVEeSIMEeNES ..o 2,392 462 . 2,878
Income from liquid asset trading activities - NOte C ............ccccovveceriiiiceiiics e 815 474 473
Charges on borrowings - NOtE K ............ccoiiiiiiiiiiiisreeecece ettt st (163) 488 (782)
Income from investments and liquid asset trading activities,
after charges on borrowings...................ccccooeeicoiiiic e 3,044 448 2,569
Other income
SEIVICE FEES ..o et 70 39 58
Other —NOtes B and N ...t ettt et 106 114 ’ 55
Total Other iINCOME ..............cciiiiiii e 176 153 113
Other expenses
Administrative expenses - Note W ... (582) (549)
Expense from pension and other postretirement benefit plans - Note V ... (34) 3)
Other = INOLE B ......ciiiiiiii ettt area (13) (3)
Total Other eXPeNSes ...............cccccciiiiiiiiiiii et e 743 629 555
Foreign currency transaction (losses) gains on non-trading activities........................ (82) 10 (39)
Expenditures for advisory services - Note O ..........c.ccvceviiriiiieeie i (101) (129) (123)
Expenditures for performance-based grants and for IFC SME Ventures for
IDA countries - NOtE O........ccccoiiiiiiirisiese ettt areeas (9) (6) (27)
Income (loss) before net (losses) gains on other n.on-trading financial
instruments accounted for at fair value and grants to IDA ........................ 2,285 (153) 1,938
Net (losses) gains on other non-trading financial instruments accounted for
at fairvalue - Note P ..., P PP PSP TUITOTU (339) 452 109
Income beforegrants to IDA ... 1,946 299 2,047
Grants t0 IDA - NOE O ....oiierieieeic ettt et e eae e (200) 450 (500)
NetinComMe (I0SS).............cooiiiiiii e e st S 1,746 $§ (151 $ 1547

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

for each of the three years ended June 30, 2010

(US$ millions)

2010 2009
Nt INCOME (IOSS)........oceeieieeieeie ettt bt st e ne e serenre s s nae sans $ 1,746 $ (151)
Other comprehensive income (loss)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on debt securities arising
AUANG TN YBAT ...ttt et s 120 (237)
Less: reclassification adjustment for realized gains included in net income......... (14) (6)
Less: reclassification adjustment for non-monetary exchanges
included in NetINCOME .......occuiiiiiiiiiece e (32) (2)
Less: reclassification adjustment for non credit-related portion of impairment
write-downs which were recognized in net income.............ccocovvnvviiienn - (34)
Add: reclassification adjustment for impairment write-downs included in
NEE INCOME ... i e a s 3 105
Net unrealized gains (losses) on debt securities ..............cceeevvviiiiiniinin, 77 (174)
Net unrealized gains (losses) on equity investments arising during the year........... 919 (1,114)
Less: reclassification adjustment for realized gains included in net income.......... (390) (810)
Add: reclassification adjustment for impairment write-downs included in
NEEINCOME ...ci it re e st st as e s s b a e s s e e s s nes 77 453
Net unrealized gains (losses) on equity investments..............ccccvvvivniiieenn, 606 (1.471)
Unrecognized net actuarial gains (losses) and unrecognized prior service credits
(costs) onbenefit plans ............ccoviiiiiiiiii (192) 346
Total other comprehensive income (I0SS) ............c..ccvvivriieeniieeninicnieen s 491 (1,991)
Total comprehensive income (10SS) .............c.ecooeeviiniiiinniini s $ 2237 $ __ (2,142)

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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$ 1,547
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(81)

(23)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CHANGES IN CAPITAL

for each of the three years ended June 30, 2010

(US$ millions)

Retained earnings
Accumulated

other
comprehensive Capital
Undesignated Designated Total income - Note O stock t Total capital
AtJuly1,2007 ... $ 11,039 $ 606 $11645 §$ 3,365 $ 2,365 $ 17,375
Year ended June 30, 2008
Netincome...........oooevrviniiiiiinnn 1,547 1,547 1,547
Other comprehensive loss................. (662) (662)
Expenditures against designated
retained earnings - Note O............ 650 (650) - -
Designations of
retained earnings - Note O............ (870) 870 -
Payments received for
capital stock subscribed............... - 1 1
AtJune 30,2008..................c.ceeeann. $ 12366 $ 826 $13,192 § 2,703 $ 2366 $ 18,261
Gumulative effect of adoption of
FSP FAS 115-2 - Note O..... 1 1 (1)
At June 30, 2008 after cumulative
effect adjustments........................ $ 12,367 $ 826 $13,193 § 2,702 $ 2,366 $ 18,261
Year ended June 30, 2009
NEtI0SS..covineciier i (151) (151) (151)
Other comprehensive loss.................. (1,991) (1,991)
Expenditures against designated
retained earnings - Note O............ 585 (585) -
Designations of
retained earnings - Note O............ (550) 550 - -
Payments received for
capital stock subscribed............... - 3 3
At June 30,2009..................oeeeeinnes $ 12251 § 791 $13,042 $ 7M1 $ 2,369 $ 16,122
Year ended June 30, 2010 :
Netincome.........ooevveiiiiiiieninnnn. 1,746 1,746 1,746
Other comprehensive income............ 491 4931
Expenditures against designated
retained earnings - Note O............ 310 (310) - -
AtJune30,2010...............coeninnns $§ 14307 § 481 $14788 § 1,202 § 2369 § 18359

' Capital stock includes payments received on account of pending subscriptions.

pad
The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

for each of the three years ended June 30, 2010

(US$ millions)
2010 2009 2008
Cash flows from investing activities
Loan diSBUISEMENES ......coiiiiiiiieeeieiee v e $ (4,907) $ (4,356) $ (5,076)
Investments in equity securities .... (1,617) (1,153) (1,622)
Investments in debt securities ...... (269) (131) (952)
Loan repayments ..... . 3,016 2,274 2,623
4

Equity redemptions ................ 1

Debt securities repayments ... 92 31 15
Sales of loans..........c..oceenennn, 11 - 59
Sales of equity investments ... 1,633 1,382 1,590
Sales of debt SECUNLIES ..........cccvuiiiiiiiri et e 13 8 155
Net cash used in investing activities ................c.ccoviiicincni, (2,027) (1.941) (3,144)
Cash flows from financing activities
Medium and long-term borrowings
INBW ISSUBS ....ceeiiicieiiiii et e et e e e st e e e s er s e e e e e e sntareeeabnteeeseestbbeaesasesenenreeas 8,566 8,980 6,024
Retirement ... (5,819) (3,017) (2,210)
Medium and long-term borrowings related derivatives, net... 261 117 154
Short-term borrowings, Net ..........ccccoeiiiiieeiiecc e 1,404 - -
Capital SUDSCHPHIONS . ......ccoviriiiriieiciiericire ettt s sa e neenreneaas - 3 1
Net cash provided by financing activities ................cc.cccoovvineniie e, 4.412 6.083 3.969

Cash flows from operating activities
NELINCOME (10SS)...viiiiiviiiiitiiiiii et e e e 1,746 (151) 1,547
Adjustments to reconcile net income (loss) to net cash (used in) provided by
operating activities:

Realized gains on debt securities and gains on non-monetary exchanges ......... (46) (8 (104)
Realized gains on equity investments and gains on non-monetary exchanges... (1,318) (1,004) (1,396)
Unrealized (gains) losses on loans accounted for at fair value
under the Fair Value OPtion ..........ccocoiiiiieeniieiesiecnecce et (42) 62 18
Unrealized gains on debt securities accounted for at fair value
under the Fair Value Option... ........cccoeiviniiiinncninenenesrenseeearesesvesrans (23) - -
Unrealized (gains) losses on equity investments accounted for at fair value
under the Fair Value OptioN ...........ccooeiiire i (240) 299 (12)
Provision for losses on loans and guarantees... 155 438 38
Impairment losses on debt securities................ 3 8 -
Equity investment impairment write-downs....... 203 1,058 140
Net discounts paid on retirement of borrowings..............c..cceeevvnne. (7) 17 (5)
Net realized gains on extinguishment of borrowings............cccccooeevenee. (62) (61) (3]
Foreign currency transaction losses (gains) on non-trading activities.................. 82 (10} 39
Net losses (gains) on other non-trading financial instruments
accounted for at fair Value ............coceorviiiveenciiine e 339 (452) (109)
Change in accrued income on loans, time deposits and securities .... (37) (21) (38)
Change in payables and other liabilities ...........c..ccccoeveeriirieiiiennnnn, 634 (3,210) (1,742)
Change in receivables and other @ssets............coocvvccenniiieenniiee e (162) 2,705 1,129
Change in trading securities and securities purchased and sold under :
resale and repurchase agreemMentS ............covevccrrerirenienecesinniaeec e snsae e (2,085) (8,156) 2,990
Net cash (used in) provided by operating activities .................................. (860) {8.520) 2,493
Change in cash and cash eqUIVaIENTS ...........c..cccieeiiiiiiceni e e 1,525 (4,378) 3,318
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash.and cash equivalents ... 181 (127) _ 83
Net change in cash and cash equivalents .............cccocvcvvenene. 1,706 (4,505) 3,401
Beginning cash and cash equivalents ..............cc.ceeeeiiein i 4,257 8,762 5,361
Ending cash and cash equivalents ....................cccccccconiinienincininne s, § 5963 $ 4257 $ 8762
Composition of cash and cash equivalents
Cash and due from DankS.............coovrieeeeiinenricenice e $ 528 $ 380 $ 344
TIME AEPOSIS ...cveeuiiiiiirii ittt eeas b e e st ee s estestesae e 5,435 3.877 8.418
Total cash and cash equivalents ...................cocccoceiinniiccciicc $ 50963 $ 4257 $ 8762

pai
The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

for each of the three years ended June 30, 2010
(US$ millions)

2010 2009 2008

Supplemental disclosure

Change in ending balances resulting from currency exchange rate fluctuations:

Loans outstanding (267) $ (535) $ 421
Debt securities ........ 59 (131) 85
BOIOWINGS .......oocviiiieiieiiiieii e (411) 414 (725)
Borrowing-related currency swaps 410 (391) 679
Loan and debt security-related currency swaps .... 128 702 (494)
Client risk management-related currency SWaps.........c....ccocvvcvcennenee. (1) 2 -
Charges on borrowings paid, Nt ...............oceeiierinnrinieeriiiereneeiirnre et seeeens $ 209 $ 527 $ 827
Non-cash item:
Loan and debt securities conversion to equity, Net...........cccoeerevrveeerreiereeeninna, $ 172 $ 41 $ 109

pa2
The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CAPITAL STOCK AND VOTING

POWER

as of June 30, 2010

(US$ thousands)
Capital stock Voting power Capital stock Voting power
Amount Percent Number  Percent >Bo.:3 Percent Number  Percent

Afghanistan
Albania
Algeria .
Angola .................
Anfigua and Barbuda
Argentina
Armenia
Australia .
Austria ...
Azerbaijan
Bahamas, The .
Babhrain ...
Bangladesh
Barbados

erzegovina ...
Botswana .........cccceecvrienenn
Brazil .
Bulgaria
Burkina Faso .
Burundi
Cambodia .
Cameroon .
Canada ...
Cape Verde ............
Central African Republic
Chad.
Chile
China .
Colombia
Comoros
Congo, Dem. Rep. of
Congo, Republic of ...
Costa r_ow
Céte d'lvoire
Croatia .
Cyprus .
Czech Republic .
Denmark
Dijibouti
Dominica
Dominican Republic .
Mocmwo» b Fesic st
pt, Arab Republic of .
mmmm_ﬁnoﬂ .
Equatorial Guinea
Entrea ..
Estonia

Guatemala
Guinea ...
Guinea-Bissau .

Honduras
Hungary
Iceland.
India ...

Indonesia ...........
Iran, Islamic Repu

Kenya ....
Kiribati ...
Korea, Republic of
KOSOVO .....ocovuerenen
Koreas bli
yrgyz Republic
L o.woov_o_m Dem. Rep. ...
Latvia ...oeereeieeeriiiicrces

* Less than .005 percent.

id

El f | of v
111 * 361 0.01 Lebanon . 135
1,302 0.05 1,552 0.06 Lesotho 71
5,621 0.24 5,871 0.24 Liberia 83
1,481 0.06 1,731 0.07 Libya ... 55
13 * 263 0.01 Lithuania ... 2,341
38,129 1.61 38,379 1.59 Luxembourg 2,139
992 0.04 1,242 0.05 Macedonia, FYR of . 536
47,329 2.00 47,579 1.97 Madagascar ......... 432
19,741 0.83 19,991 0.83 Malawi_ 1,822
2,367 0.10 2,617 0.11 Malaysia . 15,222
335 0.01 585 0.02 Maldives . 16
1,746 0.07 1,996 0.08 Mali 451
9,037 0.38 9,287 0.38 1,615
361 0.02 611 0.03 Marshall Islands 663
5,162 0.22 5,412 0.22 Mauritania . 214
50,610 2.14 50,860 2.11 Mauritius . 1,665
101 * 351 0.01 Mexico . 27,589
119 0.01 369 0.02 Micronesia, Fed. States of.. 744
720 0.03 970 0.04 Moldova 1,192
1,902 0.08 2,152 0.09 Mongolia . 144
620 0.03 870 0.04 Montenegro 1,035
113 * 363 0.02 Morocco 9,037
39,479 1.67 39,729 1.65 Mozaml . 322
4,867 0.21 5,117 0.21 Myanmar 666
836 0.04 1,086 0.04 Namibia . 404
100 * 350 0.01 Nepal ........ 822
339 0.01 589 0.02 Netherlands 56,131
885 0.04 1,135 0.05 New Zealand 3,583
81,342 3.43 81,592 3.38 Nicaragua . 715
15 * 265 0.01 Niger .. 147
119 0.01 369 0.02 Nigeria . 21,643
1,364 0.06 1,614 0.07 Norway 17,599
11,710 0.49 11,960 0.50 Oman ... 1,187
24,500 1.03 24,750 1.02 Pakistan 19,380
12,606 0.53 12,856 0.53 Palau . 25
14 - 264 0.01 Panama . 1,007
2,189 0.09 2,409 0.10 Papua New Guinea 1,147
131 0.01 381 0.02 Paraguay 436
952 0.04 1,202 0.05 Peru 6,898
3,544 0.15 3,794 0.16 12,606
2,882 0.12 3,132 0.13 7,236
2,139 0.09 2,389 0.10 8,324
8,913 0.38 9,163 0.38 1,650
18,554 0.78 18,804 0.78 2,661
21 * 271 0.01 Russian Federation 81,342
42 * 292 0.01 Rwanda 306
1,187 0.05 1,437 0.06 Samoa . — 35
2,161 0.09 2,411 0.10 Sao Tome and Principe 439
12,360 0.52 12,610 0.52 Saudi Arabia 30,062
29 * 279 0.01 Senegal .... 2,299
43 * 293 0.01 Serbia. 1,803
935 0.04 1,185 0.05 Seychelles 27
1,434 0.06 1,684 0.07 Sierra Leone . 223
127 0.01 377 0.02 177
287 0.01 537 0.02 4,457
15,697 0.66 15,947 0.66 . 1,585
121,015 5.11 121,265 5.02 Solomon Islands .. 37
1,268 0.05 1,518 0.06 Somalia .... 83
94 * 344 0.01 South Africa 15,948
1,380 0.06 1,630 0.07 Spain . 37,026
128,908 5.44 129,158 5.35 Sri Lanka 7,135
5,071 0.21 5,321 0.22 St. Kitts and Nevis 638
6,898 0.29 7,148 0.30 St. Lucia 74
74 * 324 0.01 Sudan .. 11
1,084 0.05 1,334 0.06 Swaziland . 684
339 0.01 589 0.02 Sweden 26,876
18 * 268 0.01 Switzerland . 41,580
1,392 0.06 1,642 0.07 i 194
822 0.03 1,072 0.04 1,212
495 0.02 745 0.03 1,003
10,932 0.46 11,182 0.46 Thailand . 10,941
42 * 292 0.01 Timor-Leste 777
81,342 3.43 81,592 3.38 Togo .. 808
28,539 1.20 28,789 1.19 Tonga .. 34
1,444 0.06 1,694 0.07 Trinidad and Tobago 4,112
147 0.01 397 0.02 Tunisia . 3,566
1,290 0.05 1,540 0.06 Turkey . 14,545
2,135 0.09 2,385 0.10 Turkmenistan 810
81,342 3.43 81,592 3.38 735
4,282 0.18 4,532 0.19 9,505
141,174 5.96 141,424 5.86 United Arab Emirates . 4,033
941 0.04 1,191 0.05 United Kingdom .. 121,015
4,637 0.20 4,887 0.20 United States 569,379
4,041 0.17 4,291 0.18 Uruguay . 3,569
12 * 262 0.01 Uzbekistan 3,873
15,946 0.67 16,196 0.67 Vanuatu . . 55
1,454 0.06 1,704 0.07 Venezuela, Rep. Boliv. de . 27,588
9,947 0.42 10,197 0.42 Vietnam ............... 446
1,720 0.07 1,970 0.08 Yemen, Republic of
278 0.01 528 0.02 Zambia ...
2,150 0.09 2,400 0.10 Zimbabwe ...

Total June 30, 2010
Total June 30, 2009

+ May differ from the sum of the individual percentages shown because of rounding.

The notes to the consolidated financial statements are an integral part of these statements.
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385 0.02
321 0.01
333 0.01
305 0.01
2,591 0.11
2,389 0.10
786 0.03
682 0.03
2,072 0.09
15,472 0.64
266 0.01
701 0.03
1,865 0.08
913 0.04
464 0.02
1,915 0.08
27,839 1.15
994 0.04
1,442 0.06
394 0.02
1,285 0.05
9,287 0.38
572 0.02
916 0.04
654 0.03
1,072 0.04
56,381 2.33
3,833 0.16
965 0.04
397 0.02
21,893 0.91
17,849 0.74
1,437 0.06
19,630 0.81
275 0.01
1,257 0.05
1,397 0.06
686 0.03
7,148 0.30
12,856 0.53
7,486 0.31
8,574 0.36
1,900 0.08
2,911 0.12
81,592 3.38
556 0.02
285 0.01
689 0.03
30,312 1.26
2,549 0.11
2,053 0.09
277 0.01
473 0.02
427 0.02
4,707 0.19
1,835 0.08
287 0.01
333 0.01
16,198 0.67
37,276 1.54
7,385 0.31
888 0.04
324 0.01
361 0.01
934 0.04
27,126 1.12
41,830 1.73
444 0.02
1,462 0.06
1,253 0.05
11,191 0.46
1,027 0.04
1,058 0.04
284 0.01
4,362 0.18
3,816 0.16
14,795 0.61
1,060 0.04
985 0.04
9,755 0.40
4,283 0.18
121,265 5.02
569,629 23.59
3,819 0.16
4,123 , 0.17
305 0.01
27,838 1.15
696 0.03
965 0.04
1,536 0.06
2,370 0.10




INTERNATIONAL FINANCE CORPORATION

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

PURPOSE

The International Finance Corporation (IFC), an international organization, was established in 1956 to further economic development in its
member countries by encouraging the growth of private enterprise. IFC is a member of the Worid Bank Group, which also comprises the
International Bank for Reconstruction and Development (IBRD), the International Development Association (IDA), the Multilateral Investment
Guarantee Agency (MIGA), and the International Centre for Settlement of Investment Disputes (ICSID). Each member is legally and financially
independent. Transactions with other World Bank Group members are disclosed in the notes that follow. IFC's activities are closely coordinated
with and complement the overall development objectives of the other World Bank Group institutions. IFC, together with private investors, assists
in financing the establishment, improvement and expansion of private sector enterprises by making loans, equity investments and investments in
debt securities where sufficient private capital is not otherwise available on reasonable terms. IFC's share capital is provided by its member
countries. It raises most of the funds for its investment activities through the issuance of notes, bonds and other debt securities in the
international capital markets. IFC also plays a catalytic role in mobilizing additional funding from other investors and lenders through parallel
loans, loan participations, partial credit guarantees, securitizations, loan sales, risk sharing facilities, and fund investments through the IFC Asset
Management Company, LLC and other IFC crisis initiatives. In addition to project finance and resource mobilization, IFC offers an array of
financial and technical advisory services to private businesses in the developing world to increase their chances of success. It also advises
governments on how to create an environment hospitable to the growth of private enterprise and foreign investment.

NOTE A - SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING AND RELATED POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements include the financial statements of IFC, three subsidiaries, and three variable interest entities (VIES) (see
Notes B and U). The accounting and reporting policies of IFC conform with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of
America (US GAAP). On August 5, 2010, the Board of Directors of IFC (the Board) approved these consolidated financial statements for issue.

Consolidated financial statements presentation — Certain amounts in the prior years have been reclassified to conform to the current year's
presentation.

Functional currency — IFC’s functional currency is the United States dollar (US dollars or $).

Use of estimates — The preparation of the consolidated financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the consolidated financial
statements and the reported amounts of income and expense during the reporting periods. Actual results could differ from these estimates. A
significant degree of judgment has been used in the determination of: the reserve against losses on loans and impairment of debt securities and
equity investments; estimated fair values of financial instruments accounted for at fair value (including equity investments, debt securities, loans,
trading securities and derivative instruments); projected benefit obligations, fair value of pension and other postretirement benefit plan assets, and
net periodic pension income or expense. There are inherent risks and uncertainties related to IFC’s operations. The possibility exists that
changing economic conditions could have an adverse effect on the financial position of IFC.

IFC uses internal models to determine the fair values of derivative and other financial instruments and the aggregate level of the reserve against
losses on loans and impairment of equity investments. IFC undertakes continuous review and respecification of these models with the objective
of refining its estimates, consistent with evolving best practices appropriate to its operations. Changes in estimates resulting from refinements in
the assumptions and methodologies incorporated in the models are reflected in net income in the period in which the enhanced models are first
applied.

Fair Value Option and Fair Value Measurements — IFC has adopted the Financial Accounting Standards Board’'s (FASB) Accounting
Standards Codification (ASC) Topic 820, Fair Value Measurements and Disclosures (ASC 820) (formerly Statement of Financial Accounting
Standards (SFAS) No. 157, Fair Value Measurements) and the Fair Value Option subsections of ASC Topic 825, Financial Instruments (ASC
825 or the Fair Value Option) (formerly SFAS No. 159, The Fair Value Option for Financial Assets and Financial Liabilities). ASC 820 defines fair
value, establishes a framework for measuring fair value and a fair value hierarchy that prioritizes the inputs to valuation techniques used to
measure fair value into three broad levels and applies to all items measured at fair value, including items for which impairment measures are
based on fair value. ASC 825 permits the measurement of eligible financial assets, financial liabilities and firm commitments at fair value on an
instrument-by-instrument basis, that are not otherwise permitted to be accounted for at fair value under other accounting standards. The
election to use the Fair Value Option is available when an entity first recognizes a financial asset or liability or upon entering into a firm
commitment.

The Fair Value Optionf

IFC has elected the Fair Value Option for the following financial assets and financial liabilities existing at the time of adoption of ASC 820 and

subsequently entered into:

(i) direct investments in securities and other financial interests (e.g. loans) in which IFC has significant influence in investees;

(iiy direct equity investments representing 20 percent or more ownership but in which IFC does not have significant influence and certain
investments in Limited Liability Partnerships (LLPs) and Limited Liability Companies (LLCs) that maintain specific ownership accounts and
loans or guarantees to such investees; and

(iii) all market borrowings, except for such borrowings having no associated derivative instruments.

All borrowings for which the Fair Value Option has been elected are associated with existing derivative instruments used to create a fair value-
like or cash flow-like hedge relationship. Measuring at fair value those borrowings for which the Fair Value Option has been elected at fair
value mitigates the earnings volatility caused by measuring the borrowings and related derivative differently (in the absence of a designated
accounting hedge) without having to apply ASC 815's complex hedge accounting requirements. The Fair Value Option was not elected for all
borrowings from IBRD and all other market borrowings because such borrowings fund assets with similar characteristics.
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Measuring at fair value those equity investments that would otherwise require equity method accounting simplifies the accounting and renders a
carrying amount on the consolidated balance sheet based on a measure (fair value) that IFC considers superior to equity method accounting.
For the investments that otherwise would require equity method accounting for which the Fair Value Option is elected, ASC 825 requires the
Fair Value Option to also be applied to all eligible financial interests in the same entity. IFC has disbursed loans to certain of such investees,
therefore, the Fair Vaiue Option is also applied to those loans. IFC elected the Fair Value Option for equity investments with 20% or more
ownership where it does not have significant influence so that the same measurement method (fair value) will be applied to all equity
investments with more than 20% ownership.

In addition, IFC has elected the Fair Value Option for certain hybrid instruments in the investment portfolio.
Fair Value Measurements

ASC 820 defines fair value as the price that would be received to sell an asset or transfer a liability (i.e., an exit price) in an orderly transaction
between independent, knowledgeable and willing market participants at the measurement date assuming the transaction occurs in the entity’s
principal (or most advantageous) market. Fair value must be based on assumptions market participants would use (inputs) in determining the
price and measured assuming the highest and best use for the asset by market participants. The highest and best use of the IFC assets and
liabilities measured at fair value is considered to be in exchange, therefore, their fair values are determined based on a transaction to sell or
transfer the asset or liability on a standalone basis. Under ASC 820, fair value measurements are not adjusted for transaction costs.

Upon the adoption of ASC 820, and pursuant to ASC 830, IFC now reports equity investments that are listed in markets that provide readily
determinable fair values at fair value, with unrealized gains and losses being reported in other comprehensive income.

The fair value hierarchy established by ASC 820 gives the highest priority to unadjusted quoted prices in active markets for identical
unrestricted assets and liabilities (Level 1), the next highest priority to observable market based inputs or unobservable inputs that are
corroborated by market data from independent sources (Level 2) and the lowest priority to unobservable inputs that are not corroborated by
market data (Level 3). Fair value measurements are required to maximize the use of available observable inputs.

Level 1 primarily consists of financial instruments whose values are based on unadjusted quoted market prices. It includes IFC's equity
investments which are listed in markets that provide readily determinable fair values, government issues and money market funds in the liquid
assets portfolio, and market borrowings that are listed on exchanges.

Level 2 includes financial instruments that are valued using models and other valuation methodologies. These models consider various
assumptions and inputs, including time value, yield curves, volatility factors, prepayment speeds, default rates, loss severity and current market
and contractual pricing for the underlying asset, as well as other relevant economic measures. Substantially all of these inputs are observable in
the market place, can be derived from observable data or are supported by observable levels at which market transactions are executed.
Financial instruments categorized as Level 2 includes non-exchange-traded derivatives such as interest rate swaps, cross-currency swaps,
certain asset-backed securities, as well as the majority of trading securities in the liquid asset portfolio, and the portion of IFC’s borrowings
accounted for at fair value not included in Level 1.

Level 3 consists of financial instruments whose fair value is estimated based on internally developed models or methodologies utilizing
significant inputs that are non-observable. It also includes financial instruments whose fair value is estimated based on price information from
independent sources that cannot be corroborated by observable market data. Level 3 includes equity investments that are not listed in markets
that provide readily determinable fair values, all loans for which IFC has elected the Fair Value Option, all of IFC's debt securities in the
investment portfolio, and certain hard-to-price securities in the liquid assets portfolio.

Translation of currencies — Assets and liabilities not denominated in US dollars, other than disbursed equity investments, are expressed in US
dollars at the exchange rates prevailing at June 30, 2010 and June 30, 2009. Disbursed equity investments, other than those accounted for at fair
value, are expressed in US dollars at the prevailing exchange rates at the time of disbursement. Income and expenses are recorded based on the
rates of exchange prevailing at the time of the transaction. Transaction gains and losses are credited or charged to income.

Loans — IFC originates loans to facilitate project finance, restructuring, refinancing, corporate finance, and/or other developmental objectives.
Loans are recorded as assets when disbursed. Loans are generally carried at the principal amounts outstanding adjusted for net unamortized
loan origination costs and fees. It is IFC's practice to obtain collateral security such as, but not limited to, mortgages and third-party guarantees.

Certain loans are carried at fair value in accordance with the Fair Value Option as discussed above. Unrealized gains and losses on loans
accounted for at fair value under the Fair Value Option are reported in income from foans and guarantees on the consolidated income
statement.

IFC enters into loans with income participation, prepayment and conversion features; these features are bifurcated and separately accounted for
in accordance with ASC 815 if they meet the definition of a derivative, are not considered to be clearly and closely related to their host loan
contracts and their host loan contracts are not accounted for at fair value through net income. Otherwise, these features are accounted for as
part of their host loan contracts in accordance with IFC’s accounting policies for loans as indicated herein.

Revenue recognition on loans — Interest income and commitment fees on loans are recorded as income on an accrual basis. Net loan
origination costs and fees are amortized over the estimated life of the originated loan to which the fees relate; such amortization is determined
using the interest method unless the loan is a revolving credit facility in which case amortization is determined using the straight-line method.
Prepayment fees are recorded as income when received in freely convertible currencies.
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IFC does not recognize income on loans where collectability is in doubt or payments of interest or principal are past due more than 60 days
unless management anticipates that collection of interest will occur in the near future. Any interest accrued on a loan placed in nonaccrual status
is reversed out of income and is thereafter recognized as income only when the actual payment is received. Interest not previously recognized
but capitalized as part of a debt restructuring is recorded as deferred income, included in the consolidated balance sheet in payables and other
liabilities, and credited to income only when the related principal is received. Such capitalized interest is considered in the computation of the
reserve against losses on loans in the consolidated balance sheet.

Reserve against losses on loans — IFC recognizes impairment on loans not carried at fair value in the consolidated balance sheet through the
reserve against losses on loans, recording a provision or release of provision for losses on loans in net income, which increases or decreases the
reserve against losses on loans. Individually impaired loans are measured based on the present value of expected future cash flows to be
received, observable market prices, or for loans that are dependent on collateral for repayment, the estimated fair value of the colfateral.

Management determines the aggregate level of the reserve against losses on loans, taking into account established guidelines and its
assessment of recent portfolio quality trends. The guidelines include internal country and loan risk ratings, and the impairment potential of the
loan portfolio based on IFC’s historical portfolio loss experience on mature loans.

The reserve against losses on loans reflects estimates of both identified probable losses on individual loans (specific reserves) and probable
losses inherent in the portfolio but not specifically identifiable (portfolio reserves). The determination of identified probable losses represents
management’s judgment of the creditworthiness of the borrower. Reserves against losses are established through a review of individual loans
undertaken on a quarterly basis. IFC considers a loan as impaired when, based on current information and events, it is probable that IFC will be
unable to collect all amounts due according to the loan's contractual terms. Unidentified probable losses are the losses incurred at the reporting
date that have not yet been specifically identified. The risks inherent in the portfolio that are considered in determining unidentified probable
losses are those proven to exist by past experience and include: country systemic risk; the risk of correlation or contagion of losses between
markets; uninsured and uninsurable risks; nonperformance under guarantees and support agreements; and opacity of, or misrepresentation in,
financial statements.

Loans are written-off when IFC has exhausted all possible means of recovery, by reducing the reserve against losses on loans. Such reductions
in the reserve are partially offset by recoveries associated with previously written-off loans.

Equity investments — IFC invests primarily for developmental impact; IFC does not seek to take operational, controlling, or strategic equity
positions within its investees. Equity investments are acquired through direct ownership of equity instruments of investees, as a limited partner in
LLPs and LLCs, and/or as an investor in private equity funds.

Revenue recognition on equity investments — Equity investments which are listed in markets that provide readily determinable fair values are
accounted for as available-for-sale securities at fair value with unrealized gains and losses being reported in other comprehensive income in
accordance with ASC Topic 320, Investments - Debt and Equity Securities (ASC 320) (formerly SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain
Investments in Debt and Equity Securities). As noted above under “Fair Value Option and Fair Value Measurements”, direct equity investments in
which IFC has significant influence, direct equity investments representing 20 percent or more ownership but in which IFC does not have
significant influence and certain investments in LLPs and LLCs that maintain specific ownership accounts are accounted for at fair value under
the Fair Value Option. Direct equity investments in which IFC does not have significant influence and which are not listed in markets that provide
readily determinable fair values are carried at cost less impairment.

IFC's investments in certain private equity funds in which IFC is deemed to be the Primary Beneficiary of a VIE, as the presumption of control by
the fund manager or the general partner has been overcome, are fully consolidated into IFC's books. Certain equity investments, for which
recovery of invested capital is uncertain, are accounted for under the cost recovery method, such that receipts of freely convertible currencies are
first applied to recovery of invested capital and then to income from equity investments. The cost recovery method is principally applied to IFC's
investments in its oil and gas unincorporated joint ventures (UJVs). IFC’s share of conditional asset retirement obligations related to
investments in UJVs are recorded when the fair value of the obligations can be reasonably estimated. The obligations are capitalized and
systematically amortized over the estimated economic useful lives,

Unrealized gains and losses on equity investments accounted for at fair value under the Fair Value Option are reported in income from equity
investments on the consolidated income statement. Unrealized gains and losses on equity investments listed in markets that provide readily
determinable fair values which are accounted for as avaitable-for-sale are reported in other comprehensive income.

Dividends and profit participations received on equity investments are generally recorded as income when received in freely convertible
currencies. Realized gains on the sale or redemption of equity investments are measured against the average cost of the investments sold and
are generally recorded as income in income from equity investments when received in freely convertible currencies. Capital losses are recognized
when incurred.

IFC enters into put and call option and warrant agreements in connection with equity investments; these are accounted for in accordance with
ASC 815 to the extent they meet the definition of a derivative.

Impairment of equity investments — Equity investments accounted for at cost less impairment and available-for-sale are assessed for
impairment each quarter. When impairment is identified, it is generally deemed to be other than temporary, and the equity investment is written
down to the impaired value, which becomes the new cost basis in the equity investment. Such other than temporary impairments are recognized
in net income. Subsequent increases in the fair value of available-for-sale equity investments are included in other comprehensive income -
subsequent decreases in fair value, if not other than temporary impairment, also are included in other comprehensive income.
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Debt securities — Debt securities in the investment portfolio are classified as available-for-sale and carried at fair value on the consolidated
balance sheet with unrealized gains and losses included in accumulated other comprehensive income until realized. Realized gains on sales of
debt securities and interest on debt securities is included in income from debt securities on the consolidated income statement.

Certain debt securities are carried at fair value in accordance with the Fair Value Option as discussed above. Unrealized gains and losses on
debt securities accounted for at fair value under the Fair Value Option are reported in income from debt securities on the consolidated income
statement.

IFC invests in certain debt securities with conversion features; these features are accounted for in accordance with ASC 815 to the extent they
meet the definition of a derivative.

Impairment of debt securities — In determining whether an unrealized loss on debt securities is temporary, |FC considers all relevant
information including the length of time and the extent to which fair value has been less than amortized cost, whether IFC intends to sell the
debt security or whether it is more likely than not that IFC will be required to sell the debt security, the payment structure of the obligation and
the ability of the issuer to make scheduled interest or principal payments, any changes to the ratings of a security, and relevant adverse
conditions specifically related to the security, an industry or geographic sector.

Debt securities in the investment portfolio are assessed for impairment each quarter. Beginning April 1, 2009, when impairment is identified, the
entire impairment is recognized in net income if (1) IFC intends to sell the security, (2) it is more likely than not that IFC will be required to sell the
security before recovery, or (3) IFC does not expect to recover the entire amortized cost basis of the security. However, if IFC does not intend to
sell the security and it is not more likely than not that IFC will be required to sell the security but the security has suffered a credit loss, the
impairment charge will be separated into the credit loss component, which is recognized in net income, and the remainder which is recorded in
other comprehensive income. The impaired value becomes the new amortized cost basis of the debt security. Subsequent increases and
decreases - if not an additional other-than-temporary impairment - in the fair value of debt securities are inciuded in other comprehensive income.

The difference between the new amortized cost basis of debt securities for which an other-than-temporary impairment has been recognized in net
income and the cash flows expected to be collected is accreted to interest income using the effective yield method. Significant subsequent
increases in the expected or actual cash flows previously expected are recognized as a prospective adjustment of the yield.

Prior to April 1, 2009, an identified impairment was generally deemed to be other-than-temporary unless IFC was able to demonstrate it had the
ability and intent to hold the debt security for the period for which recovery was anticipated. Debt securities that were impaired and for which the
impairment was deemed to be other than temporary were written down to the impaired value, which became the new cost basis in the debt
security. Other-than-temporary impairments were recognized in net income.

Guarantees — IFC extends financial guarantee facilities to its clients to provide credit enhancement for their debt securities and trade obligations.
IFC offers partial credit guarantees to clients covering, on a risk-sharing basis, client obligations on bonds and/or loans. Under the terms of IFC's
guarantees, IFC agrees to assume responsibility for the client’s financial obligations in the event of default by the client (i.e., failure to pay when
payment is due). Guarantees are regarded as issued when IFC commits to the guarantee. Guarantees are regarded as outstanding when the
underlying financial obligation of the client is incurred, and this date is considered to be the “inception” of the guarantee. Guarantees are
regarded as called when IFC’s obligation under the guarantee has been invoked. There are two liabilities associated with the guarantees: (1) the
stand-ready obligation to perform and (2) the contingent liability. The fair value of the stand-ready obligation to perform is recognized at the
inception of the guarantee unless a contingent liability exists at that time or is expected to exist in the near term. The contingent liability
associated with the financial guarantee is recognized when it is probable the guarantee will be called and when the amount of guarantee called
can be reasonably estimated. All liabilities associated with guarantees are included in payables and other liabilities, and the receivables are
included in other assets on the consolidated balance sheet. When the guarantees are called, the amount disbursed is recorded as a new loan,
and specific reserves against losses are established, based on the estimated probable loss. Guarantee fees are recorded in income as the
stand-ready obligation to perform is fulfilled. Commitment fees on guarantees are recorded as income on an accrual basis.

Designations of retained earnings — IFC establishes funding mechanisms for specific Board approved purposes through designations of
retained earnings. Designations of retained earnings for grants to IDA are recorded as a transfer from undesignated retained earnings to
designated retained earnings when the designation is approved by the Board of Governors. All other designations are recorded as a transfer
from undesignated retained earnings to designated retained earnings when the designation is noted with approval by the Board of Directors.
Total designations of retained earnings are determined based on IFC’s annual income before expenditures against designated retained
earnings and net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments accounted for at fair value in excess of $150 million, and
contemplating the financial capacity and strategic priorities of IFC.

Expenditures resulting from such designations are recorded as expenses in IFC’s consolidated income statement in the year in which they are
incurred, also having the effect of reducing the respective designated retained earnings for such purposes. Expenditures are deemed to have
been incurred when IFC has ceded control of the funds to the recipient. If the recipient is deemed to be controlled by IFC, the expenditure is
deemed to have been incurred only when the recipient disburses the funds to a non-related party. On occasion, recipients which are deemed to
be controlled by IFC make investments. In such cases, IFC includes those assets on its consolidated balance sheet untif the recipient disposes
of or transfers the asset or IFC is deemed to no longer be in control of the recipient. These investments have had no material impact on IFC's
financial position, results of operations, or cash flows. Investments resulting from such designations are recorded on IFC's consolidated balance
sheet in the year in which they occur, also having effect of reducing the respective designated retained earnings for such purposes.
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Liquid asset portfolio — IFC’s liquid funds are invested in government, agency and government-sponsored agency obligations, time deposits
and asset-backed, including mortgage-backed, securities. Government and agency obligations include positions in high quality fixed rate bonds,
notes, bills, and other obligations issued or unconditionally guaranteed by governments of countries or other official entities including government
agencies and instrumentalities or by multilateral organizations. Asset-backed and mortgage-backed securities include agency and non-agency
residential mortgage-backed securities, commercial mortgage-backed securities, consumer, auto- and student loans-backed securities,
commercial real estate collateralized debt obligations and collateralized loan obligations. The liquid asset portfolio, as defined by IFC, consists
of: time deposits and securities; related derivative instruments; securities purchased under resale agreements, securities sold under repurchase
agreements and payable for cash collateral received; receivables from sales of securities and payables for purchases of securities; and related
accrued income and charges.

Securities and related derivative instruments within IFC's liquid asset portfolio are classified as trading and are carried at fair value with any
changes in fair value reported in income from liquid asset trading activities. Interest on securities and amortization of premiums and accretion of
discounts are also reported in income from liquid asset trading activities. Gains and losses realized on the sale of trading securities are computed
on a specific security basis.

IFC classifies cash and due from banks and time deposits (collectively, cash and cash equivalents) as cash and cash equivalents in the
consolidated statement of cash flows because they are generally readily convertible to known amounts of cash within 90 days of acquisition.

Repurchase and resale agreements — Repurchase agreements are contracts under which a party sells securities and simultaneously agrees to
repurchase the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price. Resale agreements are contracts under which a party purchases
securities and simultaneously agrees to resell the same securities at a specified future date at a fixed price.

It is IFC's policy to take possession of securities purchased under resale agreements, which are primarily liquid government securities. The
market value of these securities is monitored and, within parameters defined in the agreements, additional collateral is obtained when their value
declines. IFC also monitors its exposure with respect to securities sold under repurchase agreements and, in accordance with the terms of the
agreements, requests the return of excess securities held by the counterparty when their value increases.

Repurchase and resale agreements are accounted for as collateralized financing transactions and recorded at the amount at which the securities
were acquired or sold plus accrued interest.

Borrowings — To diversify its access to funding, and reduce its borrowing costs, IFC borrows in a variety of currencies and uses a number of
borrowing structures, including foreign exchange rate-linked, inverse floating rate and zero coupon notes. Generally, IFC simultaneously converts
such borrowings into variable rate US dollar borrowings through the use of currency and interest rate swap transactions. Under certain
outstanding borrowing agreements, IFC is not permitted to mortgage or allow a lien to be placed on its assets (other than purchase money
security interests) without extending equivalent security to the holders of such borrowings.

Substantially all borrowings are carried at fair value under the Fair Value Option with changes in fair value reported in net gains and losses on
other non-trading financial instruments accounted for at fair value in the consolidated income statement.

Interest on borrowings and amortization of premiums and accretion of discounts are reported in charges on borrowings.

Risk management and use of derivative instruments — IFC enters into transactions in various derivative instruments for financial risk
management purposes in connection with its principal business activities, including lending, investing in debt securities and equity investments,
client risk management, borrowing, liquid asset portfolio management and asset and liability management.

Ali derivative instruments are recorded on the consolidated balance sheet at fair value as derivative assets or derivative liabilities. Where they
are not clearly and closely related to the host contract, certain derivative instruments embedded in loans, debt securities and equity investments
are bifurcated from the host contract and recorded at fair value as derivative assets and liabilities. The fair value at inception of such embedded
derivatives is excluded from the carrying value of the host contracts on the consolidated balance sheet. Changes in fair values of derivative
instruments used in the liquid asset portfolio are recorded in income from liquid asset trading activities. Changes in fair values of derivative
instruments other than those in the liquid asset portfolio are recorded in net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments accounted
for at fair value.

The risk management policy for each of IFC’s principal business activities and the accounting policies particular to them are described below.

Lending activities |IFC'’s policy is to closely match the currency, interest rate basis, and maturity of its loans and borrowings. Derivative
instruments are used to convert the cash flows from fixed rate US dollar or non-US dollar loans into variable rate US dollars. IFC has elected not
to designate any hedging relationships for all lending-related derivatives.

Client nisk management acfivities |FC enters into derivatives transactions with its clients to help them hedge their own currency, interest rate, or
commodity risk, which, in turn, improves the overall quality of IFC’s loan portfolio. To hedge the market risks that arise from these transactions
with clients, IFC enters into offsetting derivative transactions with matching terms with authorized market counterparties. Changes in fair value of
all derivatives associated with these activities are reported in net income in net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments
accounted for at fair value. Fees and spreads charged on these transactions are recorded in other income in the consolidated income statement
on an accrual basis.
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Borrowing activities |FC issues debt securities in various capital markets with the objectives of minimizing its borrowing costs, diversifying funding
sources, and developing member countries’ capital markets, sometimes using complex structures. These structures include borrowings payable
in multiple currencies, or borrowings with principal and/or interest determined by reference to a specified index such as a stock market index, a
reference interest rate, a commodity index, or one or more foreign exchange rates. IFC uses derivative instruments with matching terms,
primarily currency and interest rate swaps, to convert such borrowings into variable rate US dollar obligations, consistent with IFC's matched
funding policy. IFC elected to carry at fair value, under the Fair Value Option, all market borrowings for which a derivative instrument is used to
create a fair value-like or cash flow-like hedge relationship. Changes in the fair value of such borrowings and the associated derivatives are
reported in net gains and losses on other non-trading financial instruments accounted for at fair value in the consolidated income statement.

Liquid asset portfolio management activities |IFC manages the interest rate, currency and other market risks associated with certain of the time
deposits and securities in its liquid asset portfolio by entering into derivative transactions to convert the cash flows from those instruments into
variable rate US dollars, consistent with IFC’s matched funding policy. The derivative instruments used include short-term, over-the-counter
foreign exchange forwards (covered forwards), interest rate and currency swaps, and exchange-traded interest rate futures and options. As the
entire liquid asset portfolio is classified as a trading portfolio, all securities (including derivatives) are carried at fair value with changes in fair value
reported in income from liquid asset trading activities. No derivatives in the liquid asset portfolio have been designated as hedging instruments
under ASC 815.

Asset and liability management In addition to the risk managed in the context of its business activities detailed above, IFC faces residual market
risk in its overall asset and liability management. Residual currency risk is managed by monitoring the aggregate position in each lending
currency and reducing the net excess asset or liability position through sales or purchases of currency. Interest rate risk arising from mismatches
due to write-downs, prepayments and re-schedulings, and residual reset date mismatches is monitored by measuring the sensitivity of the
present value of assets and liabilities in each currency to each basis point change in interest rates.

IFC monitors the credit risk associated with these activities by careful assessment and monitoring of prospective and actual clients and
counterparties. In respect of liquid assets and derivatives transactions, credit risk is managed by establishing exposure limits based on the credit
rating and size of the individual counterparty. In addition, IFC has entered into master agreements governing derivative transactions that contain
close-out and netting provisions and collateral arrangements. Under these agreements, if IFC’s credit exposure to a counterparty, on a mark-to-
market basis, exceeds a specified level, the counterparty must post collateral to cover the excess, generally in the form of liquid government
securities or cash. IFC does not offset the fair value amounts of derivatives and obligations to return cash collateral associated with these master
netting agreements. As of June 30, 2010, IFC had no outstanding obligations to return cash collateral under master netting agreements.

Loan participations — IFC mobilizes funds from commercial banks and other financial institutions (Participants) by facilitating loan participations,
without recourse. These loan participations are administered and serviced by IFC on behalf of the Participants. The disbursed and outstanding
balances of loan participations that meet the applicable accounting criteria are accounted for as sales and are not included in IFC’s consolidated
balance sheet. All other loan participations are accounted for as secured borrowings and are included in loans on IFC's consolidated balance
sheet, with the related secured borrowings included in payables and other liabilities on IFC’s consolidated balance sheet.

Pension and other postretirement benefits — IBRD has a defined benefit Staff Retirement Plan (SRP), a Retired Staff Benefits Plan (RSBP)
and a Post-Employment Benefits Plan (PEBP) that cover substantially all of its staff members as well as the staff of IFC and of MIGA.

The SRP provides regular pension benefits and includes a cash balance plan. The RSBP provides certain health and life insurance benefits to
eligible retirees. The PEBP provides pension benefits administered outside the SRP. All costs associated with these plans are allocated between
IBRD, IFC, and MIGA based upon their employees’ respective participation in the plans. In addition, IFC and MIGA reimburse IBRD for their
share of any contributions made to these plans by IBRD.

The net periodic pension and other postretirement benefit income or expense allocated to IFC is inciuded in income or expense from pension and
other postretirement benefit plans in the consolidated income statement. IFC includes a receivable from IBRD in receivables and other assets,
representing prepaid pension and other postretirement benefit costs.

Variable Interest Entities — The Variable Interest Entities Subsections of ASC Topic 810, Consolidation (the ASC 810 VIE Subsections),
(formerly FASB Interpretation No. 46, Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an interpretation of ARB No. 51, which was amended in
December 2003, by FASB Interpretation No. 46, (revised December 2003) Consolidation of Variable Interest Entities - an interpretation of ARB
No. 51) defines certain variable interest entities (VIEs) and require parties to such entities to assess and measure variable interests in the VIEs
for the purposes of determining possible consolidation of the VIEs. Variable interests can arise from financial instruments, service contracts,
guarantees, leases or other arrangements with a VIE. An entity that will absorb a majority of a VIE’s expected losses or expected residual
returns is deemed to be the primary beneficiary of the VIE and must include the assets, liabilities, and results of operations of the VIE in its
consolidated financial statements.

IFC has a number of investments in VIEs that it manages and supervises in a manner consistent with other portfolio investments. Note U
provides further details regarding IFC’s variable interests in VIEs.
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Recently adopted accounting standards — In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 141 (Revised 2007), Business Combinations
(SFAS No. 141(R)). SFAS No. 141(R) replaced SFAS No. 141, Business Combinations, but retained its fundamental requirement that the
acquisition method of accounting (formerly referred to as the purchase method) be used for all business combinations and for the acquirer to be
identified for each business combination. Among other things, SFAS No. 141(R) requires the acquirer to recognize the assets acquired,
liabilities assumed and any non-controlling interest in the acquiree at the acquisition date measured at their fair values, with limited exceptions.
SFAS No. 141(R) requires acquisition related costs to be recognized separately from the acquisition. Acquirers in a step acquisition must
recognize the identifiable assets and liabilities, as well as the full amount of the non-controlling interests in the acquiree, at the full amounts of
their fair value under SFAS No. 141(R). SFAS No. 141(R) is effective prospectively to business combinations/acquisitions on or after the
beginning of the first annual reporting period beginning on.or after December 15, 2008 (which is the year ended June 30, 2010 for IFC) and did
not have a material impact on IFC's financial position, results of operations or cash flows. Effective July 1, 2009, SFAS No. 141(R) is ASC
Topic 805, Business Combinations.

In December 2007, the FASB issued SFAS No. 160, Noncontrolling Interests in Consolidated Financial Statements - an amendment of ARB
No. 151 (SFAS No. 160). SFAS No. 160 clarifies that non-controlling interests in